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Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held in the Council Chamber,
City of Belmont Civic Centre, 215 Wright Street, Cloverdale on Tuesday
10 December 2024 commencing at 6:30pm.

Minutes

Present

Mayor R Rossi, JP (Presiding Member)
Cr D Sessions (Deputy Mayor)

Cr G Sekulla, JP

Cr J Harris

Cr P Marks

Cr J Davis

Cr C Kulczycki

In attendance

Mr J Christie

Mr S Downing

Mr W Loh

Mr M Murphy

Ms S Jessop

Ms G Carter-Nguyen

Mrs J Cherry-Murphy

Mr J Vidal
Ms S Bell

Members of the gallery

Mayor

West Ward
Central Ward
Central Ward
East Ward
South Ward
West Ward

Chief Executive Officer

Director Corporate and Governance
Director Development and Communities

Director Infrastructure Services
Manager Finance

Manager Public Relations and
Stakeholder Engagement
Coordinator Governance

IT Support Officer

Governance Officer

There were 4 members of the public in the gallery and no press

representatives.
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1 Official Opening

6:30pm The Presiding Member welcomed all those in attendance and
declared the meeting open.

The Presiding Member read aloud the Acknowledgement of Country.

Acknowledgement of Country

Before | begin, | would like to acknowledge the Whadjuk Noongar people as the
Traditional Owners of this land and pay my respects to Elders past, present and
emerging.

I further acknowledge their cultural heritage, beliefs, connection and
relationship with this land which continues today.

The Presiding Member invited Cr Davis to read aloud the Affirmation of Civic
Duty and Responsibility on behalf of Councillors. Cr Davis read aloud the
affirmation.

Affirmation of Civic Duty and Responsibility

I make this affirmation in good faith and declare that | will duly, faithfully,
honestly, and with integrity fulfil the duties of my office for all the people in the
City of Belmont according to the best of my judgement and ability.

I will observe the City’s Code of Conduct and Standing Orders to ensure
efficient, effective and orderly decision making within this forum.

2 Apologies and leave of absence

Cr B Ryan (apology) East Ward
Cr J Powell (leave of absence) South Ward
Ms D Dabala (apology) Manager Governance and Legal
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3 Declarations of interest that might cause a
conflict

3.1 Financial Interests

Nil.

3.2 Disclosure of interest that may affect

impartiality

Item No and Nature of Interest (and extent, where
Title appropriate)

CrD 14.1 - Wilson I run a Facebook Page called 'Upgrade

Sessions Park Zone 2 Wilson Park'. It was a page | started before
Heart and I was an Elected Member.
Playground
Construction
Contract

4 Announcements by the Presiding Member
(without discussion) and declarations by
Members

4.1 Announcements

'l would like to repeat the announcement made at last week’s Agenda Briefing
Forum. That the Australian Government have announced funding recipients
under their Thriving Communities Program.

Our Belvidere Street Revitalisation Project was included in the announcement
with the City set to receive $4.745 million contribution - roughly half the costs
of the project.

City staff are working with the Department of Infrastructure, Transport,
Regional Development, Communication and the Arts and hope to share the
good news with our community soon.'
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4.2 Disclaimer

6:33pm The Presiding Member drew the public gallery’s attention to
the Disclaimer.

The Presiding Member advised the following:

‘l wish to draw attention to the Disclaimer Notice contained within the Agenda
document and advise members of the public that any decisions made at the
meeting tonight can be revoked, pursuant to the Local Government Act

1995.

Therefore members of the public should not rely on any decisions until formal
notification in writing by Council has been received.’

4.3 Declarations by Members who have not given
due consideration to all matters contained in the
business papers presently before the meeting

Nil.
5 Public question time

5.1 Responses to questions taken on notice

Note: The responses to questions taken on notice at the 26 November
2024 Ordinary Council Meeting will be included in the 25
February 2025 Ordinary Council Meeting Agenda.

5.2 Questions from members of the public

6:34pm The Presiding Member drew the public gallery's attention to the
rules of Public Question Time as written in the Public Question
Time Form.

In accordance with rule (1), the Mayor advised that he had registered 5
members of the public who had given prior notice to ask questions.

The Presiding Member invited members of the public who had yet to
register their interest to ask a question to do so. One further
registration was forthcoming.
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5.2.1 Mr S Walker, Bentley

1. In regards to the September 2024 proposed Peet Park sporting
redevelopment/Project Business Case, are the Infrastructure Services
Officers repeating the mistakes of past City of Belmont staff of decades ago
by only providing for two narrow sports, and locking out other sports?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that Peet Park Community Centre is
owned by the City of Belmont and hired on a seasonal basis to the
Belmont Junior Football Club (BJFC) during winter months and Belmont
Cricket Club (BCC) during summer months. The facility is not utilised by
other regular users or community groups.

The Peet Park Redevelopment Project will seek to cater for the
immediate and long-term requirements of the local sporting clubs and
will deliver an expanded facility with additional change rooms and
bookable space for the community. This will provide opportunities to
expand future usage of the facilities at Peet Park.

2. Does not the major City of Belmont Recreation Strategy, and 2023
Community Infrastructure Plan advocate prioritising multi-functional
facilities and co-located facilities, for a variety of sports?

Response
The Chief Executive Officer stated that the proposed new facility will be
classified as a co-located, multifunctional facility.

3. Given your paid consultant, Optimum Planning Group narrowly focused on
only two user groups to generate a $7.8M proposal, why did City of Belmont
Officers continue with the legacy, narrow view in their rating of the project
and budget prioritising it?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that as noted in the responses to
guestions one and two the project will deliver an expanded
multifunctional facility offering opportunities for additional community
use at the Park.

4. When a junior male football club mis-using an oil fryer triggers a potential
$7.8M spend, and budget priority, do City of Belmont Recreation Officers
realise their effectiveness in recognising wider unmet gaps in sporting needs
of your Recreation Strategy is looking quite questionable?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that investigations for major renewal
work at the facility were already scheduled by the City for the 2026-27
Financial Year. The investigations and business case were brought
forward following the December 2022 Notice of Motion by Council.
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5.2.2 Ms Hollands on behalf of Belmont Resident and
Ratepayer Action Group

1. At the 27 August 2024 Ordinary Council Meeting, | asked a question in
relation to how many times what | deem ‘inappropriate’ books had been
taken out on loan. | was advised by the Chief Executive Officer that
retrieving this information would “divert a substantial and unreasonable
portion of the City’s resources away from its other functions”. | recently
visited the Belmont Ruth Faulkner Library and they were able to provide me
the list of all the books I had taken out this year, and advised if | were to
bring a book from the shelf they could advise how many times it had been
loaned out this year. Is the Chief Executive Officer aware of how simple it is
to provide this information | requested, or is this a case of not wanting me
to have this information by stating it would take up too many resources?

i) Also, now that | have explained how easy it is, will the Chief
Executive Officer be able to provide this information | previously
requested?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that the staff at the Library correctly
informed Ms Hollands that they can check how many times a book has
been borrowed in the last 12 months. However, Ms Hollands’ question
at the 27 August 2024 Ordinary Council Meeting did not relate to a
particular book. The question actually stated, “Can | have a breakdown
from the City as to how long the Ruth Faulkner Library has been
stocking LGBTQIA books, who decides what books are supplied, and
how often the books are taken out on loan since they have been on the
shelves?”, as well as the follow up question “Am | able to get a
breakdown of how many times they are booked out?”. This is quite
different to asking for information pertaining to one individual book.

2. Could I please get the amount of rates Perth Airport has paid yearly since
2020, as well as during the 2016-2017 period prior to the opening of the
Direct Factory Outlet (DFO)?

Response
The Chief Executive Officer stated that the question would be taken on
notice.

3. How much longer before the Redcliffe Area Traffic Study report is an agenda
item?
i)  Additionally, if any recommendations are adopted by Council, how
long is it likely to take before any recommendations are actually
implemented?

Ordinary Council Meeting Page | 10
Tuesday 10 December 2024



Response

The Director Infrastructure Services stated that the City is aiming to
have the report issued for community feedback in January or February
2025. The report item would then be prepared for consideration by
Council in either March or April 2025. The length of time it will take to
implement any of the recommendations depends on what the
recommendations are, and what is adopted by Council. Short term
recommendations of a temporary nature could be implemented rather
quickly, whereas if design works and approvals are required this could
take a lot longer.

5.2.3 Ms L Hollands, Redcliffe

1. In relation to questions being ‘taken on notice’ at meetings, why is there so
many questions that are quite straightforward, and should be known by the
administration being taken on notice?

)] Further, why are so many questions not being specifically answered,
and being answered generally?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that what may seem to be an easy
guestion for a member of the public to ask, particularly in relation to
recent questions on ‘directly affected’, and questions on the Local
Government Act 1995 (WA) need to be researched. Questions are taken
on notice where the City either do not have the answer, or cannot
provide a comprehensive answer. The Chief Executive Officer further
stated that he does not necessarily agree with Ms Hollands that the
questions and the responses given are not accurate.

2. The word, ‘directly affected’, wouldn’t that be something that should be
known and easy to answer at a meeting?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that when this question is asked, and
a member of the public makes reference to sections in the Local
Government Act 1995 (WA), this requires further review for response.
The Chief Executive Officer further stated that not everyone has
knowledge of every section in the Act. There is no definition of ‘directly
affected’ in the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), or the Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 (WA), or in the City’s
Standing Orders. However, both words in the expression have a plain
meaning. Assistance can be obtained by reference to dictionary
definitions.
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3. Are there any provisions in the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) or Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 (WA), that allows a
Councillor to be minuted as being in attendance when they are only in
attendance for one minute, as was the case with Councillor Sekulla at the 26
November 2024 Ordinary Council Meeting?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that attendance at the meeting is
recorded, and the date and time of the arrival is recorded in the
minutes, and this is a requirement under the Act.

4. In relation to BRRAG’s request for the City Councillors to not attend the
Adachi Trip, have any Councillors decided not to go?
i) How many of the staff attending are directors?

Response

The Mayor stated that he is not aware of any Councillors withdrawing
their attendance. The Chief Executive Officer advised that one Director
Is attending.

5.2.4 Ms J Gee, Cloverdale

1. In relation to the accidents on Abernethy Road and Gabriel Street affecting
my property, | am aware something is finally being done with installation of
bollards and planned road changes. However, | would like to ask the
Council, in regard to my financial losses who do | send the bill to?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that if this is in reference to an
insurance claim, it is recommended that Ms Gee refers it to her
Insurance company.

2. The crossover on the corner of Abernethy and Gabriel has had bollards
installed. Why are these bollards so far apart, that a car could fit between
them?

Response

The Director Infrastructure Services stated that the only location that
the bollards are far enough apart for a vehicle to go through is at the
pram ramp. The other bollards, a vehicle could not get through.
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3. Is this a safe crossing for people if a car can go between the bollards?

)} Are the bollards too wide?
i) Do they comply with regulations?
Response

The Director Infrastructure Services stated that if the City was to place
the bollards at the same spacings across the ramp, then the ramp could
not be used. The Director Infrastructure Services took the remainder of
the question on notice.

5.2.5Mr M Cardozo, Redcliffe

1. Could the City clarify the distinct processes and decision-making criteria
outlined in Standing Orders 6.6 and 6.7, specifically regarding deputation
and submission requests managed by the CEO prior to a meeting versus
those handled by the Presiding Member during the meeting??

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that when it comes to deputations
and submissions, it helps if those application forms are provided in
writing well in advance of the meeting. Submitting these forms in
advance provides the Chief Executive Officer sufficient time to
determine whether a person is directly affected or not by an item on
the agenda.

In recent times, some forms are handed in just prior to the meeting
and arrive at the desk of the Chief Executive Officer and Presiding
Member 2 — 3 minutes prior to the start of the meeting. This does not
provide the Chief Executive Officer sufficient time to consider what is in
the forms. Additionally, often these forms will only state which item the
applicant is speaking to, and whether they are speaking in support, or
against the item, with no brief overview of their deputation or
submission infilled.

The Mayor is then required to ask the applicant when they approach the
lectern how they are directly affected. It is at this point that the Mayor
has discretion in accordance with the Standing Orders to either allow
the submission or deputation, or to reject it based on the directly
affected provisions within the Standing Orders.

2. Could the City clarify whether consistent and objective criteria are applied
across both pre-meeting, and at-meeting requests to determine if a person
is directly affected?

i) Specifically, how does the Presiding Member’s authority to make at
meeting rulings align with the distinct responsibilities assigned to the
Chief Executive Officer and Council under subsections (2) of 6.6 and
6.7 of the Standing Orders?
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Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that similar to the response to the
previous question, when submissions are received, the Chief Executive
Officer will review that submission. If this is received within sufficient
time ahead of the meeting, the application will be discussed with the
Mayor to form a joint determination on whether it is believed that the
applicant meets the criteria of ‘directly affected’. If the Chief Executive
Officer does not have sufficient time to deal with the application, this is
when the Presiding Member makes his ruling under the Standing
Orders at the meeting.

3. How does the Presiding Member’s authority to make deputation and
submission determinations at Agenda Briefing Forums without referral to a
Council vote align with the principles of transparency, accountability and
participation outlined in Section 1.3 of the Local Government Act 1995
(WA)?

1) Specifically, how do these rules comply with Section 5.20 which
requires council decisions to be made by a simple majority, and how is
this redundancy avoided if the Presiding Member is perceived as
having sole authority over both pre-meeting, and at-meeting requests?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that the determination is made prior
to the meeting if a submission is received with sufficient time and
information for the Chief Executive Officer to make an informed
decision. Often the submissions received in advance do not contain the
information to allow the Chief Executive Officer to make an informed
decision. When this happens, or when a submission is received just
before the meeting with late notice, the decision is made at the
Presiding Member’s discretion in accordance with the Standing Orders.

The Chief Executive Officer stated that he has no recollection of any
circumstance where a submission or deputation has been determined
by the Council as a whole as a result of either the Chief Executive
Officer or the Presiding Member failing to make a decision to either
approve or reject a submission based on the reasons provided by the
submitter on why they believe they are directly affected.

The Chief Executive Officer further stated that if there was a
submission that came through for which the Chief Executive Officer, or
the Mayor was unable to make a determination, it is imagined that this
would come to council for them to make a determination. To date this
has not been necessary.
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4. Could the City confirm whether the Presiding Member’s determinations on
deputations and submissions are recorded in the minutes of the Agenda
Briefing Forums?

i) If they are not, what mechanisms are in place to ensure alignment
with the transparency and accountability principles of Section 1.3 and
the obligations under Section 5.96A(1)(f) of the Local Government Act
1995 (WA)?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that it is his understanding that
these determinations are captured in the minutes of the Agenda
Briefing Forums.

5.2.6 Mr Cardozo on behalf of Belmont East Ward Connect

1. Could the City clarify the formal role of the Governance Officer sitting
adjacent to the Presiding Member in this process?

i) Additionally, can the City explain how their involvement aligns with the
principles of impartiality, transparency and accountability required
under the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), and specifically how any
advice is documented?

Response

The Director Corporate and Governance stated that the Governance
Officer to whom Mr Cardozo refers is the Manager Governance and
Legal who is currently on leave. The Manager, similar to the Chief
Executive Officer, provides advice to the Mayor and it is up to the Mayor
as to whether he accepts that advice or not. The advice is not recorded.
The Mayor makes a decision which is recorded in the minutes.

2. Could the City clarify how the Public Submission Time and Deputation
Proforma aligns with Sections 6.6(2) and 6.7(2) of the Standing Orders,
particularly regarding the Chief Executive Officer’s role in referring requests
to the council for resolution by simple majority. Specifically, why does the
document instead present the Presiding Member as having sole authority to
determine whether or not an individual is directly affected?

1) If this conflicts with Standing Orders, should the rules not be revised to
align with legislative processes?

Response

The Director Corporate and Governance stated that the Local
Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.22, the Local Government
(Administration) Regulations 1996 Section 7(1), and the Standing
Orders all work in unison to direct how public question time should
operate, including declaration of directly affected.
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The Local Government Act 1995 (WA) is the over-arching control
mechanism and refers to how public question time should operate
under the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.21(b), and how
council should set procedures for public question time under Local
Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.24(2). The Local Government
(Administration) Regulations 1996 Section 7 (1) through (5) provide
the detail on how public question time should work. The Standing
Orders likewise provide the Presiding Member information as how to
run the public question time.

The Public Question Time Proforma which you mentioned, is
empowered under the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.24,
and instructs members of the public who want to participate in public
guestion time how public question time works, and how they can
participate.

The Standing Orders, Local Government Act 1995 (WA) and the Local
Government (Administration) Regulations 1996 are for the Council, and
the Public Question Time Proforma is for members of the public. It
would be unfair to only provide members of the public with a copy of
the Standing Orders, the Act and the Regulations to use for reference.
By providing the procedures in the Proforma in a summarised manner,
the Council advises how the public can comply with legislative
requirements.

3. In accordance with Section 6.11 of the Standing Orders, which permits the
recording of proceedings at an Agenda Briefing Forum with the Presiding
Member’s approval, could permission be granted to record and publish the
forum’s discussion, including submissions and deputations of the Stanton
Traffic Calming Project to promote transparency and public access and can
the outcome of this request be recorded in the minutes?

Response

The Chief Executive Officer stated that he has issued a response at
previous meetings as to whether the Council will choose to livestream
Agenda Briefing Forums. As previously stated, there is a Council policy
that governs this procedure, and Council did consider the livestreaming
of the Agenda Briefing Forums in the lead up to endorsement of the
policy. To date, there has been no appetite to livestream these forums.

4. Can the Lyall Street families ask what mitigation strategies will be used in
the revised Stanton Road Project to address the loophole of traffic avoidance
through Lyall Street?

Response

The Director Infrastructure Services stated that this is being addressed
in the Redcliffe Area Traffic Study, which, as noted earlier in this
meeting, the City will be expecting to have a report issued to the
community for comment in January or February 2025.
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6 Confirmation of Minutes/receipt of Matrix

6.1 Matrix for the Agenda Briefing Forum held 3
December 2024

Officer Recommendation

Sessions moved, Kulczycki seconded

That the Matrix of the Agenda Briefing Forum held on 3 December 2024, as
printed and circulated to all Elected Members, be received and noted.

Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O
For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil

6.2 Ordinary Council Meeting held 26 November
2024

Officer Recommendation

Davis moved, Sessions seconded

That the Minutes of the Ordinary Council Meeting held on 26 November 2024,
as printed and circulated to all Elected Members, be confirmed as a true and
accurate record.

Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O
For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil
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7 Questions by Members on which due notice
has been given (without discussion)

Nil.

8 Questions by members without notice

8.1 Responses to questions taken on notice

Nil.

8.2 Questions by members without notice

Nil.

9 New business of an urgent nature approved
by the person presiding or by decision

Nil.

10 Business adjourned from a previous meeting

Nil.
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11 Reports of committees

11.1 Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) held 25
November 2024 (circulated under separate
cover)

Officer Recommendation

Sekulla moved, Kulczycki seconded

That the Minutes of the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) held on 25
November 2024 as previously circulated to all Councillors, be received and
noted.

Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O

For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil
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12 Reports of administration

Officer Recommendation

Sekulla moved, Harris seconded

That the Officer or Committee Recommendations for ltems 12.2, 12.3, 12.5,
12.8 and 12.9 be adopted en bloc.

Carried unanimously 7 votes to O

For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil
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12.1 Final Adoption - Modified Amendment No.
21 to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 - Modifying
the use class permissibility of land uses within
the 'Town Centre' zone

Voting Requirement :  Simple Majority

Subject Index :  LPS15/021 - Modifying the Use Class
Permissibility of land uses within the 'Town
Centre' zone

Location/Property Index . Various

Application Index > N/A

Disclosure of any Interest > Nil

Previous Items ;25 July 2023 Ordinary Council Meeting
Item 12.1.
12 December 2023 Ordinary Council Meeting
Item 12.1

Applicant :  Element Pty Ltd

Owner > Various

Responsible Division :  Development and Communities

Council role

Includes adopting local laws, local planning schemes and

Legislative _
policies.

Purpose of report

For Council to consider modified Scheme Amendment No. 21 to the City of
Belmont Local Planning Scheme No 15 (LPS 15) following public advertising.

Summary and key issues

. Element Pty Ltd (the applicant) lodged Scheme Amendment No. 21 on
behalf of the owners of Belmont Forum (Perron Group) (Attachment 12.1.1).
The Amendment sought to increase the number of uses capable of approval
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone and exempt certain uses from requiring
planning approval.

. Several of the applicant’s requested changes to land use permissibility were
not supported due to their inconsistency with the ‘Town Centre’ zone
objectives or because they should not be exempt from requiring
development approval.

Ordinary Council Meeting Page | 21
Tuesday 10 December 2024



At the 25 July 2023 Ordinary Council Meeting (OCM) (Item 12.1)
(Attachment 12.1.2), Council adopted a modified version of the applicant’s
Amendment for advertising.

The Amendment was advertised from 14 September 2023 to
26 October 2023. During this period no submissions were received.

At the 12 December 2023 OCM (Item 12.1), Council supported the
advertised Amendment without modification and recommended it be
approved by the Minister for Planning.

The Amendment (Attachment 12.1.3) was subsequently submitted to the
Western Australian Planning Commission (WAPC).

The WAPC considered the Amendment and submitted its recommendation to
the Minister for Planning. The Minister for Planning reviewed the
Amendment and directed the City to modify and re-advertise the document.
The modified Amendment (Attachment 12.1.4) was advertised from
12 September 2024 to 25 October 2024. During this period, one submission
was received (refer to the Schedule of Submissions included as
Attachment 12.1.5).

It is recommended that Council do not support the modified Amendment, as
it proposes land uses that do not align with the objectives of the ‘Town
Centre’ zone and are premature without prior site-specific strategic
planning.

Officer Recommendation

a)

b)

Kulczycki moved, Sessions seconded

That Council:

Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O
For:

Against: Nil

Pursuant to Regulation 50(3)(c) of the Planning and Development (Local
Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015, do not support modified
Amendment No. 21 to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 (Attachment 12.1.4),
with a recommendation that the Amendment is refused by the Minister for
Planning.

Request the Chief Executive Officer advise the Western Australian Planning
Commission that Council supports the original version of the Amendment
which was endorsed at the 12 December 2023 Ordinary Council Meeting.

Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions
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Location

The Amendment relates to the Belmont Town Centre as shown in Figure 1
below. The zoning of the subject lots and surrounding land is shown in
Figure 2.
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Consultation

The Minister’s requested modifications to the Amendment were advertised for a
period of 42 days from 12 September 2024 to 25 October 2024, in the following
ways:

. The modified Amendment and public notice were displayed on the City’s
website.

. A notice was published in the 12 September 2024 edition of the PerthNow
newspaper.

. A public notice was displayed at the Civic Centre for the duration of
advertising.

One submission on behalf of the owner of Belmont Forum was received during
the advertising period. Comments from the submitter are included in the
Schedule of Submissions (Attachment 12.1). A response to these matters is
included in the Report section.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—-2034 Strategic Community Plan:
Key Performance Area: Place

Outcome: 6. Sustainable population growth with responsible urban planning.

Key Performance Area: Prosperity

Outcome: 9. A progressive, vibrant and thriving economy with active
participation in long-life learning.

Policy implications
State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel

State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel (SPP 4.2) guides
the planning and development requirements of activity centres in the Perth and
Peel region. Belmont Town Centre is the City’s highest ranking activity centre
and designated as a ‘Secondary Centre’ within the Policy. State Planning
Policy 4.2 outlines the need for the preparation of precinct structure plans for
secondary centres, which is further reinforced and supported by State Planning
Policy 7.2 — Precinct Design (SPP 7.2).

The Amendment has been reviewed against SPP 4.2 to determine the
appropriateness of the proposed modifications to land use permissibility.
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State Planning Policy 7.2 — Precinct Design

State Planning Policy 7.2 identifies land use planning and design outcomes as
important components in the design of precincts across the State. For activity
centres, SPP 7.2 states that strategic planning should identify the Centre’s role,
distribution, function and land uses in accordance with SPP 4.2. A precinct
structure plan is identified as an appropriate method of guiding land use,
density and development (including built form), access arrangements,
infrastructure, environmental assets and community facilities.

City of Belmont Local Planning Strategy

The City’s Local Planning Strategy recognises the importance of sustaining the
long-term viability of its commercial centres. The Strategy aims to enhance the
Town Centre’s functionality by allowing the expansion of retail spaces and
promoting redevelopment in a main street format. The amendment has been
reviewed against the City’s Local Planning Strategy to determine the
appropriateness of the proposed modifications to land use permissibility.

City of Belmont Activity Centre Planning Strategy

The City’s Activity Centre Planning Strategy (ACPS) guides the future planning
and coordination of the City’s activity centres. The ACPS identifies Belmont
Town Centre as a secondary centre and advocates for the preparation of a
precinct structure plan to guide land use, built form, residential density, housing
types, transport needs, and infrastructure, including public realm
improvements. The ACPS includes an action to engage with landowners within
Belmont Town Centre on the preparation of a precinct structure plan.

Statutory environment
Local Planning Scheme No. 15

The subject site is zoned ‘Town Centre’ under LPS 15. The ‘Town Centre’ zone
has the following objective:

“The Town Centre and Commercial Zones are intended to provide for the
retail commercial function and entertainment.”

Table 1 (Zoning Table) of LPS 15 sets out the permissibility of uses using the
symbols of ‘P’, ‘D’, ‘A’, and ‘X’. The meaning of the symbols is listed below:

‘P’  Means the use is permitted by the Scheme providing the use complies with
the relevant development standards and the requirements of the Scheme.

‘D’ Means that the use is not permitted unless the local government has
exercised its discretion by granting Development Approval.
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‘A’ Means that the use is not permitted unless the local government has
exercised its discretion by granting Development Approval after giving
special notice in accordance with the provisions contained in Clause 64 of
the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015
(the Regulations) Schedule 2.

‘X’ Means a use that is not permitted by the Scheme.

Schedule 1 of LPS 15 includes land use definitions for each use listed in the
Zoning Table. The relevant definitions relating to this Amendment are contained
within Attachment 12.1.6.

Clause 3.5 of LPS 15 addresses Additional Uses and outlines that, regardless of
the use class designation in the zoning table, land uses for areas specified in
Schedule 2 are capable of approval, subject to the specific conditions being
met. Currently, there are no Additional Uses applicable to the ‘Town Centre’
zone.

Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015
Local Planning Scheme Amendments

Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 provides for an
amendment to be made to a local planning scheme. The procedures for such
amendments, including public consultation requirements, are set out within
Part 5 of the Regulations.

In accordance with Regulation 56 of the Regulations, the Minister for Planning
has the authority to direct the City to modify a proposed local planning scheme
amendment and require further advertising in line with Regulation 51.

Following advertising, the City must consider any submissions received as per
Regulation 51(7). Following that, Council must pass a resolution in accordance
with Regulation 50(3) to either:

a) Support the amendment without modification; or

b) Support the amendment with proposed modifications to address issues
raised in the submissions; or

c) Not support the amendment.

After passing a resolution, the modified amendment is required to be submitted
to the WAPC for consideration before a final determination is made by the
Minister for Planning.

Exemption from the Requirement to Obtain Development Approval

The Regulations exempt certain land uses from requiring development approval,
provided the use has a 'D' permissibility in the zone and any relevant conditions
are met.
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Background

After reviewing the applicant’s originally lodged Amendment, officers considered
the following:

. Several proposed changes to land use permissibility could be supported as
they were consistent with the objective of the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

. Some of the requested ‘P’ uses were not considered appropriate, however
were considered suitable as a ‘D’ use. Under the Regulations, ‘D’ uses that
meet the exemption criteria do not require approval, however, a
development application is required if they do not.

. Two land uses could be supported as Additional Uses.

. Several land use permissibility changes were not supported, as they
were not consistent with the objective of the ‘Town Centre’ zone or were
already subject to the Regulations exemptions.

Having regard to the above, Council resolved to initiate a modified version of
the applicant’s amendment for public advertising at the 25 July 2023 OCM.

The modified amendment included the following:

1. Modify the Zoning Table in the Scheme Text to change the following use
class permissibility’s within the ‘Town Centre’ zone:

- ‘Cinema/Theatre’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘D’

- ‘Convenience Store’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘P’
- ‘Health Studio’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

- ‘Private Recreation’ from an ‘X’ to a ‘D’
- ‘Restaurant/Café’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

- ‘Shop’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’.
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2. Introduce the following Additional Use within Schedule 2 of the Scheme

Text:

No. Location and Additional Uses

21

Within the ‘Town Centre’ zone, the local government may
approve the following additional uses:

. Motor Vehicle Wash
. Studio.

When considering development applications for the
abovementioned land uses, the following requirements shall be
met:

. Motor Vehicle Wash uses shall be located within a

. multi-storey parking structure, screened from view and be
limited to a maximum gross floor area of 200m?Z.

. Studio uses are to be integrated within the main shopping
centre building and comprise a maximum work-room gross
floor area of 30m?Z.

3. Amend the Scheme Map to designate the ‘Town Centre’ zone as being
subject to ‘Additional Use 21’ (A21).

No submissions were received on the Amendment during the advertising period.

At the 12 December 2023 OCM, Council supported the proposed Amendment
without modification and recommended that the Amendment be approved by
the Minister for Planning. The Amendment was submitted to the WAPC who
made a recommendation to the Minister for Planning. The Minister for Planning
then directed the City to amend the permissibility of the land uses outlined in
the below table.

Town Centre Zone Land Use

Land Use Permissibility
Art Gallery P
Cinema/Theatre D
Consulting Rooms P
Convenience Store P
Education Establishment A
Health Centre P
Health Studio P
Liquor Store — Small P
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Motel A

Motor Vehicle Wash A
Nursing Home D
Private Recreation D
Reception Centre A
Restaurant/Café P
Serviced Apartment D
Shop )

Studio D

A comparison of the modified Amendment against the original Amendment is
included as Attachment 12.1.7.

The Minister for Planning also directed the City to readvertise the modifications
for 42 days, consider any submissions, pass a resolution, and submit the
Amendment to the WAPC for final consideration.

The Amendment was modified and advertised from 12 September 2024 to
25 October 2024.

Report

The modified amendment introduces several significant land uses that are
considered inconsistent with the objectives of the ‘Town Centre’ zone and
require strategic planning to assess their suitability. While some aspects remain
acceptable, when considered in its entirety, it is recommended that Council
does not support the modified amendment.

Further details on these matters and the submitter's comments are discussed
below.

Need for Strategic Planning

The Minister directed that the following land uses, which are currently
designated as ‘X’ within the ‘Town Centre’ zone, be included in the modified
Amendment:

*  Education Establishment — ‘A’
. Health Centre — ‘P’

e Motel — ‘A’

* Nursing Home — ‘D’

» Reception Centre — ‘A’

« Serviced Apartment — ‘D’.
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The introduction of the above land uses is not supported for the following
reasons:

To assess their future suitability within the Town Centre zone, it is
considered that formal strategic planning in the form of a precinct structure
plan need to be undertaken first. Orderly and proper planning necessitates a
coordinated approach to land use planning through the preparation of a
precinct structure plan. It is considered that this is why SPP 4.2 outlines the
need for the preparation of precinct structure plans for secondary centres,
which is further reinforced and supported by SPP 7.2.

Consistent with SPP 4.2, the City’s recently adopted Activity Centres
Planning Strategy identifies the need for a precinct structure plan to be
prepared to guide the future use and development of the Belmont Town
Centre.

The need for the preparation of a structure plan was first raised with the
owners of Belmont Forum during the assessment of a development
application for retail expansion, associated car parking, urban design
treatments, landscaping, and facade works in 2015 and 2016.

State Planning Policy 7.2 identifies land use planning and design outcomes
as important components in the design of precincts across the State. For
activity centres, SPP 7.2 states that strategic planning should identify the
Centre’s role, distribution, function and land uses in accordance with
SPP 4.2. The precinct structure planning process is identified as an
appropriate method of guiding land use, density and development (including
built form), access arrangements, infrastructure, environmental assets and
community facilities.

Regarding instances where a structure plan is not required, SPP 4.2
stipulates this is appropriate only when a precinct structure plan is
unnecessary or when the local planning scheme includes sufficient built form
controls in accordance with SPP 4.2, State Planning Policy 7.0 (SPP 7.0),
and SPP 7.2. Neither LPS 15 nor the proposed amendment includes built
form controls for building height, setbacks, or site coverage. Therefore,
adequate built form controls are not in place to remove the need for a
structure plan to establish these provisions for the proposed land uses.

It is also considered necessary for a needs assessment to be prepared
before the permissibility of ‘Education Establishment’, ‘Health Centre’,
‘Nursing Home’, ‘Serviced Apartment’ and ‘Motel’ is changed. This is
particularly relevant given these uses do not align with the ‘Town Centre’
zone objectives as they do not provide a retail commercial or entertainment
function.

State Planning Policy 4.2 supports this approach and notes that a needs
assessment should be prepared to inform precinct structure plans and
scheme amendment proposals.
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. In conjunction with the above, there are land use specific issues that require
consideration, these are outlined below:

- ‘Educational Establishments’ significantly vary in scale and operation.
Previous experience with the use in other activity centres in the City of
Belmont shows they can lead to significant impacts on parking supply,
and functionality of other activity centre land uses.

- ‘Health Centres’ significantly vary in scale and operation and require
consideration on a case-by-case basis.

-  The car focused nature of ‘Motels’ is inconsistent with contemporary
planning principles advocated for by SPP 4.2 which seek to reduce car
dependency within activity centres. In addition, the introduction of a
short stay land use is a significant change to the planning framework.

- The introduction of ‘Serviced Apartment’ is a significant change to the
planning framework that is not addressed by the City’s Local Housing
Strategy.

- The WAPC’s Position Statement — Residential Accommodation for
Ageing Persons, clearly outlines the need for aged care facilities and
independent living complexes to be delivered in the locations identified
in the local strategic planning framework. The need for ‘Nursing
Homes’ within the ‘Town Centre’ zone is not addressed or
contemplated by the City’s strategic planning framework.

- While the ‘Reception Centre’ use could be consistent with the zone
objective, the scale of this use and its integration with other town
centre uses should be considered through the precinct structure
planning process.

Given the above and in the absence of a precinct structure plan and built form
controls for the Town Centre, it is not considered appropriate for the
permissibility of several large scale and significant uses currently designated ‘X’
to be amended.

Additional Uses

Motor Vehicle Wash

The modified Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Motor Vehicle
Wash’ from ‘X’ to ‘A’.

The original Amendment proposed ‘Motor Vehicle Wash’ as an Additional Use,
subject to the following controls being met:

. Located within a multi-storey parking structure and screened from view;
and
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. Limited to a maximum gross floor area (GFA) of 200m.

In consideration of the original Amendment, officers examined similar uses
within activity centres and found them inappropriate for open-air parking areas
or at a scale where they would become a dominant use. It was determined that
the ‘Motor Vehicle Wash’ use should only be incidental to the function and
operation of the Town Centre, allowing visitors to use the service as part of a
broader trip.

Without these development controls, the City would have limited ability to
manage the scale, location, and visual impact of such uses through the
development application process.

Consequently, changing this use to ‘A’ without controls on size and location
is not supported.

Studio

The modified Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Studio’ from
‘X’ to ‘D’. The original amendment proposed keeping the use as ‘X,’ with
additional use provisions requiring the use to:

. Be integrated within the main shopping centre building; and

. Comprise a maximum work-room GFA of 30m.

The ‘Studio’ use includes both an artist’s work-room and gallery/sales area.
While the gallery aspect aligns with the zone’s objectives, there are concerns
that unregulated workroom spaces could operate at a scale inconsistent with
those objectives.

The additional use measures would limit the workroom size, ensuring the
gallery/retail component remains the primary focus. Without such controls,
officers would have limited ability to manage the scale and nature of the use
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone. Therefore, designating this use as ‘D’ without
built form controls is not supported.

Other Land Uses
Art Gallery

The modified Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Art Gallery’
from ‘D’ to ‘P’. While ‘P’ uses are exempt from requiring approval if they comply
with the local planning scheme, there are no specific parking requirements for
this use under LPS 15. As a result, it is appropriate for a parking supply
assessment to occur through the development application process. Given this,
the proposed change to ‘P’ is not supported.
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Consulting Rooms

The modified Amendment seeks to change the permissibility of ‘Consulting
Rooms’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’.

This use is already exempt under the Regulations, provided that no more than
60% of the ground floor window's glass surface is obscured. The Amendment
does not propose to replicate this provision in the Scheme.

Therefore, if ‘Consulting Rooms’ were to become a ‘P’ use, the ability to require
a maximum of 60% obscure glazing would be lost. This would lead to less
desirable outcomes for engagement and activation at street level. Therefore,
retaining the current ‘D’ designation is preferred.

Liquor Store — Small

The modified Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Liquor Store-
Small’ from ‘A’ to ‘P’. However, this use could have broader impacts on the
surrounding community based on the City’s evidence of alcohol-related harm,
such as domestic violence and assaults in the locality.

Retaining the ‘A’ designation allows a proposal to be assessed having regard for
social impacts of the development as specified under Clause 67(n)(iii) of the
Regulations. This will ensure that matters raised by stakeholder input and
social impacts are fully considered. Therefore, the proposed change to ‘P’ is not
supported.

Submission on Behalf of the Owner of Belmont Forum Shopping Centre

A submission on behalf of the Belmont Forum Shopping Centre owner was
received during the advertising period. The submission expressed support for
the modified Amendment and suggested that the following uses should also be
capable of approval in the ‘Town Centre’ zone:

 ‘Hospital’

« ‘Motor Vehicle, Boat, or Caravan Sales’
. ‘Motor Vehicle Hire’

‘Motor Vehicle Repair’

 ‘Veterinary Centre’.

It is considered that ‘Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales’, ‘Motor Vehicle Hire’,
‘Motor Vehicle Repair’, and ‘Veterinary Centre’ are unsuitable for the ‘Town
Centre’ zone, as detailed in the report presented at the 25 July 2023 OCM (see
Attachment 12.1.2).

As the proposed permissibility change to these uses were not included in
advertising, this will be explored as part of the Local Planning Scheme review.
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Officers will continue to liaise with the Belmont Forum Shopping Centre owners
to facilitate their preparation of a precinct structure plan to guide the
appropriateness of various uses.

Acceptable Aspects of the Amendment

While the modified Amendment, when considered in its entirety, is not
supported, it is beneficial to outline acceptable aspects to guide the WAPC’s
consideration.

The following changes to land use permissibility are considered to align with the
objectives of the 'Town Centre' zone and SPP 4.2:

. Cinema/Theatre from an ‘A’ to a ‘D’

e Convenience Store from an ‘A’ to a ‘P’
. Health Studio from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

. Recreation Private from an ‘X’ to a ‘D’
. Restaurant/Café from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

e Shop from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’.

Justification for each of these changes is included in Attachment 12.1.3.

Conclusion
When considered in its entirety, the modified Amendment is not supported.

While several elements align with the previously endorsed version and are
acceptable, many proposed changes do not align with the objectives of the
‘Town Centre’ zone and SPP 4.2 or require prior strategic planning. The need for
a lead strategic approach aligns with SPP 4.2, SPP 7.2, the City’s Activity Centre
Planning Strategy, and the State’s planning reform agenda. Accordingly, it is
recommended that Council does not support the modified Amendment.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications currently evident.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.
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Introduction

This report has been prepared by element, on behalf of Perron Group (‘Perron’), to request the initiation of an
amendment to the City of Belmont (the ‘City’) Local Planning Scheme No. 15 ('LPS 15') to facilitate and accommodate a
mix of desirable and appropriate land uses within the existing Belmont Town Centre in Cloverdale. Perron are the owners
of Belmont Forum Shopping Centre (‘Belmont Forum') and are a significant stakeholder in the ongoing development and
evolution of the Town Centre.

Specifically, this report requests that the City initiates an amendment to LPS 15 in respect of the following:

e Table 1 of LPS 15 to be amended in accordance with Table 1 of this report, to facilitate and accommodate a mix of
desirable and appropriate land uses within the Belmont Town Centre.

e Arestricted use table be added to LPS 15 in accordance with Table 2 of this report, to introduce additional
development criteria in support of some of the proposed use permissibility changes.

e The LPS 15 scheme map to be amended in accordance with Appendix A of this report to create the restricted use area.

The proposed amendment to LPS 15 is considered to be consistent with orderly and proper planning as it is consistent
with the aims of the relevant local planning scheme and relevant aspects of the State Planning Framework. The
amendment will allow for the appropriate enhancement of land use diversity within Belmont Forum and the remainder of
the Town Centre zone and provide improved resident access to services and amenities, consistent with the objectives of
LPS 15.

This report outlines relevant planning and site considerations for the proposed amendment, which has been prepared
with consideration to the applicable State and Local Planning Framework.

Pre-Lodgement Consultation

In formulating this local planning scheme amendment request, element has undertaken preliminary consultation with the
City's Planning Services and refined the scope of the requested amendment accordingly.






Subject Site

Subject Site Description

The subject site for this scheme amendment request relates to an 18 hectare portion of land zoned ‘Town Centre' around
Lot 9 (No. 227) Belmont Avenue, Cloverdale which accommodates Belmont Forum. Belmont Forum is situated adjacent to
the City's Civic and Cultural Centre and abuts a regional distributor road and local distributor road in Abernethy Road and
Wright Street respectively.

Refer to Figure 1 - Location Plan

The subject site comprises of predominantly single storey commercial developments currently utilised for a range of
retail, commercial and community uses. It is bound by Abernethy Road, Fulham Street, Knutsford Avenue and Wright
Street with Belmont Avenue dividing the south west third of the subject site from the remainder. The subject site also
incorporates multiple car parks with vehicle access being available via existing crossovers to all surrounding roads and
internal driveways.

The subject site is currently serviced by a high frequency bus network utilising Wright Street, with other existing bus
services along Fullham Street and Abernethy Road. These services provide direct public transport connectivity to the
Perth CBD, Perth-Armadale Train Line and immediately surrounding suburbs.

The suburban area surrounding the town centre is dominated by low and medium density residential typologies, with the
exception of a number of residential properties with additional uses directly adjacent to the town centre zoned area. The
residential area is zoned for medium density housing, contingent on the consolidation of fragmented land holdings, up to
an R100 density. Individual lots or small pockets of lots surrounding the subject site are also intermittently zoned ‘Mixed
Use' or ‘Commercial’ likely reflecting legacy developments in the area. The relevance of the zoning of the subject site and
surrounding area is further detailed in the LPS 15 section of this report.

Refer to Figure 2 — Aerial Plan

Refer to Figure 3 — Site Plan
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Subject Site

source: googlemaps

Figurel.  Location Plan



\ .
&,
. NN
R N7,
/ N\
. / \ .
. / \ .
@%"/y é\&\/ \
%, & 4 4
4 e
e %
e 7
4 /
/ ya
/ & .
/ pa %,
. &O
\ e
\ /
\ /
'f’/V(;)& /
Se
\ / 40"7&
. . %
— 2
L 71 subjectsite
Figure 2. Aerial Plan



Belmont Town Centre — Modifications to Use Permissibility
Request to Amend the City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No. 15

. A
/7 AN
\*
7 N,
s \%,
/ \%
/ \
& 4 AN
% ' :
', A
O/V} %Qg?/ . / ,\
<
%\/k(/ Q)\z\&' ? /
S & .
s/ /
/ ya
7/ B ya
/ 7 ya
/ ya
Y .
1374(6) 002 . %{
/ P
. PROAD 5 s
/7 ®
. Tg 55 . §
200 9
N\ . N 201 3 , . 7
. L
% . 202 . /7
9N /
e\ 38 .
Oﬁ%. 21 . 7
A 7 X
AN / %
. o ‘7%\
L' n Subject Site Easement 2 Contours

source: landgate
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Environmental and Heritage Considerations
Bushfire Risk

A desktop search of the Department of Fire and Emergency Services (DFES') ‘Map of Bushfire Prone Areas’ indicates
that the subject site is not within a bushfire prone area.

Acid Sulphate Soils

The Department of Water and Environmental Regulation's (DWER’) online mapping database identifies a high to
moderate risk of encountering acid sulphate soils within the subject site. No physical development is directly proposed as
a consequence of this amendment request. The risk of acid sulphate soils is appropriately considered at the development
application and construction stages of development.

Contaminated Sites

A desktop search of the DWER's Contaminated Sites Database indicates that the subject site contains one registered
contaminated site which has been remediated for restricted use. The site, situated at Lot 8 (No. 223) Belmont Avenue,
Cloverdale is registered as contaminated due to its long term use as a service station and the associated hydrocarbons
(such as from petrol or diesel) being present in groundwater beneath the south-western portion of the site.

Heritage

A desktop search of the Australian Heritage Database, the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage's (DPLH")
Aboriginal Heritage Inquiry System, the Heritage Council's State Heritage Register and the City's records indicates that
there are no listings of local, State, national or Aboriginal heritage significance at the subject site.






Proposed Scheme Amendment

Overview of Amendment

This local planning scheme amendment request seeks to modify Table 1 of LPS 15 to facilitate and accommodate a mix of
desirable and appropriate land uses within the Belmont Town Centre by amending the permissibility of a number of land
uses within the Town Centre zone, as detailed below.

Table 1 - LPS 15 Table 1 Proposed Amendments

Zones
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&
Aged or Dependent Persons Dwelling D X D D A X X X D D
Amusement Facility X P D D D X X X X X
Amusement Parlour X P X D D X X X X X
Ancillary Dwelling P X X D D X X X D D
Art Gallery X bP D D D X X X X D
Auction Mart X X X A D D X X X X
Bed and Breakfast D X X A X X X X A A
Betting Agency X P D D D X X X X D
Car Park D D D D D D D D D D
Caravan Park X X X X X X X X X X
Caretaker’s Dwelling X X D D D D X P D D
Child Care Premises A D D D D D X D A A
Child Family Day Care D X X D D X X D D D
Cinema/Theatre X AP X X X X X X X X
Civic Use D D D D D D X X D D
Club Premises X D D D D D X D X X
Community Home D X X D D X X A X D
Consulting Rooms X bP D D D D X A X A
Convenience Store X AP X A X X A X X A
Corrective Institution X X X X X X X X X X
Dog Kennels X X X X X X X X X X
Dry-Cleaning Premises X BP D D D D X X X X
Educational Establishment A %D D D D X X D D X
Exhibition Centre X D D A A X X A X A
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Zones
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Fast Food Outlet/Lunch Bar X D D A A X A X X A
Fuel Depot X X X X X D X X X X
Funeral Parlour X X X D D D X X X X
Garden Centre X D D D D D X X X X
Grouped Dwelling D D D D A X X X D D
Health Centre X XP X D D D X X X X
Health Studio X bP D D D X X X X D
Holiday Accommodation X X X X X X X X X X
Home Business D D P P D X X X D D
Home Occupation P D P P D X X X p p
Home Store A X X D D X X X A D
Hospital A *XA X A A X X X X X
Hotel X D z D A X X X X A
Industry — General X X X X X D X X X X
Industry — Hazardous X X X X X X X X X X
Industry - Light X X X D D D X X X X
Industry — Noxious X X X X X A X X X X
Industry — Service X X X D D D X X X X
Laundromat X P D D D D X X X X
Liquor Store - Small X AP D A X X X A X A
Liquor Store — Large X A A X A X X X X X
Logistics Centre X X X A D X X X X
Lunch Bar X P D D D D X X X D
Massage Parlour X BP D A D D X X X X
Medical Centre X D D D D D X X X A
Mining Operations X X X X X X X X X X
Eﬂa%?liiﬁezhone Tower & Associated X D D D D D X D X A
Motel X %D X D A X X X X A
Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales X %D X X X D X X X X
Motor Vehicle Hire X XD X X X D X X X X
Motor Vehicle Repair X XA X A D D D X X X
Motor Vehicle Wash X XD X X X D D X X X
Motor Vehicle Wrecking X X X X X X X X X X
Multiple Dwelling D D D A X X X X D
Night Club X A X A A D X X X X
Nursing Home D *D X D X X X X X D
0 ice X BP D D D D X X X D
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Open Air Display X X X X X D X X X X
Pet Day Care X A X A A D X X A X
Private Recreation X XxP X D D D X D X A
Place of Worship X A X A D X X D X X
Public Amusement X D A D D X X D X X
Radio or TV Installation D D D D D D X D D X
Reception Centre X %D X A D X X D X X
Residential Building D X X D A X X X D D
Restaurant/Café X bP D D D X X X X D
Restricted Premises X D D D D X X X X X
Salvage Yard X X X X X X X X X X
Service Station X A X A X X D X X X
Serviced Apartments D XP X D A X X X X D
Shop X BbP D X X X X X X D
Showroom X bP D D D D X X X D
Single House P X D D A X X X D D
Small Bar X A A A X X X X X A
Stables X X X X X X X X D X
Studio X *P X D D D X X D D
Trade Display X X X X X X X X X X
Tavern X D A A D A X X X A
Telecommunications Infrastructure P P P P P P P P P P
Trade Supplies X X X X D D X X X X
Transport Depot X X X X D D X X X X
Truck Stop X X X X D D X X X X
Veterinary Centre X XA A A D D X X A X
Vet Consulting Rooms X D D D D D X X D X
Vet Hospital X X X A D D X X A X
Video Store X P P D P X D X X D
Warehouse X X X D D D X X X X
Waste Storage Facility X X X X X A X X X X

1
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As a result of some of the proposed use permissibility changes, additional development criteria are considered to be
desirable and appropriate. The uses that require additional development criteria have been selected in consultation with
the City and are proposed via a restricted use allocation (R.U1) over the Town Centre Zone as displayed in Appendix A.
A restricted use table, consistent with CI.20 of the Model Provisions of the Planning and Development (Local Planning
Scheme) Regulations 2015 (the Regulations) is proposed to be added to LPS 15 and is provided as Table 2 below.

Refer to Appendix A — Local Planning Scheme No15 Map Amendment

Table 2 - Proposed Restricted Use Table

Description of Land  Restricted use Conditions
RU1  Allland bound * Hospital a) Where development external from and separate
by Wright Street, « Motel to the shopping centre is proposed, the following
Abernethy Road, « Motor Vehicle, Boat or deve?lopment requwemlen.ts will apply: N
Belmont Avenue Caravan Sales i Separate buildings shall have a minimum
and Fulham Street, S of one (1) activated frontage which has;
Cloverdale » Motor Vehicle Hire . )
« Motor Vehicle Repair 1. Minimum one pedestrian
) P opening; and
0 'C? 2. Minimum 50% glazing on the
* Nursing Home ground floor.
* Reception Centre b)  Motor vehicle hire and motor vehicle, boat or

caravan sales uses shall be located within the
shopping centre building or other mixed use building,
otherwise are restricted to a maximum floorspace of
2,500m?

¢) Nursing home and motel use developments must be
a minimum of three (3) storeys in height.

d) A development application for a veterinary centre or
motor vehicle repair use must be accompanied by
an acoustic assessment demonstrating the ability
to achieve compliance with the Environmental
Protection (Noise) Regulations 1997 (Noise
Regulations) which may require restrictions on the
permitted activities.

e) Motor vehicle repair uses shall not be located
directly abutting Belmont Avenue.

f)  Any reception centre use must be integrated with
other multi-use development and cannot comprise a
standalone building for a single use.

Amendment Classification

The Regulations specify three di erent types of scheme amendments, being ‘basic’, ‘standard’ and ‘complex’ Clause 35(2)
of the Regulations requires a resolution of the local government specifying the type of amendment and the reasons for
this classification.

A standard amendment is identified by the Regulations as meaning:

a. an amendment relating to a zone or reserve that is consistent with the objectives identified in the scheme for that
Z0ne Oor reserve;

b. an amendment that is consistent with a local planning strategy for the scheme that has been endorsed by the
Commission;

¢. an amendment to the scheme so that it is consistent with a region planning scheme that applies to the scheme area,
other than an amendment that is a basic amendment;

d. an amendment to the scheme map that is consistent with a structure plan or local development plan that has been
approved under the scheme for the land to which the amendment relates if the scheme does not currently include
zones of all the types that are outlined in the plan;

e. an amendment that would have minimal impact on land in the scheme area that is not the subject of the amendment;

f.an amendment that does not result in any significant environmental, social, economic or governance impacts on land
in the scheme area;

g. any other amendment that is not a complex or basic amendment.
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The proposed amendment is considered to be a ‘standard’ amendment for the following reasons:

e The proposed amendment relates to the Town Centre zone and is consistent with the objectives of this zone under
LPS 15;

* The proposed amendment applies to the Town Centre zone and will have no impact on land in the scheme area not
the subject of this amendment;

* The proposed amendment will not result in any significant environmental, social, economic or governance impacts on
land in the scheme area; and

» The proposed amendment will facilitate a greater mix of land uses within the City of Belmont's activity centres, in
accordance with the Western Australian Planning Commission (‘WAPC') State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres
for Perth and Peel ('SPP4.2).

In light of the above, it is considered that the proposed amendment should be defined as a ‘standard’ amendment.

Supporting Justification and Information

The amendment seeks to align permissibility of relevant land uses within the commercially focussed Town Centre zone to
be more consistent with comparable secondary centres within other local government areas and the strategic direction
for such centres as provided within the State Planning Framework generally. In seeking to amend the permissibility of the
land uses, the proposed scheme amendment will still provide the City with a high level of control over the establishment
of such uses, requiring the City to exercise discretion in approving such developments within the Town Centre zone in
the context of a range of relevant planning considerations.

The following section of this report provides additional information and justification for the uses proposed to be changed
from an ‘X’ (not permitted) use to uses that are capable of approval in the Town Centre zone.

In addition to the below, a comparison has been provided at Appendix B which details the use permissibility of the uses
proposed to be modified with comparable activity centres within the Perth Metropolitan Area. These comparisons have
focused on contemporary planning frameworks where possible and demonstrate that the proposed use permissibility
changes are consistent with the contemporary planning of activity centres of this nature.

Refer to Appendix B — Comparison of Use Permissibility in Comparable Activity Centres

Educational Establishment

The educational establishment use covers a range of potential tenants from simple training rooms which are fully
internalised within a building to more active training centres which provide accessible services to the local community.
The operation and built form associated with an education establishment use is largely indistinguishable from existing
uses within the town centre such as a bank, consulting rooms, o ice or recruitment centre. Locating these training
services in a central, accessible location such as the town centre is positive for the community.

Educational establishments are complementary to the Belmont Town Centre, bringing customers to the area for
economic stimulus and generally in 0 peak times. On this basis the addition of the educational establishment use is not
considered to have any notable adverse impact on vehicle movements or car parking requirements for the site.

Insight Training Morley

Insight Training o ers nationally accredited diploma and certificate courses within the Morley Activity Centre. The
courses cover a wide range of subject matter and industries and provide training for people at all stages of their career.
The training centre is located on the first floor of a mixed use building, demonstrating the versatility to locate within or
outside of the Belmont Forum Shopping Centre.

Figure 4. Insight Training Morley
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Health Centre

A health centre use is not a listed use pursuant to the Model Provisions of the Regulations and is therefore considered
unlikely to be included in the next local planning scheme prepared by the City. Notwithstanding, the timeframe for the
preparation of a new local planning scheme for the City is not certain and may be subject to unexpected delays. In
order to facilitate the consideration of uses which may be most appropriately classified as a health centre prior to the
preparation and gazettal of a new local planning scheme, modification of the use permissibility of a health centre within
the Town Centre zone is considered to be appropriate.

Prohibiting health centre uses in this location is likely a legacy issue associated with previous X-ray technology. It is
unclear why else it would not be permitted in the Town Centre zone. This use is now safe and the community will benefit
from improved access to medical services.

Notable examples of similar uses in comparable activity centres are summarised as follows:

« Clinipath Pathology, Success

« Clinipath Pathology, Armadale

» DAB Radiology, Armadale

« Capital Radiology, Booragoon

Hospital

Contemporary hospitals now take di erent forms and can be designed vertically within a small building footprint or be
consistent with the typical size of a medical centre despite being defined as a hospital. Pursuant to LPS 15, a hospital is
defined as:

means premises used as a hospital as defined in the Hospitals and Health Services Act 1927 section 2(1);

Pursuant to the Hospitals and Health Services Act 1927, the definition of hospital is referred to the Health Services Act
2016 which defines hospital, day hospital facility and nursing post as follows:

Hospital
Each of the following premises is a hospital for the purposes of this Act —
a) premises where medical, surgical or dental treatment, or nursing care, is provided for ill or injured persons and at
which overnight accommodation may be provided; and
b) a day hospital facility; and
C) anursing post.

Day Hospital Facility
means premises that are not attached to, or are set apart from, premises mentioned in subsection (4)(a), being
premises at which —
a) persons are provided with a health service determined by the Minister under subsection (2); and
b) overnight accommodation is not provided;

Nursing Post

means a place at which a nurse is stationed and at which facilities exist for medical attention but which is not
normally used for overnight accommodation of patients.

Based on the above, a range of small or large medical facilities which don't necessarily need to cater for overnight
patients may be considered as a hospital pursuant to LPS 15.

A contemporary hospital, particularly where highly specialised services are o ered, may have a very di erent built form to
the typical regional scale development associated with the term. These types of facilities may be appropriate in activity
centre locations and should not be prohibited. A medical facility of this nature would provide additional services and
amenities to the local community as well as employment opportunities for the wider area.

The hospital use also has the potential to be combined with other desirable uses such as a hotel within the Belmont
Town Centre. Medi-hotels are becoming more common around the world and often include a vertical built form which is
appropriate to commercial centres.

This use is considered to be appropriate in a contemporary secondary centre six kilometres from the Perth CBD.
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The Belmont Town Centre is the most appropriate location within the City's municipality for uses of this nature. This
amendment has the potential to increase the Belmont community's access to highly valuable specialised medical services
such as an overnight mental health clinic or treatment centre.

The nature of the development of any future use and the associated built form can be reviewed and assessed by the City
and Council prior to any development being approved or progressed.

Cockburn Mental Health Hospital — Cockburn Central West

Stage 1 of the Bethesda Health Care Mental Health Hospital features 40 overnight beds, a mental health and wellbeing
centre and consulting suites. Located in the comparable secondary centre of Cockburn Central, this mental health
hospital demonstrates the potential to locate comparable developments in the Belmont Town Centre.

Figure 5. Cockburn Mental Health Hospital, Cockburn Central West

Montserrat Short Stay Hospital - Murdoch

The Montserrat Short Stay Hospital currently under construction opposite Murdoch Train Station is an exemplary
example of a hospital being combined with an accommodation use. Although located adjacent to a larger medical
precinct, Montserrat runs a number of facilities that are not co-located in the same manner such as the Westside Private
Hospital in Queensland.

Figure 6. Murdoch Square
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Westminster Day Surgery

The Westminster Day Surgery is a same day hospital service located within an existing retail and service activity centre.
A range of medical services are o er, aimed at the surrounding local community and providing an alternative to large
hospitals. The built form in this example is appropriate to an activity centre and demonstrates that the use could be
integrated into a multi-use building.

Figure 7. Westminster Day Surgery

Motel

A well-designed motel has the potential to be an asset to the town centre, bringing tourists to an appealing, active
location within close proximity of the Perth CBD and Perth Airport. Providing the option of vehicle parking for guests
within an appropriate built form will not compromise the amenity and utility of the Belmont Town Centre and provides
market flexibility in a location which isn't directly connected via rail to Perth Airport or the Perth CBD.

Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales

Consumer habits related to purchasing vehicles are changing, with a focus on technology, customisation and online sales.
Facilities in accessible, inner city locations are becoming more viable as companies convert their sales models to smaller
facilities. These sales centres are focused on the consumer experience, allowing for customers to view a range of vehicles
and test drive them at the same time in a showcase type environment. These facilities are an asset to a town centre or
shopping centre and are emerging as the norm around Australia and the world.

A motor vehicle sale tenancy would be a unique anchor or draw card to the Belmont Town Centre, supporting a greater
mix of land uses which reflect the future contemporary nature of the centre.

The typology and built form of a motor vehicle sales tenancy in the Belmont Town Centre would not be consistent with
what currently exists in Perth. As detailed in the restricted use provisions, the tenancy is intended to locate within a
shopping centre or other mixed use building and displays a minimal number of cars in a showcase environment and
which are not sold directly from that tenancy. Any external or standalone motor vehicle sale tenancy is proposed to be
limited in size to encourage the above outcomes.

Examples of these facilities have been provided to demonstrate what can be achieved with this land use in a centre
context. The below typologies demonstrate the positive impact a use such as this could have on the Belmont Town
Centre without any detrimental built form causing adverse amenity impacts. The City will also maintain control of the
built form associated with any proposal, ensuring quality and design are at the forefront of any development.
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Auto Mall West, Indooroopilly Shopping Centre, Queensland

The Auto Mall West which recently opened at Indooroopilly Shopping Centre provides a range of automotive services to
meet customer automotive needs, including servicing, maintenance and car shopping for brands such as Porsche, Jaguar
and Land Rover. The tenancy is split over three levels and features a service centre, children’s play area and café. This

is a destination tenancy for the area and is the quality and innovation which Belmont Town Centre should be aiming for
when planning for future development.

Figure 8.  Auto Mall West, Indooroopilly Shopping Centre

Mercedes Me — Melbourne, Victoria

The Mercedes Me store is located on Collins Street in Melbourne, a well-known retail and entertainment precinct. The
store brings together luxury cars and designer furniture as well as being a café destination and co-working space. The
Mercedes Me store in Melbourne is one of eleven around the world and demonstrates the future of vehicle sales and
marketing.

In addition to the above, the following examples of motor vehicle sale tenancies around Australia and internationally have
been identified for reference:

¢ Tesla Chadstone — Chadstone Shopping Centre, Melbourne, Victoria

o Car Expert Centre: Westfield Warringah Mall, New South Wales

* Motome by Macquarie — Westfield Hornsby Shopping Centre, New South Wales

e Polestar London — Westfield London, United Kingdom

« Nissan City Hub — Westfield Veélizy 2 Shopping Centre, Paris, France

¢ Ancaster Hyundai — Bluewater Shopping Centre, Kent, United Kingdom

* MG Motor - Westfield Mall of the Netherlands

« Toyota — West Edmonton Mall, Canada (proposed new facility)

e China-JLL reported in February 2021 that there were over 40 electric vehicle showrooms in Beijing shopping malls
and another 30 in Shanghai shopping malls. They also stated “Geely’s Polestar announced in June last year that it
plans to open another 20 mall showrooms in 17 cities across China. Meanwhile, Nio last September opened a stunning
two-storey showroom called Nio House in Ra les City mall in Chongging. The 1490 square-meter space boasts a
library, café, and view of the surrounding river and the city”.
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Figure 9.  Mercedes Me — Melbourne

Motor Vehicle Hire

Related to the above, contemporary motor sales centres typically o er short or long term rentals of their high end
vehicles. Providing these services in a central and accessible location will benefit the existing community and visitors to
the Belmont Town Centre. The majority of examples provided above also provide the option to hire vehicles following a
viewing and discussion in store.

A motor vehicle hire use is not a listed use pursuant to the Model Provisions of the Regulations and is therefore
considered unlikely to be included in the next local planning scheme prepared by the City. Notwithstanding, the
timeframe for the preparation of a new local planning scheme for the City is not certain and may be subject to
unexpected delays. In order to facilitate uses which may be most appropriately classified as motor vehicle hire prior to the
preparation and gazettal of a new local planning scheme, modification of the use permissibility of the motor vehicle hire
use within the Town Centre zone is considered to be appropriate.

Motor Vehicle Repair

Motor vehicle repair or service centres are commonly located within shopping centre car parks and town centres within
the Perth Metropolitan Area. These service uses are largely incidental to the shopping centre use with customers of the
shopping centre organising for their vehicle to be serviced while they use the shopping centre.

The use can be controlled to provide vehicle servicing arrangements which do not impact on the amenity of nearby
sensitive land uses and therefore it should be capable of approval. In order to facilitate appropriate arrangements, it is
recommended that proposals for motor vehicle repair uses be required to undertake an acoustic assessment as a part of
the development application process. The acoustic assessment can determine the services permitted to be undertaken
within the future development.

The following businesses are examples of motor vehicle repair uses in activity centres in the Perth Metropolitan Area.

* mycar Tyre and Auto — Westfield Booragoon Shopping Centre

e mycar Tyre and Auto — Lakeside Joondalup Shopping Centre

e Auto Masters — The Square Mirrabooka Shopping Centre

e mycar Tyre and Auto — Belmont Town Centre

e mycar Tyre and Auto — Banksia Grove Shopping Centre

« mycar Tyre and Auto — Wanneroo Central Shopping Centre

e mycar Tyre and Auto — Kardinya Park Shopping Centre

e mycar Tyre and Auto — Armadale Shopping City

» mycar Tyre and Auto — Rockingham Central Shopping Centre
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mycar Tyre and Auto — Stockland Baldivis Shopping Centre
mycar Tyre and Auto — Ocean Keys Shopping Centre
mycar Tyre and Auto — Westfield Innaloo Shopping Centre
mycar Tyre and Auto — Westfield Carousel Shopping Centre
Auto Masters — Armadale Central Shopping Centre

Auto Masters — Perth CBD

Figure 10. mycar Tyre and Auto, Wanneroo Central Shopping Centre

Motor Vehicle Wash

A motor vehicle wash is a common service provided to customers in town centre and shopping centre locations. The use
is considered to be intrinsically linked to the shopping centre by providing the existing customer base with an additional
convenient service. The built form component of a car wash is minor and often integrated in nature and the tra ic
generation negligible due to the reciprocal use of the facility by customers visiting the shopping centre.

The following businesses are examples of motor vehicle wash uses in activity centres in the Perth Metropolitan Area.

Star Car Wash — Cockburn Gateway Shopping City

Silver Sponge Hand Car Wash - Westfield Booragoon Shopping Centre
A-Star Hand Car Wash and Detailing — Melville Plaza Shopping Centre
Star Car Wash — Southlands Boulevarde Shopping Centre

Mega Hand Car Wash — Livingston Marketplace Shopping Centre
Silver Sponge Car Wash — Warwick Grove Shopping Centre

Star Car Wash — Westfield Whitford City Shopping Centre

Star Car Wash — Midland Gate Shopping Centre

Silver Sponge Car Wash — Hawaiian's Park Centre

Sparklers Hand Car Wash — Rockingham Shopping Centre

Refer to Figure 11 — Star Car Wash, Cockburn Gateway Shopping City
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Figure 11.  Star Car Wash, Cockburn Gateway Shopping City

Nursing Home

Nursing homes should be located in close proximity to services and amenities including health services and shops.

The Belmont Town Centre is an ideal location for aged care facilities and could provide a desirable diversity of
accommodation as the centre moves to the desired mixed use typology. A nursing home will help to activate and
stimulate the town centre, increasing both residents and visitors in close proximity to the dining and entertainment area.

The below example is of a contemporary aged care facility which demonstrates what could be achieved in Belmont.

The Queenslea, Claremont

The Queenslea in Claremont was developed by Oryx and provides a mixture of aged care o erings. The facility provides
intergenerational services including child care, aged care and independent elderly living. It is centrally located to the
Claremont Town Centre and train station and aligns with surrounding residential developments. The high-quality built
form is consistent with what the Belmont Town Centre should be aspiring to and facilitating this use within the town
centre will provide opportunities for development that caters to the needs of an ageing population into the future.

Figure 12.  The Queenslea, Claremont
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Private Recreation

Private recreation uses are likely and necessary in the Belmont Town Centre location in order to create a destination
where the community want to spend time and recreate as opposed to simply visit for shopping purposes. The exemption
provided under the Regulations does not apply to this use in the Belmont Town Centre as it is an X (prohibited) use. This
situation does not reflect the State-wide understanding that these uses are appropriate in centre-based locations. On
this basis the listing of this use as an X' (prohibited) use in the City’s highest order activity centre is inconsistent with
State level planning principles and is considered to be an anomaly.

In addition, the floorspace cap provided under the Regulations is insu icient to support the likely tenancies required for
the Belmont Town Centre which have the potential to be in the order of 1,000 — 3000m? in area. The built form of a larger
facility would be considered via a development application but should not impact the permissibility of the use. Similarly,

if a 3000m? private recreation use can be contained within an existing tenancy within Belmont Forum or the surrounding
buildings with no external works, planning approval should not be required.

Private recreation and entertainment uses are becoming more prevalent in activity centres and are the future of these
experiential centres as they move away from solely providing retail services. The following examples demonstrate what
can be achieved in the Belmont Town Centre by changing the permissibility of this use.

Strike Bowling and Holey Moley — Westfield Carousel, Cannington

Westfield Carousel in Cannington hosts an active food and beverage precinct which is anchored by key entertainment
uses in the form of cinemas, Strike Bowling and Holey Moley. These recreational uses cater to customers of all ages and
compliment the food and beverage precinct during the day and at night. The uses are located on above ground levels
and far exceed the floorspace exemption provided by the Regulations.

These entertainment uses provide insight into the future of the food, beverage and entertainment potential for the
Belmont Town Centre and demonstrate the opportunities to provide after-hours activation and to shift the activity centre
to an experiential destination beyond just a retail o ering.

Figure 13 Strike Bowling, Westfield Carousel, Cannington
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Figure 14. Holey Moley, Westfield Carousel, Cannington

Strike Bowling, Escape Rooms, Laser Tag and Karaoke — Karrinyup Shopping Centre

The recent redevelopment of Karrinyup Shopping Centre is another example of the increased inclusion of private
recreation uses in an activity centre. Again, these uses provide after-hours activation, support the food and beverage
precinct and contribute to the creation of a di erentiated destination for the community. These uses should be
encouraged wherever possible within the Belmont Town Centre.

Figure 15,  Strike Bowling, Karrinyup Shopping Centre
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Reception Centre

The reception centre use provides for a facility which hosts formal occasions. As the Belmont Town Centre evolves and
grows to include a mix of land uses and accommodation types, the option for a reception centre will be important. Within
the City's municipality, the town centre is a primary meeting place and therefore an appropriate location for a reception
centre. A facility such as this would not ideally be developed in a standalone setting but may contribute to a mixed use
development in the town centre. This use represents an opportunity for the City to provide a di erent o ering to typical
activity centres in the Perth Metropolitan Area and create a destination that caters to a wide range of community needs.

Serviced Apartments

Serviced apartments should be located in close proximity to services and amenities and in close proximity to attractions
such as the Perth CBD, Swan River, Perth Airport and major recreation facilities. The Belmont Town Centre is an ideal
location for serviced apartments which would provide a diversity of accommodation as the centre moves to the desired
mixed use typology. Serviced apartments could also bring both business visitation and tourism investment to the area,
supporting local businesses.

Providing more flexibility for uses such as serviced apartments will make the desired built form of mixed use buildings
with multistorey elements more achievable in the Belmont Town Centre. This will become more necessary and viable in
the town centre as the area transitions to a higher density, mixed use typology.

Contemporary examples of serviced apartments with a vertical built form within or adjacent to key activity centres include:
*  Quest Apartments — Joondalup
¢ Quest Apartments — Midland

Figure 16. Quest Apartments, Joondalup
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Studio

A studio provides options to landowners in the Belmont Town Centre to support a range of emerging or established
creatives in a manner that would not have any adverse amenity impacts from a planning perspective. The town centre is
a high pedestrian tra ic, accessible location which would readily and desirably support studio uses.

A studio would likely locate as a small filler tenancy within an existing building and would be unlikely to have any external
visual or other impact on the town centre.

A studio use is not a listed use pursuant to the Model Provisions of the Regulations and is therefore considered unlikely
to be included in the next local planning scheme prepared by the City. Notwithstanding, the timeframe for the preparation
of a new local planning scheme for the City is not certain and may be subject to unexpected delays. In order to facilitate
uses which may be most appropriately classified as a studio prior to the preparation and gazettal of a new local

planning scheme, modification of the use permissibility for studio uses within the Town Centre zone is considered to be
appropriate.

Examples of tenancies that may be classified as a studio pursuant to LPS 15 within existing activity centres include:

e Studio 124 - Cottesloe

 Faire and Co — Kalamunda City Shopping Mall

Figure 17.  Studio 124, Cottesloe
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Veterinary Centre

A veterinary centre provides a service to the immediate community and should therefore be located in a central and
readily accessible area. The Belmont Town Centre is appropriate for a veterinary centre as the residential population
within the town centre and surrounds grows into the future. A contemporary veterinary centre can be a relatively

small tenancy and remain compatible with other activity centre uses without conflict. It is recommended an acoustic
assessment be required to accompany any development application for a veterinary centre to confirm that compliance
with the applicable Noise Regulations can be achieved.

Contemporary examples of veterinary centres within activity centres include:

Vetwest Animal Hospital — Cockburn Gateway Shopping City
Little Pet Vet — Bentley Plaza Shopping Centre

Family Vet Centre — Bentley Plaza Shopping Centre

Kingsway Veterinary Centre — Kingsway City Shopping Centre
Warwick Veterinary Hospital — Warwick Grove Shopping Mall

Figure 18. Warwick Veterinary Hospital, Warwick Grove Shopping Mall

25



Belmont Town Centre — Modifications to Use Permissibility
Request to Amend the City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No. 15

Permissibility Changes to Uses Capable of Approval

Permissibility changes are proposed for the following use classes which are already capable of approval within the Town
Centre zone. Table 3 provides justification for the changes which generally seek to remove unnecessary red tape where
no built form development component is proposed. This is considered to be consistent with the State level planning
initiative to remove red tape and simplify the planning system. The majority of these permissibility changes are consistent
with contemporary local planning schemes for inner-city local governments in the Perth Metropolitan Area.

Table 3 - Use Permissibility Change Justification

Use Class Comment

Art Gallery  The art gallery land use provides options to landowners in the Belmont Town Centre to support a range of
emerging or established artists in a manner that does not have any adverse amenity impacts from a planning
perspective. The town centre is a high pedestrian tra ic, accessible location which should support art galleries.
This use should not require the discretion of the City / Council to operate in the Town Centre zone.

Cinema / The cinema / theatre land use is appropriate within the Town Centre zone and will service the everyday
Theatre entertainment needs of the local and visiting population. There is no debate from a planning perspective as
to whether this use is appropriate in the Town Centre zone and it is unclear what assessment the City would
undertake if presented with a change of use development application with no built form component. As this use
has a highly specific built form requirement, it is likely that any proposal will require a development application
and the City can assess the built form of any such proposal as required.

Consulting  This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
Rooms As such, it is proposed that the consulting rooms use be changed to a ‘P’ use class with no additional
requirements.

Convenience This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
Store As such, it is proposed that the convenience store use be changed to a ‘P’ use class with no additional
requirements.

Dry Cleaning A dry cleaning premises is an appropriate use within the Town Centre zone and will service the everyday needs

Premises of the local population. The restriction on this use permissibility is considered to be a legacy issue from when a
dry cleaning premises required harmful chemicals and was more akin to an industrial use. As such, it is proposed
that the dry cleaning premises use be changed to a ‘P’ use class with no additional requirements. This use
should not require the discretion of the City / Council to operate in the Belmont Town Centre.

Health Health studio uses can provide desirable health and recreation service to the Belmont Town Centre and

Studio are consistent with the land uses contemplated for centres under SPP 4.2. A health studio does not have
any adverse amenity impacts on the surrounding public realm or adjoining land uses and therefore it is not
necessary to require planning approval for the use.

Liquor Store  This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
- Small In order to make LPS 15 consistent with the State planning framework, this use should be modified to a ‘P’ use in
the Town Centre zone with no additional requirements.

Massage The massage parlour use is consistent with a shop or consulting room tenancy and does not pose any adverse

Parlour amenity impact concerns on the surrounding public realm or adjoining properties. On this basis it is not
necessary to require planning approval for the commencement of this use in the Belmont Town Centre. Such
uses should not require the exercise of discretion to operate in the town centre.

It is noted that the permissibility of this use was recently amended, previously being an X' (prohibited) use in the
Town Centre zone. During that process the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH’) noted it would
likely be appropriate to change the permissibility to ‘P’ as opposed to the proposed designation as a ‘D' use. This
was not modified at the time due to a desire to expedite the amendment process but is being proposed now as it
is still considered to be appropriate.

Medical The medical centre land use is appropriate for the Town Centre zone and can provide an essential service in an

Centre accessible location. The operation of the medical centre use is consistent with other uses in the Town Centre
zone, does not generate a significantly di erent amount of tra ic and is largely compatible with and reciprocal
to other uses in the shopping centre. This use should not require the exercise of discretion to operate in the
town centre.

It is noted that the permissibility of this use was recently amended, previously being an ‘X' (prohibited) use
in the Town Centre zone. During that process the DPLH noted it would likely be appropriate to change the
permissibility to ‘P’ as opposed to the proposed designation as a ‘D’ use. This was not modified at the time due to
a desire to expedite the amendment process but is being proposed now as it is still considered to be appropriate.
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Use Class Comment

O ice This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
In order to make LPS 15 consistent with the State planning framework, this use should be modified to a ‘P’ use in
the Town Centre zone with no additional requirements.

Restaurant /  This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
Café In order to make LPS 15 consistent with the State planning framework; this use should be modified to a ‘P’ use in
the Town Centre zone with no additional requirements.

Shop This use is exempt from the requirement for planning approval under Schedule 2, Clause 61 of the Regulations.
In order to make LPS 15 consistent with the State planning framework, this use should be modified to a ‘P’ use in
the Town Centre zone with no additional requirements.

Showroom  Showroom uses are considered to be appropriate within activity centres such as Belmont Forum as
contemplated under SPP 4.2. In contemporary activity centres showrooms are common in shopping centres
and can still provide an active frontage to an internalised environment or externally to the street. As such, it is
proposed that the showroom use class be changed to a ‘P’ use class with no additional requirements.
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Strategic Planning Framework and
Assessment

Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million

Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million is the guiding document for the WAPC's high level strategic planning for the Perth and Peel
Regions. It builds on Directions 2031 as well as the State Planning Strategy 2050, responding to challenges with a long
term growth strategy for land use and infrastructure.

The Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million suite of documents have been developed in order to set out a coordinated strategy

to spatially accommodate a substantially increased population over several sub-regions. It aims to achieve a more
consolidated urban form to meet long—term housing needs and to strengthen key activity centres and employment
nodes as the Perth and Peel population grows to 35 million. The subject site is located in the ‘Central Sub-Region’ within
which the strategy acknowledges the importance of minimising the impact of urban consolidation on existing suburbs
and improving access to amenities and employment whilst retaining the existing character of these areas.

The proposed amendment is consistent with the objectives of Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million as it aims to consolidate
appropriate land uses within an established activity centre to provide increased employment opportunities and improved
access to services. Additionally, the amendment responds to the projected increase in population in this part of the

Perth Metropolitan Area, providing flexibility for the growth of this key activity centre. By establishing a destination
activity centre with a range of service and amenities in this location it will support the desirable growth in this community
identified by Perth and Peel @ 35 Million.

Providing certainty to landowners in the Belmont Town Centre by reviewing and updating the planning framework to
contemporary best practice will assist in providing investment certainty to support further growth and residential infill in
the area. On this basis, this amendment to an outdated planning framework will support the realisation of the objectives
of Perth and Peel @ 3.5 Million.

Central Sub-Regional Planning Framework

The Central Sub-Regional Planning Framework (‘CSRF’) includes the following objectives that are considered to be
relevant to the proposed amendment:

« achieve more consolidated urban form and development within the sub-region;
« strengthen key employment centres, including activity centres and industrial centres to meet the future needs of
industry, commerce and the community.

« facilitate and support a future regional infrastructure network including transport, service, community, social, health,
tertiary education, regional sport and recreation infrastructure.

The Central Sub-Region is expected to have an additional 285,000 jobs by the year 2050, with a 49% share of total jobs making
it the primary employment centre for the Perth and Peel Regions. The proposed amendment will facilitate further employment
opportunities within a well-established centre context to cater for the anticipated population growth in the region.

The CSRF states:

A network of activity centres will be a key focal point for commercial and social activity and the delivery of services
to residents living nearby and will be a major driver of new jobs located within communities. These aim to allow more
people to live closer to where they work with the aim of reducing the overall distance travelled for work. Some will
build on existing infrastructure such as universities and hospitals to leverage community assets into innovative job
creating activity centres.
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Belmont Town Centre — Modifications to Use Permissibility
Request to Amend the City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No. 15

In an area zoned for urban infill, the Belmont Town Centre will play a prominent role in providing the services and
amenities required to support an increased local population. The proposed use classes generally service a local area,
making their accessibility within an established activity centre vital to the provision of necessary services to the
community. The proposed uses will provide additional employment and recreation options for the community in close
proximity to their homes, limiting the need for unnecessary travel to access services.

The Belmont Town Centre is identified as an activity centre pursuant to the CRSF.

City of Belmont Local Planning Strategy

Itis understood that the WAPC has agreed to repeal the City's current Local Planning Strategy ('LPS’) on the basis that a
new LPS is prepared. It is understood that the City is currently in the process of preparing a new LPS.

Notwithstanding, the existing LPS is contained within the City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No.15 Scheme Report.
The existing LPS identifies the ‘value of ensuring the continued sustainability of its commercial centres' The objective
for the Belmont Town Centre under the LPS is to ‘create a vibrant, robust and attractive town centre'. The strategies to
achieve this objective are detailed as follows:

* Re-examine vehicular and pedestrian access in the town centre.

» Consider public transport opportunities, such as a transit interchange.

» Consider incorporation of a “Village Square” and investigate potential for a produce market.

The proposed scheme amendment is considered to be an essential enabling step to creating a vibrant, robust and

attractive town centre by providing for a diverse mix of appropriate land uses, including essential health, luxury and
entertainment services.

The LPS also provides guidance on the design of the town centre via the ‘Town Centre Vision Plan’ The design of the
town centre will not be adversely impacted by the proposed amendment.
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Statutory Planning Framework and
Assessment

Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015

The Regulations provide a standard process for dealing with scheme amendments throughout the State. The Regulations
divide scheme amendments into ‘simple’, ‘standard’ and ‘complex’ amendments. Standard amendments are defined as
follows:

Standard amendment means any of the following amendments to a local planning scheme:
a. anamendment relating to a zone or reserve that is consistent with the objectives identified in the scheme for that
ZOne Or reserve;

b. an amendment that is consistent with a local planning strategy for the scheme that has been endorsed by the
Commission:;

c. anamendment to the scheme so that it is consistent with a region planning scheme that applies to the scheme
area, other than an amendment that is a basic amendment;

d. an amendment to the scheme map that is consistent with a structure plan or local development plan that has
been approved under the scheme for the land to which the amendment relates if the scheme does not currently
include zones of all the types that are outlined in the plan;

e. an amendment that would have minimal impact on land in the scheme area that is not the subject of the
amendment;

f. an amendment that does not result in any significant environmental, social, economic or governance impacts on
land in the scheme area;

g. any other amendment that is not a complex or basic amendment.

The proposed amendment is considered to be a ‘standard’ amendment for the following reasons:

« |taligns with the objective of the Town Centre zone to provide a retail commercial function.

* The proposed amendment is consistent with the vision for Belmont town centre under the City's LPS.

e The proposed amendment is consistent with the Metropolitan Region Scheme (‘MRS’) zoning that applies to the area.

e The proposed amendment will not negatively impact on any land in the LPS 15 area.

e The proposed amendment will facilitate a greater mix of land uses within the City of Belmont's activity centres, in
accordance with the WAPC's SPP4.2.

It is noted that the recent 2021 amendment to the Regulations made changes to reduce the red tape associated with
changing uses within centre and commercial zones. The proposed amendment is generally consistent with the State
Government objective to make it easier for a range of commercial uses to be developed within existing activity centres,
noting the similarity of uses and absence of any material impact on the community when changing between those uses.
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Metropolitan Region Scheme

Pursuant to the MRS, the subject site is zoned ‘Urban’. The proposed land uses are consistent with the purpose and
intent of the ‘Urban’ zone under the MRS,

Reserved Lands Zones Other
- Other Regional Roads Urban L__I Subject Site

Figure 19. Metropolitan Region Scheme Extract
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State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel

State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel (‘SPP 4.2') provides guidance in relation to the desired
future structure and hierarchy of activity centres within the Perth Metropolitan and Peel Regions. It specifies the broad
planning requirements for the planning and development of new activity centres and the redevelopment and renewal of
existing centres.

The Belmont Town Centre is identified as a ‘Secondary Centre’ pursuant to SPP 4.2. In terms of land use, the primary
function of secondary centres is outlined as follows:

Secondary centres share similar characteristics with strategic metropolitan centres but serve smaller catchments and
o er a more limited range of services, facilities and employment opportunities. They perform an important role in the
city's economy, and provide essential services to their catchments.

SPP 4.2 considers a diversity of uses within higher order centres (such as the Belmont Town Centre) to be important
and desirable. Pursuant to SPP4.2, the proposed land uses are considered to contribute to a mix of land uses as per the
following extract:

Mix of land uses

Floorspace within the boundaries of an activity centre that is used or proposed for activities within the following land
categories:
- O ice/business, administrative, clerical, professional and medical o ices;

- Health/welfare/community services, government and non-government activities that provide services such as
hospitals, schools, community services and religious activities;

- Entertainment/recreation/culture (excludes outdoor areas), sports centres, gyms, museums, amusements,
gambling services and hotels; and

- Bulky goods retail/showroom.

Based on the above, the addition of the proposed land uses into the Belmont Secondary Centre is considered to align
with the objectives and provisions of SPP 4.2, The proposed amendment will facilitate the provision of more services
within a centralised and easily accessible commercial and community activity centre.

Draft State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres

The WAPC has advertised a revised version of SPP 4.2. Draft SPP 4.2 proposes to increase the importance of providing
a diversity of land uses within activity centres, and away from a reliance on retail. Draft SPP 4.2 and the associated
Guidelines set a target ratio of 1:1 for shop/retail floorspace to other non-residential land uses within secondary centres.
The proposed amendment aligns with the land use diversity intent of draft SPP 4.2,
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City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No. 15

The City's LPS 15 is the primary statutory control governing land use and development outcomes throughout the City.
The subject site is the only area within the City's municipality zoned town centre and therefore the focus on the subject
site and immediate surrounds for greater land use flexibility in this request is considered to be relevant and appropriate.
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LPS 15 Context

As identified in the site context analysis contained in this report, the majority of the land parcels directly adjacent to the

Town Centre zone are zoned residential with additional uses and some selected lots zoned commercial or mixed use.
The residential zoned land parcels allocated additional uses by LPS 15 are divided into seven precincts, A — G. A series

of di erent land uses are permitted in each precinct in addition to residential, subject to a range of di erent criteria such

as minimum lot size, consistency with the Town Centre Frame Study and minimum building height, amongst others. It is

likely that this frame area will be identified for predominantly higher density mixed use development in the future which is

not impacted by the proposed amendment.

LPS 15 Assessment

The proposed scheme amendment is considered to be consistent with the aims and objectives of LPS 15. Specifically, the
proposed amendment aligns with the aims of LPS 15 where relevant in Table 4 below.

Table 4 - LPS 15 Aims and Proposed Amendment Response

LPS 15 Aim

Proposed Amendment Response (where applicable)

a. Toassist the e ective implementation
of regional plans and policies including the
State Planning Strategy.

As identified in this report, the proposed amendment is consistent with the
relevant State Planning Framework in its support of activity centres providing
for a range of services and amenities to the surrounding community. In an area
zoned for increased residential density in line with State Planning Framework
objectives, the provision of the proposed uses in convenient locations is
important for the delivery of a diverse, vibrant and activated centre.

The relevant State Planning Framework supports diversification of activity
centres away from historic retail dominance. The proposed amendment will
facilitate this change in the Belmont Town Centre over the coming decade.

b. To ensure there is a su icient supply
of serviced and suitable land for housing,
employment, commercial activities,
community facilities, recreation and open
space.

The proposed amendment will increase employment opportunities for workers
within proximity of their homes and within their community. The increased
entertainment and service uses will facilitate opportunities for increased
housing density within desirable and accessible locations.

¢. To provide for housing choice
and variety in neighbourhoods with a
community identity and high levels of
amenity.

The proposed amendment will facilitate increased services and amenities within

an area zoned for additional housing choice and increased residential density.
It is important that these service and destination creation uses be capable

of development in the Belmont Town Centre in order to make higher density
residential development more attractive in this area.

d. To assist employment and economic
growth by facilitating the timely provision
of suitable land for retail, commercial,
industrial, entertainment and tourist
developments, as well as providing

opportunities for home-based employment.

The proposed amendment increases the opportunities for businesses to
operate in appropriate areas such as the Belmont Town Centre. The retail,
commercial, health, entertainment and tourist developments referred to in
this report are appropriate in the City's highest order activity centre and are
proposed to be facilitated through the proposed amendment.

e. To protect and enhance the
environmental values and natural
resources of the local government and to
promote ecologically sustainable land use
and development.

The amendment does not propose to increase the built form capable of
development in the town centre and does not include any uses that have
additional environmental impact beyond those already capable of approval
on the site. Providing a broader range of accessible services for the local
community is expected to have positive social and economic benefits and
reduced environmental impacts through less reliance on private vehicles.

f.  To safeguard and enhance the
character and amenity of the built
and natural environment of the local
government.

The proposed amendment does not propose to increase the built form capable
of development in the town centre. Use specific controls are proposed where

relevant to ensure local amenity is maintained.

g. Toincorporate public art to enhance
the character and amenity of the built
and natural environment of the local
government.

The proposed amendment will facilitate the inclusion of additional uses in

the Belmont Town Centre. This flexibility will unlock development options on
the site such as a more active food, beverage and entertainment precinct.

A precinct such as this, combined with more landowner flexibility to deliver
contemporary development has the potential to facilitate more public art in the

Belmont Town Centre.

35



Belmont Town Centre — Modifications to Use Permissibility
Request to Amend the City of Belmont Local Planning Scheme No. 15

LPS 15 Aim Proposed Amendment Response (where applicable)

h.  To maximise the built-in safety of the ~ The proposed amendment will facilitate the development of uses which are

local government. active outside of typical shopping hours, increasing levels of activation and
passive surveillance of the Belmont Town Centre after hours. Facilitating the
option for additional uses provides landowners with additional options for
tenants, reducing the likelihood that buildings will remain vacant for extended

periods of time.
i. To protect and maximise e icacy The proposed amendment will facilitate the development of additional services
pf existing and future community in an area which contains a significant amount of public infrastructure and that
infrastructure needs. forms the central community meeting point for Belmont. This is considered to
contribute to the maximisation of the benefits of existing and future community
infrastructure.

LPS 15 provides objectives for each of the identified zones. The Town Centre and Commercial zones have the same
objective as outlined below:

The Town Centre and Commercial Zones are intended to provide for the retail commercial function and
entertainment.

The proposed amendment is considered to contribute to the broad objective of the Town Centre zone by providing the
opportunity for a range of viable and compatible commercial uses in a central and accessible location for the benefit of
the surrounding community.

The Town Centre zone applies to the City's highest order activity centre, indicating that it should provide the widest
range of retail, commercial and entertainment use.

It is anticipated that as the City develops a new local planning strategy and scheme, the objectives of the Town Centre
zone will be expanded to identify the need for mixed use development and increased residential density in a manner
consistent with the intent of the applicable State Planning Framework. The proposed amendment is a landowner
driven approach to achieving this consistency and elevating the potential of the Belmont Town Centre to a level that is
comparable with other secondary centres in the Perth Metropolitan Area.

By increasing the range of uses capable of approval and reducing the red tape for uses already capable of approval in the
Belmont Town Centre, more contemporary development can be attracted and facilitated. This will assist in providing the
Belmont Town Centre with a competitive advantage to attract investment, anchor tenants and residents looking to live in
a vibrant and diverse higher density area.
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Conclusion

This report has been prepared by element, on behalf of Perron, to request the initiation of an amendment to the City’s
LPS 15 to facilitate and accommodate a mix of desirable and appropriate land uses within the existing Belmont Town
Centre in Cloverdale. Specifically, this report requests that the City initiates an amendment to LPS 15 as follows:

e Table 1 of LPS 15 to be amended in accordance with Table 1 of this report, to facilitate and accommodate a mix of
desirable and appropriate land uses within the Belmont Town Centre.

e Avestricted use table be added to LPS 15 in accordance with Table 2 of this report, to introduce additional
development criteria in support of some of the proposed use permissibility changes.

¢ The LPS 15 scheme map to be amended in accordance with Appendix A of this report to create the restricted use area.

The proposed amendment to LPS 15 is considered to be consistent with orderly and proper planning as demonstrated in
this report and will contribute to maximising the community's access to services and amenities within the Belmont Town
Centre. The amendment seeks to enhance the functionality of Belmont Forum and the greater Town Centre zone and
provide the opportunity for improved access to amenities, consistent with the objectives of the relevant State and Local
Planning Framework.

The proposed amendment aims to reduce unnecessary red tape within the planning framework, increasing the ease of
introducing new businesses and diversity into the activity centre. This is consistent with the State Government initiative
to reduce red tape in the planning system.

For these reasons, it is respectfully requested that this scheme amendment request is initiated by the City at its earliest
convenience and supported by Council.
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Appendix A — Local Planning Scheme
No15 Map Amendment












Appendix B — Comparison of Use
Permissibility in Comparable Activity Centres
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12.1 Amendment No. 21 to Local Planning Scheme No. 15

Voting Requirement . Simple Majority

Subject Index : LPS15/021 — Modifying the use class permissibility of
land uses within the ‘Town Centre’ zone and
introducing Additional Use 21.

Location/Property Index : Various

Application Index : N/A

Disclosure of any Interest . Nil

Previous ltems : Nil

Applicant . Element Pty Ltd

Owner . Various

Responsible Division :  Development and Communities
Council role

Legislative Includes adopting local laws, local planning schemes and policies.

Purpose of report

For Council to consider adopting Scheme Amendment No. 21 to the City of Belmont Local
Planning Scheme No. 15 (LPS 15) for the purpose of advertising.

Summary and key issues

Element Pty Ltd (the applicant) has lodged a Scheme Amendment request
(Attachment 12.1.1) on behalf of the owners of Belmont Forum (Perron Group). The
amendment seeks to increase the number of uses capable of approval within the
Town Centre Zone and exempt certain uses from requiring planning approval.

Several of the requested changes to land use permissibility are considered
appropriate. However, certain permissibility changes are not supported, either due to
their inconsistency with the "'Town Centre' zone objectives or because they should not
be exempted.

Council has the discretion to either adopt Amendments as submitted, or subject to
changes.

It is recommended that Council adopt a modified version of the applicant’s
Amendment as a ‘standard’ amendment for advertising (Attachment 12.1.2).
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Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1. Pursuant to Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, adopts for the
purpose of advertising the following amendment to Local Planning Scheme No. 15:

i. Modifying the Zoning Table in the Scheme Text to change the following use
class permissibility’s within the ‘Town Centre’ zone:

‘Cinema/Theatre’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘D’

T P

‘Convenience Store’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘P’
c ‘Health Studio’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

d. ‘Private Recreation’ from an ‘X’ to a ‘D’
e. ‘Restaurant/Café’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

f. ‘Shop’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P".

ii.  Introducing the following Additional Use within Schedule 2 of the Scheme
Text:

\[o} Location and Additional Uses

21 Within the ‘“Town Centre’ zone, the local government may
approve the following additional uses:

Motor Vehicle Wash
Studio.

When considering development applications for the
abovementioned land uses, the following requirements shall be
met:

Motor Vehicle Wash uses shall be located within a
multi-storey parking structure, screened from view and be
limited to a maximum ground floor area of 200m?.

Studio uses are to be integrated within the main shopping
centre building and comprise a maximum workshop
ground floor area of 30m2.

iii.  Amending the Scheme Map to designate the ‘Town Centre’ zone as being
subject to ‘Additional Use 21’ (A21).

2. Is of the view that the proposed amendment to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 is a
‘Standard’ amendment due to the following reasons:
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i. The proposed amendment relates to land zoned ‘Town Centre’ and is
considered to be consistent with the objective of this zone.

ii.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the City of Belmont Local
Planning Strategy.

iii.  The proposed amendment will not result in any significant environmental,
social, economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area.

3.  Forward Amendment No. 21 to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 to the
Environmental Protection Authority for comment, pursuant to Section 81 of the
Planning and Development Act 2005, and subject to no objection being received
from the Environmental Protection Authority, advertise the amendment for public
comment for a period of 42 days in accordance with Clause 47 of the Planning and
Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.

Amended Officer Recommendation

1.  Pursuant to Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005, adopts for the
purpose of advertising the following amendment to Local Planning Scheme No. 15:

i Modifying the Zoning Table in the Scheme Text to change the following use
class permissibility’s within the ‘Town Centre’ zone:

a. ‘Cinema/Theatre’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘D’
b. ‘Convenience Store’ from an ‘A’ to a ‘P’
c ‘Health Studio’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

d. ‘Private Recreation’ from an ‘X' to a ‘D’
e. ‘Restaurant/Café’ from a ‘D’ to a ‘P’

f. ‘Shop’ froma ‘D’ to a ‘P".

ii.  Introducing the following Additional Use within Schedule 2 of the Scheme Text:

No. Location and Additional Uses

21 Within the “Town Centre’ zone, the local government may
approve the following additional uses:

Motor Vehicle Wash
Studio.
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When considering development applications for the
abovementioned land uses, the following requirements shall be
met:

Motor Vehicle Wash uses shall be located within a
multi-storey parking structure, screened from view and be
limited to a maximum gross floor area of 200m2.

Studio uses are to be integrated within the main shopping
centre building and comprise a maximum work-room
gross floor area of 30mz2.

iii.  Amending the Scheme Map to designate the ‘Town Centre’ zone as being
subject to ‘Additional Use 21’ (A21).

2. Is of the view that the proposed amendment to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 is a
‘Standard’ amendment due to the following reasons:

i The proposed amendment relates to land zoned ‘Town Centre’ and is
considered to be consistent with the objective of this zone.

ii.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the City of Belmont Local Planning
Strategy.

iii. The proposed amendment will not result in any significant environmental, social,
economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area.

3.  Forward Amendment No. 21 to Local Planning Scheme No. 15 to the Environmental
Protection Authority for comment, pursuant to Section 81 of the Planning and
Development Act 2005, and subject to no objection being received from the
Environmental Protection Authority, advertise the amendment for public comment for
a period of 42 days in accordance with Clause 47 of the Planning and Development
(Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015.

Officer Recommendation adopted en bloc by Absolute Majority - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.

Location

The Amendment relates to the Belmont Town Centre as shown in Figure 1 below. The
zoning of the subject lots and surrounding land is shown in Figure 2.
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Figure 1: Location Plan - Town Centre outlined in Red (Source: IntraMaps)

0\’/.

Figure 2: Existing zoning and reservation of land — Town Centre outlined in Red (Source: IntraMaps)
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Consultation
No consultation has been undertaken on the proposed Amendment at this point in time.

The Planning and Development Act 2005 requires scheme amendments to be advertised in
accordance with the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes)

Regulations 2015 (the Regulations). The details of this statutory consultation process are
outlined in the ‘Statutory Environment’ section of this report.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2020 — 2040 Strategic Community Plan:
Goal 1: Liveable Belmont

Strategy: 1.2 Plan and deliver vibrant, attractive, safe and economically sustainable activity
centres

Strategy: 1.4 Attract public and private investment and businesses to our City and support
the retention, growth and prosperity of our local businesses

Goal 5: Responsible Belmont
Strategy: 5.5 Engage and consult the community in decision-making

Strategy: 5.6 Deliver effective, fair and transparent leadership and decision-making,
reflective of community needs and aspirations

Strategy: 5.7 Engage in strategic planning and implement innovative solutions to manage
growth in our City

Policy implications
State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel

State Planning Policy 4.2 (SPP 4.2) guides the planning and development requirements of
activity centres in the Perth and Peel region. Its main goal is to encourage a mix of suitable
land uses, with a focus on retail activities. Belmont Town Centre is the City’s highest-
ranking activity centre and designated as a 'Secondary Centre' within the Policy.

The amendment has been reviewed against SPP 4.2 to determine the appropriateness of
the proposed modifications to land use permissibility.

City of Belmont Local Planning Strategy

The City’s Local Planning Strategy recognises the importance of sustaining the long-term
viability of its commercial centres. The Strategy aims to enhance the Town Centres
functionality by allowing the expansion of retail spaces and promoting redevelopment in a
main street format. The Strategy also specifically states that showrooms will only be
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permitted within the Town Centre if their design is consistent with a main street environment
and design. The amendment has been reviewed against the City’s Local Planning Strategy
to determine the appropriateness of the proposed modifications to land use permissibility.

Statutory environment
Local Planning Scheme No. 15

The subject site is currently zoned ‘Town Centre’ under LPS 15. The ‘Town Centre’ zone
has the following objective:

“The Town Centre and Commercial Zones are intended to provide for the retail
commercial function and entertainment.”

Table 1 (Zoning Table) of LPS 15 sets out the permissibility of uses using the symbols of
‘P, 'D’, ‘A’, and ‘X’. The meaning of the symbols is listed below:

‘P’ Means the use is permitted by the Scheme providing the use complies with the
relevant development standards and the requirements of the Scheme.

‘D’ Means that the use is not permitted unless the local government has exercised its
discretion by granting Development Approval.

‘A’ Means that the use is not permitted unless the local government has exercised its
discretion by granting Development Approval after giving special notice in accordance
with the provisions contained in Clause 64 of the Planning and Development (Local
Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 Schedule 2.

‘X’ Means a use that is not permitted by the Scheme.

Schedule 1 of LPS 15 includes land use definitions for each use listed in the Zoning Table.
The relevant definitions relating to this Amendment are also contained within
Attachment 12.1.3.

Clause 3.5 of LPS 15 addresses Additional Uses and outlines that, regardless of the use
class designation in the zoning table, land uses for areas specified in Schedule 2 can
receive approval, subject to the specific conditions being met. Currently, there are

no Additional Uses applicable to the “Town Centre’ zone.

Clause 3.6 of LPS 15 relates to ‘Restricted Uses’ and outlines that only the uses contained
within Schedule 3 (Restricted Use Table) can be considered. There are currently
no ‘Restricted Uses’ which apply within the City of Belmont.

Local Planning Scheme Amendments

Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 provides for an amendment to be
made to a local planning scheme. The procedures for amending a local planning scheme,
including public consultation requirements, are set out within Part 5 of the Regulations.

The Regulations specify three different types of scheme amendments, being ‘basic’,
‘standard’ and ‘complex’. The main differences between the amendment classifications are
the differing advertising requirements, with a ‘basic’ amendment not having any advertising
requirement unless otherwise required by the Western Australian Planning Commission
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(WAPC). A standard amendment needs to be advertised for 42 days, and a complex
amendment has a 60-day advertising period. Prior to advertising a ‘complex’ amendment,
the consent of the WAPC is also required.

Irrespective of the classification of the amendment, where a local government has resolved
to amend a scheme, the proposed amendment shall be forwarded to the Environmental
Protection Authority (EPA) to determine whether it requires an environmental assessment.

Where no environmental assessment is required and subject to WAPC consent in the case
of a complex amendment, the responsible authority shall advertise the amendment in
accordance with the Regulations by:

Displaying the amendment and associated public notice on the City of Belmont
website.

Publishing the notice in the local newspaper and displaying this on the City of Belmont
public notice boards.

Giving a copy of the notice to each public authority that the local government
considers is likely to be affected by the amendment.

After the conclusion of the advertising period, Council is required to consider the
submissions and pass a resolution to either support the amendment, with or without
modification, or not support the amendment. After passing a resolution, the amendment is
to be forwarded to the WAPC to review and provide a recommendation to the Minister for
Planning.

Exemptions from the need to obtain development approval

The Regulations exempts certain land uses from requiring development approval. This is
subject to the use having a ‘D’ permissibility in the zone and where the relevant conditions
outlined in the table below are met.

Land Use Zone Conditions

Consulting Rooms | Commercial, Centre or No more than 60% of the glass
Mixed Use surface of any window on the ground
floor of the consulting rooms is
obscured glass.

Office Commercial, Centre or Office is not located on the ground
Mixed Use floor of a building.

Recreation — Private | Commercial, Centre, (a) Premises are in the metropolitan
Mixed Use or Light region.

I Z i
ndustry Zone (b) Net lettable area of any indoor

area of the premises is no more
than 300 m2.

(c) No more than 60% of the glass
surface of any window on the
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Land Use Conditions

ground floor of a building on the
premises is obscured glass.

Liquor Store — Small | Commercial, Centre or Store is in the metropolitan region or
Mixed Use Peel Region Scheme area.

Table 1: Exemptions from the need to obtain development approval provided within the Regulations

These exemptions have implications for the subject Amendment as making a use ‘D’
enables it to be exempt. This is discussed further in subsequent sections of this report.

Background
The specific permissibility changes requested by the applicant are outlined in Table 2
below.
Use Class Existing Applicant’s Request
Permissibility
Art Gallery | D P
Cinema/Theatre | A P
Consulting Rooms | D P
Convenience Store | A P
Dry Cleaning Premises | D P
Educational Establishment | X D
Health Centre | X P
Health Studio | D P
Hospital | X A
Liquor Store — Small | A P
Massage Parlour | D P
Motel | X D
Motor Vehicle, Boat or | X D
Caravan Sales
Motor Vehicle Hire | X
Motor Vehicle Repair

City of Belmont | Ordinary Council Meeting - 25 July 2023 | 45



Use Class Existing Applicant’s Request

Permissibility
Motor Vehicle Wash | X D
Nursing Home | X D
Office | D P
Private Recreation | X P
Reception Centre | X D
Restaurant/Café | D P
Serviced Apartments | X P
Shop | D P
Showroom | D P
Studio | X P
Veterinary Centre | X A

Table 2: Applicants Requested Amendments to Table 1 of LPS 15

The applicant also seeks to introduce a Restricted Use Table within Schedule 3 of LPS 15
as outlined in Attachment 12.1.1 for the following uses:

‘Hospital’

‘Motel

‘Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales’
‘Motor Vehicle Hire’

‘Motor Vehicle Repair’

‘Office’

‘Nursing Home’

‘Reception Centre’.

The suitability of the above changes is discussed in the following section of this report.

Report

Following a review and analysis of the applicant’'s amendment request, officers consider the
following:
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Several of the applicant’s proposed changes to land use permissibility can be
supported as they are consistent with the objective of the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Some of the applicant’s requested ‘P’ uses are not considered appropriate, however
they may be suitable as a ‘D’ use. This means that uses that benefit from

‘D’ permissibility exemptions under the Regulations do not require approval.
However, where the exemption criteria is not met, the suitability of the use can be
assessed through a development application.

Two land uses can be supported as Additional Uses.

Several land use permissibility changes are not supported as they are not consistent
with the objective of the “Town Centre’ zone or are already subject to the Regulations
exemptions.

These matters are discussed in further detail below.
Supported Use Class Permissibility Changes

The following requested changes to a ‘P’ use class permissibility can be supported. These
changes align with the objective of the ‘Town Centre’ zone and SPP 4.2 and relate to uses
already permissible within this zone.

‘Convenience Store’ — ‘A’ to ‘P’
‘Restaurant/Café’ — ‘D’ to ‘P’
‘Shop’ — ‘D’ to ‘P’

‘Health Studio’ — ‘D’ to ‘P’.

The ‘P’use class permissibility allows these uses to establish without the need for
development approval, provided that they comply with LPS 15. Justification for each of these
changes is included in Attachment 12.1.1.

Land Use Permissibility Changes Supported Subject to ‘D’ Designation

In addition to the above land uses, the applicant has requested amendments to designate
the uses ‘Cinema/Theatre’ as ‘P’ instead’ of ‘A’ and ‘Private Recreation’ as ‘P’ instead of ‘X'.
Additional discussion on this matter is included below.

Cinema/Theatre

Contrary to the applicant’s request to designate ‘Cinema/Theatre’ as a ‘P’ use, a

‘D’ designation is considered more appropriate. Whilst this land use would contribute to the
entertainment function of the town centre, LPS 15 does not contain a parking standard for
this use. To allow for an assessment of car parking to be undertaken, it is considered more
appropriate for this use to be designated as ‘D’. The existing 'A' designation, which
requires advertising even for compliant proposals, is considered excessive. In cases where
variations to LPS 15 are proposed, these could be suitably advertised to potentially affected
parties. Accordingly, designation as a ‘D’ use is considered appropriate.

Recreation — Private
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While the applicant has requested a ‘P’ permissibility for this use, officers consider that a
‘D’ designation is more appropriate. While it is acknowledged that 'Recreation-Private’
aligns with the "'Town Centre' zone's objectives and SPP 4.2, it is not considered
appropriate to exempt it as a 'P' use. The reason for this is that the definition of
'Recreation-Private' in LPS 15 is broad and covers varying scales of the use. If a

'P' designation is applied, there would be no size limit on 'Recreation-Private' uses that
could occur without requiring approval. This could lead to unintended poor outcomes for
the Town Centre. To avoid this and ensure oversight through the development application
process, a 'D' use permissibility is recommended.

Under a ‘D’ designation, the land use would still be exempt from requiring development
approval, provided it does not occupy an area greater than 300m2. However, proposals
that exceed this size would require assessment to ensure the operations are suitable for
their location.

Additional Uses

The applicant is seeking to introduce the currently prohibited uses of ‘Motor Vehicle Wash'’
and ‘Studio’. In addition, the applicant requested several land uses be established as
Restricted Uses. The intent of this is to allow for these uses to occur, but only when specific
conditions are met.

Officers have conferred with the Department of Planning, Lands and Heritage (DPLH), who
have advised that Restricted Uses are not the appropriate mechanism to achieve this
outcome. The reason for this is that Restricted Uses become the only land use that can
occur on the land, which is clearly not a desirable outcome. Accordingly, DPLH advised
that Additional Uses are the appropriate mechanism in LPS 15. This allows all permissible
land uses to be considered, and the additional uses. It is worth noting that these additional
uses would still maintain their current 'X' classification but can be considered subject to
satisfying the relevant criteria.

Motor Vehicle Wash

While the use can complement the function of the Town Centre zone, it is necessary to be
regulated to ensure it remains complementary in nature and does not become a dominant
use. The objective is for people to visit the Town Centre for a broader purpose and that
car washing serves as an incidental part of their trip.

To ensure this occurs, it is proposed that the following criteria apply to the use:
Located within a multi-storey parking structure and screened from view; and
Limited to a maximum gross floor area (GFA) of 200m?Z.

These measures ensure that the use is visually acceptable and complimentary to the
primary function of the town centre.

Studio

The ‘Studio’ land use contains two elements, including artist work-room area and
gallery/sale space. It is considered that the gallery aspect of the use is consistent with the
objectives of the zone. However, there are concerns that if the work-room area aspect
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is not regulated, it could occur at a scale that is not consistent with the objectives of the
zone.

To ensure the use occurs in an acceptable manner, it is proposed that the following criteria
apply:

Be integrated within the main shopping centre building; and
Comprise a maximum work-room GFA of 30m?2.

These conditions ensure the use occurs in a manner that aligns with the objectives of the
zone.

Changes to Use Class Permissibility Not Supported

Some of the applicant’s suggested changes to permissibility are not in line with the
objective of the ‘Town Centre’ zone and are not supported.

Furthermore, some uses already benefit from conditional exemptions in the Regulations
and it is not considered necessary for the permissibility of these uses to be amended. This
is discussed further below.

Retention of Existing Permissibilities
Art Gallery/Massage Parlour

It is recommended that the ‘D’ designation associated with ‘Art Gallery’ and ‘Massage
Parlour’ be retained instead of applying a ‘P’ permissibility. ‘P’ uses are typically exempt
from the requirement to seek approval, provided they comply with the relevant local
planning scheme requirements. However, since there are no specific parking requirements
outlined in LPS 15 for these uses, it is necessary for an assessment to occur as part of the
development application process.

Dry Cleaning Premises

Whilst the applicant requested a ‘P’ designation for ‘Dry Cleaning Premises’ it is considered
more appropriate to retain the existing ‘D’ permissibility. This use is subject to separation
distances under the Environmental Protection Act 1986, which requires consideration
through the development application process.

Health Centre

The applicant has proposed designating 'Health Centre' as 'P' in the zoning table.

However, this land use is planned to be removed in a future omnibus amendment as it is
covered by the ‘Medical Centre’ or ‘Consulting Rooms’ definitions. Therefore, it is suitable
to maintain its current designation as 'X' until it is removed as part of a future amendment to
LPS 15.

Motel

The Motel land use is currently ‘X’ and prohibited within the Town Centre zone. The
applicant seeks to make it a ‘D’ use. Itis recommended that the ‘X’ designation of ‘Motel’
be retained for the following reasons.
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The use is car focused and inconsistent with contemporary planning principles
advocated for by SPP 4.2 which seek to reduce car dependency within activity
centres.

Introducing a land use for short stay accommodation is a substantial change that
requires strategic planning under SPP 4.2. However, such planning has not occurred.

Given the above, it is considered there are currently no cogent reasons to introduce the
‘Motel’ land use.

Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales/Motor Vehicle Hire/Motor Vehicle Repair

The applicant requested that these uses be classified as ‘Restricted Uses’ which are
subject to additional development requirements. Officers do not support this or designating
‘Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales’ and ‘Motor Vehicle Hire’ as ‘D’ and Motor Vehicle
Repair as ‘A’ for the following reasons:

They do not align with the ‘Town Centre’ zone objectives as they do not provide a
retail or entertainment function.

There is an abundance of more suitable sites for these uses, and there is no strategic
merit for them to occur in the Town Centre zone.

The car-centric nature of these uses contradicts the planning principles of SPP 4.2,
which aim to minimise reliance on cars within activity centres.

It is therefore recommended that the ‘X’ permissibility is retained for these uses.
Showroom

Officers do not support amending ‘Showroom’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’. While this land use is
currently capable of approval within the ‘Town Centre’ zone, SPP 4.2 states that
showrooms should be located outside core activity centres. In addition, the City of Belmont
Local Planning Strategy states that showrooms should be encouraged and facilitated within
the ‘Mixed Business’ zone and that showrooms should not be permitted within the ‘“Town
Centre’ zone unless their size and design is consistent with the objective of creating a ‘main
street’ environment. As such, it is considered appropriate for this land use to remain as ‘D’
so that the specific operational, built form, and amenity implications of development
proposals can be assessed on a case-by-case basis.

Veterinary Centre

The ‘Veterinary Centre’ land use is currently ‘X’ and prohibited within the Town Centre
zone. The applicant seeks to make this an ‘A’ use.

The definition of the use seeks to provide for the comprehensive treatment of all types of
animals. This could facilitate the treatment of non-domestic animals requiring extensive

treatment, and potential overnight stay. These factors mean officers consider the use is

inappropriate for the Town Centre zone.

An acceptable form of the veterinary service can already occur under the ‘Veterinary
Consulting Room’ land use. This use allows for the treatment of minor ailments of domestic
animals, which is an appropriate scale for the Town Centre zone.

City of Belmont | Ordinary Council Meeting - 25 July 2023 | 50



Liquor Store — Small

Liguor Store — Small is currently an ‘A’ use within the ‘Town Centre’ zone. The applicant
seeks to make it a ‘P’ use. It is considered there are inherent matters associated with this
use that require evaluation through the planning process. Furthermore, the previous
consideration of this use in the Town Centre has benefitted from stakeholder input. A

‘P’ designation is therefore not supported for this use.

In terms of applying a ‘D' designation to the use, this would have the same outcomes as
applying a 'P' designation since it would be exempt under the Regulations.

Given the above, it is considered appropriate to retain the existing ‘A’ permissibility for
Liquor Store — Small.

Uses already exempt under the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes)
Regulations 2015

Consulting Rooms and Office

Officers do not support changing the permissibility of ‘Consulting Rooms’ or ‘Office’ from
‘D' to ‘P’. These uses already provide conditional exemptions under the Regulations.
Given that these uses are already exempt, officers find no reason in duplicating the
exemption by designating them as ‘P’ uses and introducing similar provisions within
LPS 15.

Proposed changes that require strategic planning before consideration

The applicant requested changes to the permissibility of ‘Reception Centre’, ‘Educational
Establishment’, ‘Hospital’, ‘Nursing Home’, and ‘Serviced Apartments’. These uses are
currently designated ‘X'.

It is considered that the introduction of these uses would be a significant change. To
determine the future suitability of these uses within the Town Centre, it is considered
necessary for the landowners to undertake formal strategic planning for the land, in the
form of a precinct structure plan. This plan would address:

Strategic rationale;

Development requirements i.e. floor spaces, height and parking;
Design requirements;

Interface;

Traffic and movement;

Public realm.

In the absence of this work being progressed, these uses cannot be supported at this time.
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Scheme Amendment Classification

The Regulations specify three different types of scheme amendments, being ‘basic’,
‘standard’, and ‘complex’. Clause 35(2) of the Regulations requires a resolution of the local
government specifying the type of amendment and the reasons for the classification.

A standard amendment is identified by the Regulations as meaning:

a) Amendment relating to a zone or reserve that is consistent with the objectives
identified in the scheme for that zone or reserve;

b) An amendment that is consistent with a local planning strategy for the scheme
that has been endorsed by the Commission;

¢) Anamendment to the scheme so that it is consistent with a region planning
scheme that applies to the scheme area; other than an amendment that is a
basic amendment;

d) Anamendment to the scheme map that is consistent with a structure plan or
local development plan that has been approved under the scheme for the land to
which the amendment relates if the scheme does not currently include zones of
all types that are outlined in the plan;

e) Anamendment that would have minimal impact on land in the scheme area that
is not the subject of the amendment;

f)  An amendment that does not result in any significant environmental, social,
economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area;

g) Any other amendment that is not a complex or basic amendment.

The proposed amendment is considered to be a ‘standard’ amendment for the following
reasons:

i. The proposed amendment relates to land zoned ‘Town Centre’ and is considered to
be consistent with the objective of this zone.

ii.  The proposed amendment is consistent with the City of Belmont Local Planning
Strategy.

iii.  The proposed amendment will not result in any significant environmental, social,
economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area.

Should Council resolve to proceed with the proposed amendment as submitted by the
applicant, it would need to be treated as a complex amendment. This is due to several
uses not being addressed by the City’s Local Planning Strategy for the Town Centre zone
and not being consistent with the LPS 15 zone objective. As per the Regulations,
obtaining consent from the WAPC would be necessary before initiating the advertising
process. Additionally, the duration of the advertising period would be extended to 60 days
instead of the standard 42 days.
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Conclusion

The applicant requested that the City modify the permissibility of various land uses to
increase the number of uses capable of establishing within the ‘Town Centre’ zone. While
various aspects of the applicant’s request are supported, a humber of use class
permissibility changes are not, due to requiring further strategic planning or not being
consistent with the objectives of the zone. It is recommended that the modified version of
the amendment as reflected within Attachment 12.1.2 be supported by Council for the
purpose of advertising.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications evident at this time.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

It is considered that the Amendment will assist in delivering a vibrant and attractive Town
Centre that attracts public and private investment.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. Amendment Sought by the Proponent [12.1.1 - 3 pages]
2. Changes Proposed by Amendment No 21 [12.1.2 - 1 page]
3. Land Use Definitions [12.1.3 - 3 pages]

City of Belmont | Ordinary Council Meeting - 25 July 2023 | 53



Attachment 1 — Amendment Sought by the Proponent

Update Table 1 (Zoning Table) as follows:

Boat or Caravan
Sales

Use Class Existing Proponents | Officer Comment
Permissibility | Request

Art Gallery D P Refer to report

Cinema/Theatre | A P Refer to report

Consulting D P Refer to report

Rooms

Convenience A P Historically, the definition of

Store Convenience Store
included the retail sale of
petrol, which was the
primary reason for it being
an ‘A’ use. Reference to the
sale of petrol was removed
from the definition as part of
a previous amendment to
LPS 15.
The use is consistent with
the zone objective.

Dry Cleaning D P Refer to report

Premises

Educational X D Refer to report

Establishment

Health Centre X P Refer to report

Health Studio D P SPP 4.2 identifies
gymnasiums (health
studios) as an appropriate
use to locate within activity
centres that can generate
activity outside of regular
business/hours.

Hospital X A Refer to report

Liquor Store — A P Refer to report

Small

Massage D P Refer to report

Parlour

Motel X D Refer to report

Motor Vehicle, X D Refer to report




Motor Vehicle Refer to report

Hire

Motor Vehicle Refer to report

Repair

Motor Vehicle Refer to report

Wash

Nursing Home Refer to report

Office Refer to report

Private Refer to report

Recreation

Reception Refer to report

Centre

Restaurant/Café This use contributes to the
entertainment function of
the centre and is consistent
with the objective of the
‘Town Centre’ zone.

Serviced Refer to report

Apartments

Shop This use is consistent with
the objective of the ‘Town
Centre’ zone and intent of
the Local Planning Strategy
to support the continued
expansion of retail floor
space within this zone.

Showroom Refer to report

Studio Refer to report

Veterinary Refer to report

Centre

Introduce the following Restricted Use Table within Schedule 3 of LPS 15:







Attachment 2 — Changes Proposed by Amendment No. 21

Update Table 1 (Zoning Table) as follows:

[0}

o

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Cinema/Theatre’ from ‘A’ to ‘D’
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Convenience Store’ from ‘A’ to ‘P’
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Health Studio’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’ within
the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Private Recreation’ from ‘X’ to ‘D’
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Restaurant/Café’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone.

Amend the use class permissibility of ‘Shop’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’ within the
‘Town Centre’ zone.

Introducing the below Additional Use within Schedule 2 of LPS 15.

No.
21

Location and Additional Uses
Within the ‘Town Centre’ zone, the local government may approve
the following additional uses:

Motor Vehicle Wash
Studio

When considering development applications for the abovementioned
land uses, the following requirements shall be met:

Motor Vehicle Wash uses shall be located within a multi-
storey parking structure, screened from view and be limited to
a maximum GFA of 200m2.

Studio uses are to be integrated within the main shopping
centre building and comprise a maximum work-room GFA of
30m?

Amending the zoning map to designate the ‘Town Centre’ zone as being
subject to ‘Additional Use 21’ (A21).



Attachment 3 — Use Class Permissibility Symbol Meanings and Land Use

Definitions

Land use definitions are included in Schedule 1 of LPS 15. The land use definitions
relevant to this application have been extracted from Schedule 1 and included below:

Land Use | Meaning
Definitions
Art Gallery means premises —

a) that are open to the public; and
b) where artworks are displayed for viewing or sale;

Cinema/Theatre

means premises where the public may view a motion picture
or theatrical production;

Consulting Rooms

means premises used by no more than 2 health practitioners
at the same time for the investigation or treatment of human
injuries or ailments and for general outpatient care;

Convenience Store

means premises —

a) used for the retail sale of convenience goods
commonly sold in supermarkets, delicatessens or
newsagents; and

b) operated during hours which include, but may extend
beyond, normal trading hours; and

c) the floor area of which does not exceed 300 m2 net
lettable area;

Establishment

Dry Cleaning | means any land and building used for the cleaning of
Premises garments and other fabrics by chemical processes;
Educational means premises used for the purposes of education and

includes a school, tertiary institution, business college,
academy or other educational centre;

Health Centre

means any building used as a maternity centre, a district
clinic, an x-ray or ultrasound centre, or pathology centre, or
the like of any of those, but does not include the consulting
rooms or a medical centre use classes;

Health Studio

means any land and building designed and equipped for
physical exercise, recreation or sporting activities, but does
not include the private recreation or public recreation use
classes;

Hospital

means premises used as a hospital as defined in the
Hospitals and Health Services Act 1927 section 2(1);

Liquor Store — Small

means premises the subject of a liquor store licence granted
under the Liquor Control Act 1988 with a net lettable area of
not more than 300 m2;

Massage Parlour

means a use of land involving the massaging manipulation
or other treatment of body parts for therapeutic or remedial
purposes, of a kind generally administered in association
with medical treatment. The term does not include the
provision of any sexual services;

Motel

means premises, which may be licenced under the Liquor
Control Act 1988 —




a) used to accommodate guests in a manner similar to
a hotel; and

b) with specific provision for the accommodation of
guests with motor vehicles;

Motor Vehicle, Boat,
or Caravan Sales

means premises used to sell motor vehicles, boats or
caravans;

Motor Vehicle Hire

means any land or building used for the hiring out of motor
vehicles and when conducted on the same site, the storage
and cleaning of motor vehicles for hire but does not include
mechanical repair or servicing of such vehicles;

Motor Vehicle Repair

means premises used for or in connection with —

a) electrical and mechanical repairs, or overhauls, to
vehicles other than panel beating, spray painting or
chassis reshaping of vehicles; or City of Belmont
Local Planning Scheme No. 15 — Scheme Text 56
Schedule No. 1 Land Use Definitions Meaning

b) repairs to tyres other than recapping or re-treading of
tyres;

Motor Vehicle Wash

means premises where the primary use is the washing of
motor vehicles;

Nursing Home

means any building used for the medical treatment and/or
care of sick, aged or handicapped persons, whether resident
or not, but does not include the hospital, consulting rooms,
medical centre or health centre uses;

Office

means premises used for administration, clerical, technical,
professional or other like business activities;

Recreation Private

means premises that are —
a) used for indoor or outdoor leisure, recreation or sport;
and
b) not usually open to the public without charge;

Reception Centre

means premises used for hosted functions on formal or
ceremonial occasions;

Restaurant/Café

restaurant/cafe means premises primarily used for the
preparation, sale and serving of food and drinks for
consumption on the premises by customers for whom
seating is provided, including premises that are licenced
under the Liquor Control Act 1988;

Serviced Apartments

means a group of units or apartments providing —
a) self-contained short stay accommodation for guests;
and
b) any associated reception or recreational facilities;

Shop

means premises other than a bulky goods showroom, a
liquor store — large or a liquor store — small used to sell
goods by retail, to hire goods, or to provide services of a
personal nature, including hairdressing or beauty therapy
services;

Showroom

means premises used to display, sell by wholesale or retall,
or hire, automotive parts and accessories, camping
equipment, electrical light fittings, equestrian supplies, floor




coverings, furnishings, furniture, household appliances,
party supplies, swimming pools or goods of a bulky nature;

Studio means a building or part of a building used as a work-room
by a painter, photographer, sculptor or craftsperson in the
conduct of his/her profession and includes incidental display
and sale of things made, decorated or adapted therein;

Veterinary Centre means premises used to diagnose animal diseases or
disorders, to surgically or medically treat animals, or for the
prevention of animal diseases or disorders;
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Planning and Development Act 2005

MODIFIED
AMENDMENT TO LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME

CITY OF BELMONT
LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME NO. 15
SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 21
The local government as directed by the Minister pursuant to regulation 56 of the Planning and
Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015, amend the above Local Planning

Scheme by:

1. Amend the land use permissibility for the following uses within the Town Centre zone
under Table 1 — Zoning Table as follows:

Land Use Town Centre
Zone

Art Gallery
Cinema/Theatre
Consulting Rooms
Convenience Store
Education Establishment
Health Centre
Health Studio
Liguor Store — Small
Motel
Motor Vehicle Wash
Nursing Home
Private Recreation
Reception Centre
Restaurant/Café
Serviced Apartment
Shop
Studio

O|v|0|T|>»|0|0|>|>|TV|0|0(> 0 |T|0|T

The Amendment adopted by Council on 25" July 2023 was considered to be standard under the
provisions of the Planning and Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015 for the
following reason(s):
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Scheme Amendment Details

ltem  Description ‘ Details

1 Local Authority City of Belmont

2. Description of Local Planning Local Planning Scheme No. 15
Scheme

3. Type of Scheme Local Zoning Scheme

4. Scheme Amendment No. Amendment No. 21

Summary of Proposal

Local Planning Scheme No. 15



2. Background
21 Location

The Amendment relates to the Belmont Town Centre as shown in Figure 1. The zoning of the
subject lots and surrounding land is shown in Figure 2.

Figure 1: Location Plan - Town Centre outlined in Red (Source: IntraMaps)

Figure 2: Existing zoning and reservation of land — Town Centre outlined in Red (Source: IntraMaps)
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2.2 Proposed Amendment

The intent of the Amendment is to increase the number of uses capable of establishing within
the ‘Town Centre’ zone and streamline approval processes for certain uses. The specific
permissibility changes subject to this amendment are outlined in the below table:

Use Class Existing Permissibility Proposed Permissibility
Art Gallery D P
Cinema/Theatre A D
Consulting Rooms D P
Convenience Store A P
Educational Establishment X A
Health Centre X P
Health Studio D P
Liguor Store — Small A P
Motel X A
Motor Vehicle Wash X A
Nursing Home X D
Private Recreation X D
Reception Centre X A
Restaurant/Café D P
Serviced Apartment X D
Shop D P
Studio X D

2.3 Planning Context

Local Planning Scheme Amendments

Section 75 of the Planning and Development Act 2005 provides for an amendment to be made
to a local planning scheme. The procedures for amending a local planning scheme, including
public consultation requirements, are set out within Part 5 of the Planning and Development
(Local Planning Schemes) 2015 (The Regulations).

The Regulations specify three different types of scheme amendments, being ‘basic’, ‘standard’
and ‘complex’. Clause 35(2) of the Regulations requires a resolution of the local government
which specifies the amendment type and the reasons for the classification.

Each amendment has a different advertising requirement. A standard amendment needs to be
advertised for 42 days, and a complex amendment has a 60-day advertising period.

Irrespective of the classification of the amendment, where a local government has resolved to
amend a scheme, the proposed amendment shall be forwarded to the Environmental
Protection Authority (EPA) to determine whether it requires an environmental assessment.
Consent for advertising is also required from the Western Australian Planning Commission
(WAPC).

Where no environmental assessment is required and subject to WAPC consent, the
responsible authority shall advertise the amendment in accordance with the Regulations by:
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of those, but does not include the consulting rooms or a medical
centre use classes;

Health Studio

means any land and building designed and equipped for physical
exercise, recreation or sporting activities, but does not include the
private recreation or public recreation use classes;

Liquor Store - Small

means premises the subject of a liquor store license granted under
the Liquor Control Act 1988 with a net lettable area of not more
than 300m?.

Motel

Means premises, which may be licensed under the Liquor Control
Act 1988 —

(a) used to accommodate guests in a manner similar to a
hotel; and

(b) with specific provision for the accommodation of guests
with motor vehicles;

Motor Vehicle Wash

means premises where the primary use is the washing of motor
vehicles;

Nursing Home

Means any building used for the medical treatment and/or care of
sick, aged or handicapped persons, whether resident or not, but
does not include the hospital, consulting rooms, medical centre or
health centre uses;

Reception Centre

Means premises used for hosted functions on formal or
ceremonial occasions;

Private Recreation

means premises that are —
a) used for indoor or outdoor leisure, recreation or sport; and
b) not usually open to the public without charge;

Restaurant/Café

restaurant/cafe means premises primarily used for the
preparation, sale and serving of food and drinks for consumption
on the premises by customers for whom seating is provided,
including premises that are licenced under the Liquor Control Act
1988;

Serviced Apartment

Means a group of units or apartments providing —

(a) self contained short stay accommodation for guests; and
(b) any associated reception or recreational facilities;

Shop means premises other than a bulky goods showroom, a liquor
store — large or a liquor store — small used to sell goods by retail,
to hire goods, or to provide services of a personal nature, including
hairdressing or beauty therapy services;

Studio means a building or part of a building used as a work-room by a

painter, photographer, sculptor or craftsperson in the conduct of
his/her profession and includes incidental display and sale of
things made, decorated or adapted therein;

Exemption from the Need to Obtain Development Approval

The Regulations exempt certain land uses from requiring development approval. This is
subject to the use having a ‘D’ permissibility in the zone and where the relevant conditions are
met. The exemption relevant to this amendment relates to ‘Recreation — Private’ as detailed in
the below table:

Land Use

Conditions

Recreation — Private | Commercial, Centre, (&) Premises are in the metropolitan
Mixed Use or Light region.
Industry Zone
7
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Land Use Zone Conditions

(b) Net lettable area of any indoor
area of the premises is no more
than 300 m2.

(c) No more than 60% of the glass
surface of any window on the
ground floor of a building on the
premises is obscured glass.

State Planning Policy 4.2 — Activity Centres for Perth and Peel

State Planning Policy 4.2 (SPP 4.2) guides the planning and development requirements of
activity centres in the Perth and Peel region. Its main goal is to encourage a mix of suitable
land uses, with a focus on retail activities. Belmont Town Centre is the City’s highest-ranking
activity centre and designated as a 'Secondary Centre' within the Policy.

The amendment has been reviewed against SPP 4.2 to determine the appropriateness of the
proposed modifications to land use permissibility.

City of Belmont Local Planning Strateqgy

The City’s Local Planning Strategy recognises the importance of sustaining the long-term
viability of its commercial centres. The Strategy aims to enhance the Town Centre’'s
functionality by allowing the expansion of retail spaces and promoting redevelopment in a main
street format. The amendment has been reviewed against the City’s Local Planning Strategy
to determine the appropriateness of the proposed modifications to land use permissibility.

Metropolitan Region Scheme

The subject site is zoned ‘Urban’ under the Metropolitan Region Scheme (MRS). The proposed
Scheme Amendment is able to be accommodated under the current MRS zoning.

3. Report

The amendment introduces several significant land uses that are considered inconsistent
with the objectives of the ‘Town Centre’ zone and require strategic planning to assess their
suitability. Further details on these matters are discussed below.

Need for Strategic Planning

The Minister directed that the following land uses, which are currently designated as ‘X’
within the ‘Town Centre’ zone, be included in the Amendment:
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Orderly and proper planning necessitates a coordinated approach to land use planning
through the preparation of a precinct structure plan. It is considered that this is why SPP
4.2 outlines the need for the preparation of precinct structure plans for secondary
centres, which is further reinforced and supported by SPP 7.2.
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o The introduction of ‘Serviced Apartment’ is a significant change to the planning
framework that is not addressed by the City’s Local Housing Strategy.

o The WAPC's Position Statement — Residential Accommodation for Ageing Persons,
clearly outlines the need for aged care facilities and independent living complexes to
be delivered in the locations identified in the local strategic planning framework. The
need for ‘Nursing Homes’ within the ‘Town Centre’ zone is not addressed or
contemplated by the City’s strategic planning framework.

o0 While the ‘Reception Centre’ use could be consistent with the zone objective, the
scale of this use and its integration with other town centre uses should be
considered through the precinct structure planning process.

Given the above and in the absence of a precinct structure plan and built form controls for
the Town Centre, it is not considered appropriate for the permissibility of several large scale
and significant uses currently designated ‘X’ to be amended.

Additional Uses

Motor Vehicle Wash

The Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Motor Vehicle Wash’ from ‘X’ to ‘A’.

Officers examined similar uses within activity centres and found them inappropriate for open-
air parking areas or at a scale where they would become a dominant use. It was determined
that the ‘Motor Vehicle Wash’ use should only be incidental to the function and operation of
the Town Centre, allowing visitors to use the service as part of a broader trip.

Therefore, this land use may be considered appropriate as an Additional Use as opposed to
changing the permissibility. Appropriate Additional Use controls include:

10
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ability to manage the scale and nature of the use within the ‘Town Centre’ zone. Therefore,
designating this use as ‘D’ without built form controls is not supported.

Other Land Uses

Art Gallery

The Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Art Gallery’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’. While ‘P’
uses are exempt from requiring approval if they comply with the local planning scheme, there
are no specific parking requirements for this use under LPS 15. As a result, it is appropriate
for a parking supply assessment to occur through the development application process.
Given this, the proposed change to ‘P’ is not supported.

Consulting Rooms

The Amendment seeks to change the permissibility of ‘Consulting Rooms’ from ‘D’ to ‘P’.

This use is already exempt under the Regulations, provided that no more than 60% of the
ground floor window's glass surface is obscured. The Amendment does not propose to
replicate this provision in the Scheme.

Therefore, if ‘Consulting Rooms’ were to become a ‘P’ use, the ability to require a maximum
of 60% obscure glazing would be lost. This would lead to less desirable outcomes for
engagement and activation at street level. Therefore, retaining the current ‘D’ designation is
preferred.

Liquor Store — Small

The modified Amendment proposes changing the permissibility of ‘Liquor Store-Small’ from
‘A’ to ‘P’. However, this use could have broader impacts on the surrounding community
based on the City’s evidence of alcohol-related harm, such as domestic violence and
assaults in the locality.

Retaining the ‘A’ designation allows a proposal to be assessed having regard for social
impacts of the development as specified under Clause 67(n)(iii) of the Planning and
Development (Local Planning Schemes) Regulations 2015. This will ensure that matters
raised by stakeholder input and social impacts are fully considered. Therefore, the proposed
change to ‘P’ is not supported.

Scheme Amendment Classification

The Regulations specify three different types of scheme amendments, being ‘basic’,
‘standard’, and ‘complex’. A standard amendment is identified by the Regulations as meaning:

a) Amendment relating to a zone or reserve that is consistent with the objectives
identified in the scheme for that zone or reserve;

b) An amendment that is consistent with a local planning strategy for the scheme
that has been endorsed by the Commission;

C) An amendment to the scheme so that it is consistent with a region planning

scheme that applies to the scheme area; other than an amendment that is a
basic amendment;

d) An amendment to the scheme map that is consistent with a structure plan or
local development plan that has been approved under the scheme for the land
to which the amendment relates if the scheme does not currently include zones
of all types that are outlined in the plan;

11
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e) An amendment that would have minimal impact on land in the scheme area that
is not the subject of the amendment;
f) An amendment that does not result in any significant environmental, social,

economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area;
s)] Any other amendment that is not a complex or basic amendment.

A complex amendment is identified by the Regulations as meaning:

a) an amendment that is not consistent with a local planning strategy for the
scheme that has been endorsed by the Commission;

b) an amendment that is not addressed by any local planning strategy;

c) an amendment relating to development that is of a scale, or will have an impact,

that is significant relative to development in the locality;

d) an amendment made to comply with an order made by the Minister under
section 76 or 77A of the Act;

e) an amendment to identify or amend a development contribution area or to
prepare or amend a development contribution plan;

Council initiated the original Amendment as a standard amendment for the following reasons:

i. The proposed amendment relates to land zoned ‘Town Centre’ and is
considered to be consistent with the objective of this zone.

ii. The proposed amendment is consistent with the City of Belmont Local
Planning Strategy.

iii. The proposed amendment will not result in any significant environmental,
social, economic or governance impacts on land in the scheme area.

Following advertising, the Amendment was sent to the Western Australian Planning
Commission for review and to provide a recommendation to the Minister for Planning. The
Minister for Planning directed the City to modify the Amendment and advertise these changes
for a period of 42 days. This timeframe aligns with that of a ‘Standard’ amendment. Given
changes to the permissibility of several land uses do not align with the objectives of the ‘“Town
Centre’ zone, it is considered the amendment is now classified as ‘Complex’.

4, Conclusion

When considered in its entirety, the Amendment is not supported.

While several elements align with the previously endorsed version and are acceptable, many
proposed changes do not align with the objectives of the ‘Town Centre’ zone and SPP 4.2 or
require prior strategic planning. The need for a lead strategic approach aligns with SPP 4.2,
SPP 7.2, the City’s Activity Centre Planning Strategy, and the State’s planning reform
agenda. Accordingly, it is recommended that the Minister reject the Amendment.

12
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Planning and Development Act 2005

CITY OF BELMONT
LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME NO. 15

SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 21

The Council of the City of Belmont, under and by virtue of the powers conferred upon it in that
behalf by the Planning and Development Act 2005, hereby amends the above Local Planning
Scheme by

1. Amend the land use permissibility for the following uses within the Town Centre zone
under Table 1 — Zoning Table as follows:

Land Use Town Centre
Zone

Art Gallery
Cinema/Theatre
Consulting Rooms
Convenience Store
Education Establishment
Health Centre
Health Studio
Liguor Store — Small
Motel
Motor Vehicle Wash
Nursing Home
Private Recreation
Reception Centre
Restaurant/Café
Serviced Apartment
Shop
Studio

O|7|0|T|>»|0|0|(>|>|TV|T|T(>» 0 |T|0|T
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CITY OF BELMONT
LOCAL PLANNING SCHEME NO. 15

SCHEME AMENDMENT NO. 21

ADVERTISING

Advertised in accordance with direction from the Minister on this 25" day of June 2024.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

COUNCIL RECOMMENDED/SUBMITTED FOR REFUSAL

Supported for submission to the Minister for Planning for refusal by resolution of the City of
Belmont at the Ordinary Meeting of the Council held on this day of and
the Common Seal of the City of Belmont was hereunto affixed by the authority of a resolution
of the Council in the presence of:

MAYOR

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

WAPC RECOMMENDED/SUBMITTED FOR DETERMINATION

DELEGATED UNDER S.16 OF
THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACT 2005

DATE

MINISTER DECISION

MINISTER FOR PLANNING
S.87 OF THE PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT ACT 2005

DATE
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Schedule of Submissions

Considers that the following uses should be capable of approval in a contemporary
town centre environment:

- Hospital

- Motor Vehicle, Boat or Caravan Sales
- Motor Vehicle Hire

- Motor Vehicle Repair

- Veterinary Centre

Mentions that because these uses have not been included in the City’s re-advertised
scheme amendment documentation, it is Perron’s intention to pursue these changes
with the City, Department of Planning Lands and Heritage (DPLH) and Western
Australian Planning Commission (WAPC) when future opportunities arise, including as
part of any planning scheme review, structure or precinct planning processes initiated
by the City.

Considers that changing the above uses would allow landowners to respond to market
trends and emerging development opportunities that challenge conservative and more
traditional perceptions and allow the Belmont Town Centre to achieve its potential as a
genuinely diverse vibrant thriving activity centre. In the meantime, the submitter
understands that those use class permissibilities will remain as they currently exist
under LPS 15.

No. | Submitter Summary of Submission Officer Comment
1 Element Acknowledge and support the intent of Amendment No. 21 to increase the number of Noted

Advisory on land uses that will be capable of approval within the ‘Town Centre’ zone and the

Behalf of associated benefits of streamlining approval processes for certain uses.

Perron Group

(owner of States that Perron Group support the advertised proposal even though it does not Noted

Belmont include the full range of uses from the original scheme amendment request. Mentions

Forum this is on the basis that the use class permissibilities are generally in accordance with

Shopping the initial request and/or generally align with the proposal lodged with the City in

Centre) January 2023.

Refer to comments included in the Council Report.

Refer to comments included in the Council Report.

Refer to comments included in the Council Report.




Attachment 3 — Land Use Definitions

Land use definitions are included in Schedule 1 of LPS 15. The land use definitions
relevant to this item have been extracted from Schedule 1 and included below:

Land Use | Meaning
Definitions
Art Gallery means premises —

a) that are open to the public; and
b) where artworks are displayed for viewing or sale;

Cinema/Theatre

means premises where the public may view a motion picture
or theatrical production;

Consulting Rooms

means premises used by no more than 2 health practitioners
at the same time for the investigation or treatment of human
injuries or ailments and for general outpatient care;

Convenience Store

means premises —

a) used for the retail sale of convenience goods
commonly sold in supermarkets, delicatessens or
newsagents; and

b) operated during hours which include, but may extend
beyond, normal trading hours; and

c) the floor area of which does not exceed 300 m2 net
lettable area;

Education
Establishment

means premises used for the purposes of education and
includes a school, tertiary institution, business college,
academy or other educational centre;

Health Centre

means any building used as a maternity centre, a district
clinic, an x-ray or ultrasound centre, or pathology centre, or
the like of any of those, but does not include the consulting
rooms or a medical centre use classes;

Health Studio

means any land and building designed and equipped for
physical exercise, recreation or sporting activities, but does
not include the private recreation or public recreation use
classes;

Liquor Store — Small

means premises the subject of a liquor store licence granted
under the Liquor Control Act 1988 with a net lettable area of
not more than 300 m2;

Motel means premises, which may be licenced under the Liquor
Control Act 1988 —
a) used to accommodate guests in a manner similar to
a hotel; and
b) with specific provision for the accommodation of
guests with motor vehicles;
Motor Vehicle Wash | means premises where the primary use is the washing of

motor vehicles;

Nursing Home

means any building used for the medical treatment and/or
care of sick, aged or handicapped persons, whether resident
or not, but does not include the hospital, consulting rooms,
medical centre or health centre uses;

Recreation Private

means premises that are —




a) used for indoor or outdoor leisure, recreation or sport;
and
b) not usually open to the public without charge;

Reception Centre

means premises used for hosted functions on formal or
ceremonial occasions;

Restaurant/Café

restaurant/cafe means premises primarily used for the
preparation, sale and serving of food and drinks for
consumption on the premises by customers for whom
seating is provided, including premises that are licenced
under the Liquor Control Act 1988;

Serviced Apartment

means a group of units or apartments providing —
a) self-contained short stay accommodation for guests;
and
b) any associated reception or recreational facilities;

Shop

means premises other than a bulky goods showroom, a
liquor store — large or a liquor store — small used to sell
goods by retail, to hire goods, or to provide services of a
personal nature, including hairdressing or beauty therapy
services;

Studio

means a building or part of a building used as a work-room
by a painter, photographer, sculptor or craftsperson in the
conduct of his/her profession and includes incidental display
and sale of things made, decorated or adapted therein;




Land Use

Original Amendment

Modified Amendment

Considered by Council

Art Gallery Not subject to the P
Amendment
Cinema/Theatre D D
Consulting Rooms Not subject to the P
Amendment
Convenience Store P P
Education Establishment Not subject to the A
Amendment
Health Centre Not subject to the P
Amendment
Health Studio P P
Liquor Store — Small Not subject to the P
Amendment
Motel Not subject to the A
Amendment
Motor Vehicle Wash X — Additional Use A
requiring the use to be
located within a multi-
storey parking structure,
screened from view and
be limited to a maximum
gross floor area of 200m?2.
Nursing Home Not subject to the D
Amendment
Private Recreation D D
Reception Centre Not subject to the A
Amendment
Restaurant/Café P P
Serviced Apartment Not subject to the D
Amendment
Shop P P
Studio X — Additional Use D
requiring the use to be
integrated within the main
shopping centre building
and comprise a maximum
work-room gross floor
area of 30m?.




12.2 2024-25 Consolidated Assurance Map

Voting Requirement . Simple Majority

Subject Index - 19/003 Audit and Risk Committee
Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items : Item 12.4 OCM 12 December 2023
Applicant > N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division : Executive Services

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To submit the 2024—-25 Consolidated Assurance Map to Council for
endorsement. Refer Attachment 12.2.1.

Summary and key issues

The Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) reviewed the 2024-25 Consolidated
Assurance Map at their meeting on 25 November 2024.

The Institute of Internal Auditors defined an assurance map as “a high level
document that identifies the holistic risk coverage across the organisation by a
range of assurance providers. It helps to identify gaps and duplication of
assurance coverage.”

Committee Recommendation

That Council endorses the City of Belmont’'s 2024—25 Consolidated Assurance
Map at Attachment 12.2.1.

Committee Recommendation adopted en bloc - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.
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Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

Assurance providers have advised timing of assurance activities.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—2034 Strategic Community Plan:

Key Performance Area: Performance
Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

Section 7.2 of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) requires annual financial
audits.

Regulation 14 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 requires that a
compliance audit for the period 1 January to 31 December is completed each
year in a form approved by the Minister.

Regulation 17 of the Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 states the
following:

17. CEO to review certain systems and procedures.

(1) The CEO is to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of a
local government’s systems and procedures in relation to:
(a) risk management; and
(b) internal control; and
(c) legislative compliance.

(2) The review may relate to any or all of the matters referred to in
subregulation (1)(a), (b) and (c), but each of these matters is to be
the subject of a review not less than once in every 3 financial years.
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(3) The CEO is to report to the audit committee the results of that
review.

Regulation 5(2) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations
1996 states the following:

(2) The CEO is to:

(a) ensure that the resources of the local government are
effectively and efficiently managed; and

(b) assist the council to undertake reviews of fees and charges
regularly (and not less than once in every financial year); and

(c) undertake reviews of the appropriateness and effectiveness of
the financial management systems and procedures of the
local government regularly (and not less than once in every 3
financial years) and report to the local government the results
of those reviews.

In addition, under the International Standard 1SO 9001:2015, Quality
Management Systems, the City is required to conduct an annual program of
internal and external audits to maintain certification of ISO Standards.

Background

The 2024—-25 Consolidated Assurance Map (refer Attachment 12.2.1) provides
an overview of the audits and reviews planned for financial year 2024-25 and
was reviewed by the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) at their meeting on
25 November 2024.

Referencing in the Consolidated Assurance Map reflects the WA Public Sector
Audit Committees — Better Practice Guide, issued by the Office of the Auditor
General (25 June 2020) “Lines of Defence Model” as shown in Figure 1 below.
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Delivery of quality public services for the community

P

Accountable authority / board / council Report to

Parliament /
community

1 T
T
T T T
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Source: OAG

Report

The 202425 Consolidated Assurance Map gives Council oversight of the scope
and focus of assurance activities for financial year 2024—-25.

Assurance drivers are requirements for:

* Internal control and legislative compliance.
Statutory external audit requirements.
 External certifications of Quality, Environmental and Occupational Health
& Safety management systems.

The need to support the City’s chosen governance approach.

The requirement to provide a comprehensive solution that can be
undertaken with existing resources.

There are a number of focus audits that any area of the City could be subject to
each year. These could be conducted as internal audits or reviews, operational
comparison reports, or by external third parties, the Department of Local
Government, Sport and Culture Industries, the Corruption and Crime
Commission, Public Sector Commission or the Western Australian Office of the
Auditor General. As these audits are carried out as required, they are not
identified on the Consolidated Assurance Map.
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Financial implications

There are no financial implications evident at this time.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. 2024-2025 Consolidated Assurance Map [12.2.1 - 1 page]
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City of Belmont

2024- 2025 - Consolidated Assurance Map

2024 - 2025 FINANCIAL YEAR

[ Aug | Sep [ Oct | Nov [ Dec | Jan [ Feb Mar Apr May Jun
Organisational Reviews
Line Staff and Management MGT
BMS Review BMS
System Procedures SP
Corporate & Governance CAR CAR 1ISO
Public Relations and Stakeholder Engagement CAR CAR 1ISO
Finance A (RFC) IGRE Rev CAR CAR INGESIL D E| o)
Governance, Strategy and Risk REV IA (BCF) CAR | IA (BPI) CAR 1ISO
Information Technology _ CAR CAR |IA (OFU) 1ISO
Development & Communities CAR CAR 1ISO
Economic and Community Development CAR CAR 1ISO
Library, Culture and Place CAR CAR 1ISO
Planning Services CAR |IA (DAP), CAR 1ISO
Safer Communities IA (BPA) CAR CAR 1ISO
Executive Services CAR CAR I1ISO
People and Culture CAR CAR 1ISO IA (HRM)
Work Health and Safety CAR CAR IA (WLC) 1ISO
Infrastructure Services CAR CAR 1ISO
City Facilities and Property CAR CAR |IA (CCA) 1ISO
City Projects CAR CAR IS0 [IA (ccA)
Design, Assets and Development IA (DAE) CAR CAR 1ISO
Parks, Leisure and Environment 1A (L&W) CAR CAR IA (WTM) 1ISO
Works IA (WSM) CAR CAR ISO
Legend IA Reference Audit Name

1st line of defence - Risk and Control Owner

MGT [Line Staff and Management

2nd line of defence

CAR [Statutory Compliance Audit Return

BMS [Business Management System Review

SP System Procedures

3rd line of defence

1A Internal Audit

4th line of defence

REV |Statutory Reviews - Regulation 5 & Regulation 17

Office of the Auditor General (OAG) - Financial Audit

ISO |ISO Quality, OH&S & Environmental Standards Audit

RFC Revenue & Funding Cycle

BPA Building Permit Approvals

DAE Development Applications Engineering
L&W Leisure & Wellbeing (Oasis Contract Audit)

WSM Waste Management

BCF Risk Management, Business Continuity, Fraud
BPI Business Planning & Improvement

DAP Development Applications / Projects

OFU OAG Follow up

CCA Construction Contract Audit

PEC Procurement & Expenditure Cycle

WTM Water Management

wLC WHS Legislation Compliance

HRM Human Resource Planning & Management

Note 1. OAG Operational Comparison audits are not identified on the Assurance Map as they are carried out by OAG as determined.

Note 2. OAG Interim Audit in April 2025 is to be confirmed .

2024 - 2025 Consolidated Assurance Map - SCAR.xIsx




12.3 Internal Audit Plan 2024-25 - 2026-27

Voting Requirement . Simple Majority

Subject Index - 19/003 Audit and Risk Committee
Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items : Item 12.5 OCM 12 December 2023
Applicant > N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division - Executive Services

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To submit the draft three year forward “Internal Audit Plan 2024-25 — 2026-27"
to Council for endorsement. Refer Attachment 12.3.1.

Summary of key issues

The “Terms of Reference — Internal Audit” requires the internal audit activity
present “annual and longer term risk based internal audit plans” to the Standing
Committee (Audit and Risk) for review prior to recommendation to Council. The
Committee reviewed the plans at their meeting on 25 November 2024.

The plan at Attachment 12.3.1, records:

 Audits planned and completed this financial year (2024-25) to date.
* Audits planned for the future financial years 2025-26 — 2026-27.
For historical information the plan also records 2022-23 and 2023-24 audits
planned and completed.
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Committee Recommendation

That Council endorses the draft three year forward “Internal Audit Plan 2024-
25 — 2026-27”, as Attachment 12.3.1.

Committee Recommendation adopted en bloc - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.

Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

The development of the “Internal Audit Plan 2024-25 — 2026-27 was reviewed
by:

 All department managers

« All division directors

e The CEO

 Executive Leadership Team

Comments provided have been considered and incorporated in the draft plan.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024-2034 Strategic Community Plan:
Key Performance Area: Performance

Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment
Local Government Act 1995 (WA)
7.1A Audit Committee
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(1) A local Government is to establish an audit committee of 3 or more
persons to exercise the powers and discharge the duties conferred on
it.

Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996
16. Functions of audit committee

An audit committee has the following functions:

(a) to guide and assist the local government in carrying out:
() its functions under Part 6 of the Act; and
(if)its functions relating to other audits and other matters related to
financial management;

(b) to guide and assist the local government in carrying out the local
government’s functions in relation to audits conducted under Part 7 of
the Act;

(c)to review a report given to it by the CEO under regulation 17(3) (the
CEO'’s report) and is to:
(1) report to the council the results of that review; and
(i) give a copy of the CEO’s report to the council;

(d) To monitor and advise the CEO when the CEO is carrying out functions
in relation to a review under:
(i) Regulation 17(1); and
(i) The Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
regulation 5(2)(c);

(e) to support the auditor of the local government to conduct an audit and
carry out the auditor’s other duties under the Act in respect of the local
government;

(f) to oversee the implementation of any action that the local government:
(i) is required to take by section 7.12A(3); and
(i) has stated it has taken or intends to take in a report prepared
under section 7.12A(4)(a); and
(iii) has accepted should be taken following receipt of a report of a
review conducted under regulation 17(1); and

(iv) has accepted should be taken following receipt of a report of a
review conducted under the Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulations 1996 regulation 5(2)(c);

(g) to perform any other functions conferred on the audit committee by
those regulations or another written law.
[Regulation 16 inserted: Gazette 26 Jun 2018 p.2386-7.]
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Background

The City of Belmont’s internal audit activity commenced in June 2021 and the
first internal audit plan was endorsed by the committee in August 2022.

This is the third internal audit plan submitted to the committee and covers the
three year forward period 2024-2027.

Internal Audit Plan - Methodology
The draft internal audit plan was developed using the following steps:

«  Strategic Community Plan review.
« Status of the 2023-24 internal audit plan.
 Meeting with City department managers to identify their operations, key
objectives, key risks, new developments and related City strategies.
« Meeting with Division Directors and the CEO to identify need for additional
audits.
The Institute of Internal Auditors (11A) Supplementary Guidance paper
“Developing a Risk Based Internal Audit Plan” was also used as a reference to
develop the draft plan.

When each audit is commenced a detailed engagement plan is completed and
discussed with management to ensure areas of current risk are identified.

Report

The attached three year forward Internal Audit Plan 2024-25 — 2026-27
provides an outline for the two internal audit staff to review the city’s activities
using a risk-based approach.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications evident at this time.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.
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Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. Internal Audit Plan 2024-25 - 2026-27 [12.3.1 - 2 pages]
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PLACE OBJECTIVE 6.1 PLANNING SERVICES




INTERNAL AUDIT PLAN 2024-2025 TO 2026 - 2027 (FINANCIAL YEARS)

AUDIT NAME DEPARTMENT BACKGROUND RISK AUDIT OBJECTIVES | RELATED | | CONSEQUENCE RISK LEVELS |
1 2 3 4 | 5 | | 6 |
SCP 2024-2034 STRATEGIC OPERATIONAL COMPLIANCE FINANCIAL
OBJECTIVES IMPACT IMPACT IMPACT IMPACT
DEVELOPMENT AND COMMUNITIES
1 Development Applications / Projects Manages DA's, Projects Planning, non compliant "R" codes. Checks compliance generaly. Planning approvals process incorrect . Check DA 's / Projects legal compliance, non compliant R code plans approved. 6.1 | [Major [Minor [Moderate [Moderate
2 Building Permit Approvals Manages approval of Building Licences and issue of Occupancy Certificates Completed building not compliant Check correct approval of buliding licenses and occupancy certificates 6.1 Major Minor Minor Moderate
3 Community Environmental Health Manages environment risks e.g. noise, vermin, dust, food in the community Environment hazards Check environment plans and controls are timely and effective. 12&3.1 | Major Minor Moderate Moderate
4 Surveillance and Ranger Activities Manages community vehicle patrols, CCTV monitoring, emergency management Injury to public Check vehicle patrols and ranger plans and controls are timely and effective. 11&1.2 Major Minor Minor Moderate
5 Economic Development Programs Actively engages with the business community to promote business retention, growth Business performance is poor. Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 9.1-94 Moderate Minor Moderate Moderate
6 Community Development Programs Actively engages with community to promote "Liveable Belmont" Community groups not supported. Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 1.2&31-35 Moderate Minor Moderate Moderate
7 Community & Cultural Engage Progs Actively engages with community to promote "Liveable Belmont" Community groups not supported. Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 21&22,33&34 Moderate Minor Moderate Moderate
8 Belmont Hub Library and Museum Services Manages Belmont Hub to deliver services that meet community needs. NFP leases. Facilities underutilised Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. [ 21 | [Moderate [Minor [Moderate [Moderate |
9 Art and Place Actively engages with community to promote art and "Creative Belmont" Placemaking not maximised Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 22,23&94 Moderate [Minor [Moderate [Moderate
INFRASTUCTURE SERVICES |
10 Drains - Asset Management Manages drains asset management plans including maintenance Drains fail. Check asset management plans including maintenance are timely and effective 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
11 Roads - Asset Management Manages roads, paths asset management plans including design and maintenance Roads, paths fail Check asset managemt plans including design, maintenance timely and effective 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
12 Development Applications Engineering Reviews development plans e.g traffic / pedestrian traffic managed. Non Compliance / rework Check development plans are correctly reviewed 6.1 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
13 Sustainable Transport Support Sustainable Transport by promoting walking, cycling, public transport, to reduce cars Program not effective Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 8.1&8.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
14 Construction Contract (Ornamental & Foreshore) Manages one off, high value, complex high risk projects Project fails to meet all expectations Check tender, time, cost, quality, environment, OHS, variations are managed [ 7.2 | [Major [Moderate [Moderate [Moderate
15 Construction Contract (Wilson Park & BKB) Manages one off, high value, complex high risk projects Project fails to meet all expectations Check tender, time, cost, quality, environment, OHS, variations are managed | 7.2 | Major |Moderate |M0derate |Moderale
16 Buildings - Asset Management Manages Buildings asset management plans including maintenance and leasing Buildings not fully operational Check asset management plans including maintenance are timely and effective 10.2 Moderate |M0derate |M0derate |Moderate
17 Construction Contract (TBA) Manages major upgrades to C of B facilities and property Project fails Check tender, time, cost, quality, environment, OHS, variations are managed 10.2 Major [Moderate [Moderate [Moderate
18 Roads, Footpaths & Drains Maintenance Develops budgets and maintains roads, footpaths, and drains owned by the C of B Roads etc not fully operational Check maintenance plans are timely and effective 8.1&8.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
19 Roads, Footpaths & Drains Construction Develops budgets and constructs new roads, footpaths, drains. Traffic Management. Project fails to meet all expectations Check tender, time, cost, quality, environment, OHS, variations are managed 8.1&8.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
20 Fleet and Plant Maintenance Manages C of B fleet and plant maintenance Plant and equipment fails Check maintenance plans are timely and effective 5.1&10.2 Minor Minor Minor Minor
21 Waste Management Manages C of B contract with SUEZ for waste disposal Environmental non compliance Check contract and envronmental conditions are met 51 Major Moderate Moderate Moderate
22 Parks - Asset Management & Maintenance Manages Parks asset management plans including maintenance, irrigation Parks etc. not fully operational Check asset management plans including maintenance are timely and effective 41-43&10.1-104 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
23 Parks - WHS Manages Parks asset management plans including maintenance Park employees or public injured Check compliance with OHS Act, Regulations, Policy 10.1 Major Major Major Major
24 Water Management Manages water useage Excess water useage or pollution. Check envronmetal conditions are met 5.1,10.2 & 10.4 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
25 Leisure and Wellbeing - Oasis Contract Manages community leisure facilities Leisure facilities not fully operational Check maintenance plans are timely and effective. Check Blufit - Oasis contract 12,13&31-34 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
26 Construction Contract (TBA) Manages one off, high value, complex high risk projects Project fails to meet all expectations Check tender, time, cost, quality, environment, OHS, variations are managed 7.2 Major Moderate Moderate Moderate
EXECUTIVE SERVICES I
27 Internal Audit Quality Assurances Manages internal audit function. 3rd Line of assurance not effective Check internal audit reports results of Quality Assurance annually and 5 yearly 10.1 Major Moderate Moderate Moderate
28 Strategic Audit Plan Manages internal audit function. 3rd Line of assurance not effective Plan Audits 10.1 Major Moderate Moderate Moderate
29 Human Resource Planning & Management Manages H R. Partners business, drives ethics, culture and talent management. Strategic plans not effectively resourced Check Strategic plans inform resource planning, ethics, culture and talent managmt. 10.1 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
30 Payroll System Reliability Manages payroll Unauthorised input, processing delays Check payroll input authorised and control reports independently approved. 10.1 Minor Minor Minor Moderate
31 WHS legislation Compliance Manages OHS. Non compliance with act, injuries Check adequacy of policies and compliance monitoring across all City functions. 10.1 |Major Major Major Major
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
32 OAG Follow up Manages IT Applications and Servers Business Applications not Available Check outstanding OAG recommendations are implemented 10.2 &10.3 Moderate Moderate Moderate Major
33 Applications and General controls Manages IT Applications and Servers Business Applications not Available Check Applications and General controls meet statndards 10.2&10.3 Moderate Moderate Moderate Major
34 Cybersecurity and Disaster Recovery Manages IT Applications and Servers Business Applications not Available Check Cybersecurity and Disaster Recovery controls meet standards 10.2 & 10.3 Moderate Moderate Moderate Major
35 Performance Indicators Development Manages management reporting Management reporting not reliable Management reporting timely, reliable, effective & supports Reg 5 & 17 ions. 10.2&10.3 | Major Moderate Moderate Major
36 Revenue & Funding cycle Manages revenue and grants collection Revenue collections not maximised. Check revenue sources identified, invoiced and collected 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
37 Procurement & Expenditure cycle Manages procurement procedures and resulting payments. Expenditures not authorised Check adequate segregation of duties and delegations of authorities. 10.2 Major Moderate Moderate Major
38 Current & Non Current Assets Manages financial records and reconciliations. Check Bank Reconciliation Assets lost Check financial records are reliable, reconciled to data and physical assets. 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
39 Current and Non Current Liabilities Manages financial records and reconciliations Liabilities not managed Check financial records are reliable, reconciled to data and discharged on time 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
40 Statutory Reporting Manages statutory reporting Statutory reporting not reliable. Statutory reporting reviewed by the OAG, not reviewed by internal audit. 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
41 Marketing & Communications Manages promotion of "City of Opportunity” branding to all stakeholders City branding not optimised Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. | 11.1&11.2 | |M0derale |M0derate |M0derate |Moderate
42 Risk Management, Business Continuity, Fraud Manages risk identification & mitigation, business continuity, Fraud policy Business interuption Check business risks including fraud are managed within risk appetite and tolerances 10.1 | Major Major Major Major
43 Governance and Compliance Manages administrative and legal support to council. Council not effective Check administration & compliance objectives e.g. Compliance Return met. 10.2 Moderate Moderate Moderate Moderate
44 Business Planning and Improvement Manages Strategic Community Plan (SCP) & Corporate Business Plan performance SCP outcomes not met on time. Programs are performance measured and actively managed as necessary. 10.3 Major Major Moderate Moderate
]
RMSS Consequence Categories Catastropic
Major
Moderate
COMMENTS ON INTERNAL AUDIT PLANS Minor
insignificant

BwN R

. The internal audit plan page 1, identifies audits that may be completed to assist the C of B meet strategies and achieve objectives.
. The internal audit plan page 1, sets out potential audit coverage for each audit based on 2-3 staff. The amount of audit coverage over the three years is fully variable in response to resouces allocated to internal audit.
. The compliance driver for the plan is the "Terms of Reference for Internal Audit" which requires the internal audit activity to develop risk based plans for CEO, Audit and Risk Committee and Council approval.

. The Institute of Internal Auditors Supplemental Guidance paper "Developing a Risk Based Internal Audit Plan" was used as a primary reference to develop this plan.




12.4 Internal Audit Report 2024

Voting Requirement :  Simple Majority
Subject Index . 19/006
Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : N/A

Previous Items - N/A

Applicant - N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division -  Executive Services

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To submit four completed internal audit reports to Council.

Summary and key issues

Findings for the completed audits are detailed below.

Corporate and Governance Division — Governance and Compliance
(report issued 12 August 2024)

Findings:

 The City’s management of Exercise of Delegated Authority (DA) heavily
relies on manual coordination, input, and recording, leading to duplicated
efforts in data handling. Therefore, management should consider the
costs/benefits of implementing a software system as an option to
facilitate the City’s Exercise of DA process to improve efficiency.

 Procedure SP08 — Documented Information states that process owners
must conduct a three-yearly review of all relevant Business Management
System documents. Therefore, management should periodically review
BelNet documents to maintain accuracy and completeness.
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Infrastructure Services Division — Parks Asset Management &
Maintenance (report issued 16 August 2024)

Findings:

The Groundwater Usage Management (GUM) process map did not fully
align with existing internal controls. Therefore, management should
review and update the GUM process map, redeploy, and monitor the work
process to ensure compliance.

The Urban Forest Team planted 4,600 trees for FY 2023-24 and plans to
plant 3,000 trees in FY 2024-25. Additionally, multiple streetscape
enhancement projects have approximately 18,000 plants scheduled for
installation. Therefore, management should undertake a review of new
projects’ requirements for FY 2024-25 and 2025-26 to ensure adequate
resources for watering, weeding, fertilisation, mulching, pruning, pest
management, and monitoring.

There were numerous service requests generated from the Pathway
system that had no progress notes to indicate if action had been taken
and/or feedback provided to the customer. Therefore, management
should periodically review the Pathway System to ensure progress notes
and request status are updated accordingly and timely.

Development and Communities Division — Building Permit Approvals
(report issued 26 September 2024)

Findings:

There is a backlog of swimming pool/spa safety barrier inspections. As at
31 July 2024, audit noted 287 safety barriers have not been inspected
within the required 4-year cycle and 34 new swimming pools still awaiting
initial compliance inspection. This backlog is assessed as high risk and
must be addressed as soon as practically possible.

The processing times report for October 2023 indicated an application fee
that required a refund (No 364/2023), but it is still yet to be processed.
Management should process this refund and recommence review of
processing time reports to ensure all required refunds are identified and
processed on a timely basis.

The Pathway system is linked to the public register of permits and
records, and demolition permit checklist. Both register and checklist were
not 100% accurate at time of audit. Therefore, updates are required to
Pathway system functionality.
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Corporate and Governance Division — Revenue and Funding Cycle
(report issued 18 October 2024)

Findings:

. The Pathway system administrator audit logs are not independently
reviewed, therefore there is risk of unauthorised activity remaining
undetected. It is recommended that the Pathway audit logs be expanded
to include system administrator activity and be independently reviewed
by officer(s) that do not have system administrator access.

. Fine write offs are not authorised as per delegation register. It is
recommended that fine write offs be authorised by Director Development
and Communities who has delegated authority.

. Controls need to be improved around manual receipting when Pathway is
occasionally off-line or when parking infringements are immediately
presented for payment prior to Pathway being updated. If a cash
payment is made during this time, there is the risk of Pathway not being
updated, the cash received not being banked and the City not being
alerted until sometime after the invoice/infringement due date. It is
recommended that a manual receipt register be independently
maintained to ensure all receipted into Pathway prior to end-of-day
close.

. Venue hire work instructions and process map require updating to
reduce the risk of procedural non-compliance.

Committee Recommendation

Davis moved, Sessions seconded

That Council:

1. Receives the report (Confidential Attachment 12.4.1) titled Internal Audit
Report 2023-24 - Governance and Compliance.

2. Receives the report (Confidential Attachment 12.4.2) titled Internal Audit
Report 2023-24 - Park Asset Management and Maintenance.

3. Receives the report (Confidential Attachment 12.4.3) titled Internal Audit
Report 2024-25 - Building Permit Approvals.

4. Receives the report (Confidential Attachment 12.4.4) titled Internal Audit
Report 2024-25 — Revenue and Finding Cycle.

5. Notes the City of Belmont management comments in Confidential
Attachments 12.4.1, 12.4.2, 12.4.3 and 12.4.4 and actions to be
undertaken in response to the internal audit recommendations.

Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O
For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil
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Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

All draft Internal Audit Reports were reviewed by relevant staff, Managers,
Directors and the CEO before being issued for action.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—-2034 Strategic Community Plan:
Key Performance Area: Performance

Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

Local Government Act 1995 (WA)

7.1A. Audit committee

(1) A local government is to establish an audit committee of 3 or more persons
to exercise the powers and discharge the duties conferred on it.

Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996 (WA)
16. Functions of audit committee
An audit committee has the following functions —
(a) to guide and assist the local government in carrying
out —
() its functions under Part 6 of the Act; and

(i) its functions relating to other audits and other matters related to
financial management.
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(b)

©)

(d)

)

Q)

9

to guide and assist the local government in carrying out the local
government’s functions in relation to audits conducted under Part 7 of the
Act;

to review a report given to it by the CEO under regulation 17(3) (the
CEO’s report) and is to —

(i) report to the council the results of that review; and
(ii) give a copy of the CEQO’s report to the council.

to monitor and advise the CEO when the CEO is carrying out functions in
relation to a review under —

(i) regulation 17(1); and

(ii) the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996
regulation 5(2)(c);

to support the auditor of the local government to conduct an audit and
carry out the auditor’s other duties under the Act in respect of the local
government;

to oversee the implementation of any action that the local government —

(i) is required to take by section 7.12A(3); and

(ii) has stated it has taken or intends to take in a report prepared under
section 7.12A(4)(a); and

(iif) has accepted should be taken following receipt of a report of a review
conducted under regulation 17(1); and

(iv) has accepted should be taken following receipt of a report of a review
conducted under the Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996 regulation 5(2)(c);

to perform any other function conferred on the audit committee by these
regulations or another written law.

[Regulation 16 inserted: Gazette 26 Jun 2018 p. 2386-7.]

17. CEO to review certain systems and procedures

(1) The CEO is to review the appropriateness and effectiveness of a local

government’s systems and procedures in relation to —

(a) risk management; and
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(b) internal control; and
(c) legislative compliance.

(2) The review may relate to any or all of the matters referred to in sub
regulation (1)(a), (b) and (c), but each of those matters is to be the
subject of a review not less than once in every 3 financial years.

(3) The CEO is to report to the audit committee the results of that
review.

[Regulation 17 inserted: Gazette 8 Feb 2013 p. 868;

amended: Gazette 26 Jun 2018 p. 2387.]

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 (WA)
(2) CEO’s duties as to financial management

(c) undertake reviews of the appropriateness and effectiveness of the
financial management systems and procedures of the local
government regularly (and not less than once in every 3 financial
years) and report to the local government the results of those

reviews.

Background

The internal audit function operates in accordance with Council approved Terms
of reference (TOR) and Council approved annual internal audit plans.

The TOR requires the Senior Internal Auditor to be functionally accountable to
the CEO and Council via the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk).

The TOR also requires final engagement audit reports to be issued to the CEO
and Council via the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk).
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Report

Corporate and Governance Division — Governance and Compliance
(report issued 12 August 2024)

The audit objective was to determine accuracy and completeness of the
Compliance Audit Return 2023 by independently cross referencing to supporting
evidence.

Scope of the audit included:

. The following Local Government (Audit) Regulations 1996:
o r.14 - Compliance audits by local governments.
o r.15 - Certified copy of compliance audit return and other documents
to be given to Departmental CEO.
0 r.16 - Functions of audit committee.

The following internal policies, strategies, plans, and procedures:
o CP36 — Compliance Management Policy.

CP63 — Execution of Documents Policy.

Strategic Community Plan 2024-2034.

Compliance Management Strategy.

Corporate Business Plan 2024-2028.

Compliance Management Plan.

System Procedure 08 — Documented Information

System Procedure 13 — Legal and Compliance Requirements (Under

review).

o0 Process maps, work instructions and forms.

O O 0O 0O 0O O O

. High level review of the three lines of defence model being:
o First line — staff and area management.
o Second line - corporate oversight functions e.g., compliance,
procurement, risk, Work Health and Safety.
o Third line - internal audit.

Findings and Management Responses

« The City’s management of Exercise of Delegated Authority (DA) heavily
relies on manual coordination, input, and recording, leading to duplicated
efforts in data handling.

Management has agreed to consider the costs/benefits of implementing a
software system as an option to facilitate the City’s Exercise of DA process
to improve efficiency.
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Procedure SPO8 — Documented Information states that process owners must
conduct a three-yearly review of all relevant Business Management System
documents.

Management has agreed to periodically review BelNet documents to
maintain accuracy and completeness.

Infrastructure Services Division — Parks Asset Management &
Maintenance (report issued 16 August 2024)

The audit objective was to determine if appropriate controls are in place to
effectively facilitate:

asset management planning.

preventive maintenance.

construction projects and tender processes.
adherence to project timelines.

quality control.

environmental considerations.

work health and safety (WHS) compliance, and
contract management.

Scope of the audit included:

The following focus areas:

o effective application of SP23 - Contract Management.
o0 adequacy of maintenance and asset management policy, processes, and

procedures.

o effective inclusion of contract obligations in risk registers.

High level review of:

0 Three lines of defence model being:

» first line — staff and area management.

 second line - corporate oversight functions e.g., compliance,
procurement, risk, Work, Health and Safety.

+ third line - internal audit.

o0 The following Acts of Parliament:

* Local Government Act 2007.

* Work Health & Safety Act 2020 & (General) Regulations 2022.
* Environmental Protection Act 1986.

* Bush Fire Act 1954.

* Rights in Water and Irrigation Regulations 2000.

* Rights in Water and Irrigation Act 1914.
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o The following internal policies, strategies, plans, programs, and
procedures:
¢ CPO1 - Asset Management Policy.
 CPO3 - Streetscape Policy.
» CP47 - Dangerous Trees Policy.
» CP48 - Urban Forest Policy.
* Public Open Space Strategy.
* Urban Forest Strategy.
* Streetscape Enhancement Strategy.
» Strategic Community Plan
 Corporate Business Plan.
* Asset Management Plan (Public Open Space & Irrigation).
 Annual Maintenance Plan, related parks programs, progress against
programs and performance reporting.
* Procedures: System Procedure 23 — Contract Management.
* Process maps and work instructions.

The following samples:
0 Tenders: Three tender awards and nine related invoice payments checked
over the period March - October 2023.
0 Quotations: Three quotation awards and six related invoice payments
checked over the period August 2023 — February 2024.

Findings and Management Responses

The Groundwater Usage Management (GUM) process map did not fully align
with existing internal controls.

Management has agreed to review and update the GUM process map,
redeploy, and monitor the work process to ensure compliance.

The Urban Forest Team planted 4,600 trees for FY 2023-24 and plans to
plant 3,000 trees in FY 2024-25. Additionally, multiple streetscape
enhancement projects have approximately 18,000 plants scheduled for
installation.

Management has agreed to undertake a review of new projects’
requirements for FY 2024-25 and 2025-26 to ensure adequate resources for
watering, weeding, fertilisation, mulching, pruning, pest management, and
monitoring.

There was numerous service requests generated from the Pathway system
that had no progress notes to indicate if action had been taken and/or
feedback provided to the customer.
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Management has agreed to periodically review the Pathway System to
ensure progress notes and request status are updated accordingly and
timely.

Development and Communities Division — Building Permit Approvals
(report issued 26 September 2024)

The audit objectives were:
. To determine if internal controls are in place to ensure:
o Building permit applications are assessed in line with legislative
requirements.
0 Appropriate building permit data is reported to DEMIRS.
o Private swimming pool/spa safety barriers are inspected in line with
compliance requirements.

. To determine if internal controls are in place to mitigate the inherent risks
identified from the engagement risk assessment.

Scope of the audit included:

. High-level review of compliance with key sections of the Building Act 2011,
Building Regulations 2012, and Building Code of Australia (BCA) applicable
to:

0 Issuing of building permits.

0 Submission of building permit data reports to DEMIRS.

o Planning and management of periodic inspection programs for private
swimming pool/spa safety barriers.

. The following strategies, plans, procedures and Office of the Auditor General
(OAG) report:
Strategic Community Plan 2024-2034.
Corporate Business Plan 2024-2028.
Safer Communities Operational Plan 2020-2023 (currently under review).
Process maps, work instructions and forms.
OAG Report 28: June 2018-19 — Local Government Building Approvals.

O O O o0 O

. High level review of the three lines of defence model being:
o First line — staff and area management.
o Second line - corporate oversight functions e.g., compliance,
procurement, risk, Work Health and Safety.
o Third line - internal audit.

Findings and Management Responses
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There is a backlog of swimming pool/spa safety barrier inspections. As at 31
July 2024, audit noted 287 safety barriers have not been inspected within
the required 4-year cycle and 34 new swimming pools still awaiting initial
compliance inspection.

This backlog was due to the Building Compliance Officer position being
vacant from February 2023 to August 2023.

Building Regulations were amended in June 2024 to permit the appointment
of external contractors to complete pool barrier inspections. The City
obtained independent legal advice in July 2024 to confirm this. Prior to this
amendment, the legislation was not clear on the use of external contractors
which placed limitations on the options available to the City to clear the
backlog.

An external contractor has now been engaged and it is forecast that the
backlog would be cleared by February 2025.

The Building Compliance Officer position became vacant again in November
2024 and the recruitment process has commenced to fill the fulltime
position.

The processing times report for October 2023 indicated an application fee
that required a refund (No 364/2023), but it is still yet to be processed.

Management agreed to process this refund and recommence review of
processing time reports to ensure all required refunds are identified and
processed on a timely basis.

The Pathway system is linked to the public register of permits and records,
and demolition permit checklist. Both register and checklist were not 100%
accurate at time of audit.

Management agreed to make updates to Pathway system functionality.

Corporate and Governance Division — Revenue and Funding Cycle
(report issued 18 October 2024)

The audit objective was to determine if appropriate controls are in place to:

Ensure rate notice calculations are accurate and complete.

Ensure fees and charges are accurate and complete.

Prevent and/or detect misappropriation of revenue.

Prevent and/or detect unauthorised discounts, concessions and write offs.

Ensure overdue debts are promptly followed up and recovered where
possible.
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Scope covered the following revenue sources for the 2023-24 financial year:
. Rates.

. Ranger infringements.

. Venue hire.

Findings and Management Responses

. The Pathway system administrator audit logs are not independently
reviewed, therefore there is risk of unauthorised activity remaining
undetected.

Management agreed that the Pathway audit logs be expanded to include
system administrator activity and be independently reviewed by officer(s)
that do not have system administrator access.

. Fine write offs are not authorised as per delegation register.

Management agreed that fine write offs be authorised by Director
Development and Communities who has delegated authority.

. Controls need to be improved around manual receipting when Pathway is
occasionally off-line or when parking infringements are immediately
presented for payment prior to Pathway being updated. If a cash payment is
made during this time, there is the risk of Pathway not being updated, the
cash received not being banked and the city not being alerted until
sometime after the invoice/infringement due date.

Management agreed that a manual receipt register be independently
maintained to ensure all receipted into Pathway prior to end-of-day close.

. Venue hire work instructions and process map require updating to reduce
the risk of procedural non-compliance.

Management agreed to update the work instructions and process map.
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Financial implications

There are no financial implications evident at this time.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Internal Audit Report 2023-24 - Governance
and Compliance (Confidential matter in accordance with Local Government
Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(h)) [12.4.1 - 5 pages]

2. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Internal Audit Report 2023-24 - Parks Asset
Management and Maintenance (Confidential matter in accordance with
Local Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(h)) [12.4.2 - 7 pages]

3. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Internal Audit Report 2024-25 - Building
Permit Approvals (Confidential matter in accordance with Local
Government Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(h)) [12.4.3 - 6 pages]

4. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - Internal Audit Report 2024-25 - Revenue and
Funding Cycle (Confidential matter in accordance with Local Government
Act 1995 (WA) Section 5.23(2)(h)) [12.4.4 - 7 pages]
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12.5 Internal Audit Terms of Reference

Voting Requirement . Simple Majority

Subject Index - 19/006 - Executive Internal Audit
Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items > N/A

Applicant - N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division : Executive Services

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

The Global Internal Audit Standards (GIAS) Standard 6.2 requires the Internal
Audit Charter (also known as Internal Audit Terms of Reference) to include the
following:

* Purpose of internal auditing.
« Commitment to the GIAS.
* Position and reporting relationships.

The Internal Audit Terms of Reference have been updated to now meet these
requirements. These have been approved by the CEO and the Executive
Leadership Team and are also attached for noting (Attachment 12.5.1).

Summary and key issues

The Internal Audit Terms of Reference have been updated to outline the
purpose of internal audit, key mandates, the internal audit function, and
position and reporting relationships as required by the GIAS.
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Committee Recommendation

That Council endorse the Internal Audit Terms of Reference (refer Attachment
12.5.1).

Committee Recommendation adopted en bloc - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.

Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

The Senior Internal Auditor consulted with the CEO in the revision of the
Internal Audit Terms of Reference. GIAS Standard 6.2 requires the Senior
Internal Auditor to discuss the proposed charter (terms of reference) with the
board and senior management to confirm that it accurately reflects their
understanding and expectations of the internal audit function.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—-2034 Strategic Community Plan:

Key Performance Area: Performance
Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

There are no specific statutory requirements in respect to this matter.

Background

The Internal Audit Terms of Reference was first drafted in December 2021 to
comply with the Institute of Internal Auditors International Professional
Practices Framework. This Framework included the International Standards for
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the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing. The GIAS that takes effect 9
January 2025 is a replacement of these International Standards.

Report

The Internal Audit Terms of Reference outlines the purpose of internal audit,
key mandates, strategy for the internal audit function, and position and
reporting relationships that the GIAS require.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. Internal Audit Terms of Reference [12.5.1 - 4 pages]
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a
Terms of Reference — Cityof

Internal Audit Belmont

Introduction

The Senior Internal Auditor maintains an internal audit function that is aligned to:

- Global Internal Audit Standards (Standards).

- Terms of Reference Internal Audit (i.e. Internal Audit Charter).

- Terms of Reference Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) (i.e. Committee Audit
Charter).

Internal audit function procedures are documented in the Internal Audit Manual.

Purpose of Internal Audit

To strengthen the City’s ability to create, protect, and sustain value by providing the Chief
Executive Officer (CEO), Executive Leadership Team (ELT) and Standing Committee (Audit and
Risk) (SCAR) with independent, risk-based, and objective assurance, advice, insight, and
foresight.

This purpose is to enhance the City’s:

- Successful achievement of its objectives.

- Compliance with legislative requirements.

- Governance, risk management, and control processes.
- Decision-making and oversight.

- Reputation and credibility with its stakeholders.

- Ability to serve the public interest.

Key references:

. Strategic Community Plan 2024 — 2034.
- Corporate Business Plan.

- Risk Management Framework.

- Internal Audit Manual.

Global Internal Audit Standards

The City is committed towards maintaining full compliance with the Institute of Internal
Auditors (11A) Standards towards guiding the City’s professional practice of internal auditing
and serving as a basis for evaluating and elevating the quality of the internal audit function.
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The Standards consist of 5 Domains that are each supported by Principles and Standards. A
summary of these Domains, Principles and Standards and how they are applied is referenced
in the City’s internal audit manual.

Mandate

The internal audit function is mandated by:

- The Standards.

- The Government of Western Australia, Department of Treasury, Treasurer’s
Instructions, Part XII, Internal Audit.

- Australian Standard 1SO 31000 Risk Management.

Strategy for the Internal Audit Function

Vision
To support, develop, promote and execute the City’s internal audit function.

Strategic Objective

To provide strong assurance that the City’s roles, responsibilities, and operations are efficient,
effective, compliant and in line with the City’s Strategic Community Plan and Corporate
Business Plan.

Supporting Initiatives

- Experienced and qualified Senior Internal Auditor.

- Quality assurance and improvement program.

- Strong governance reporting and accountability.

- Risk based strategic audit plan that is periodically recalibrated to align with the

City’s risk register and assurance map.

Key deliverables
- Strategic (risk based) internal audit plan.
- Assurance map.

Position and Reporting Relationships

The Senior Internal Auditor is responsible for the internal audit function, reports directly to the
CEO and has a reporting line to SCAR.

ELT and SCAR are responsible for approving:
- the Internal Audit and SCAR Terms of Reference (Charters).

. Annual updates to the three-year internal audit plan.

ELT and SCAR is responsible for noting:

- internal audit reports.
- updates to the audit log.
- Chief Audit Executive’s (CAE) progress against the audit plan.
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. external assessment reports.

All documents ‘approved’ or ‘noted’ by ELT and SCAR are then ‘noted’ by Council.

Authority

The internal audit activity is authorised to access City of Belmont records, personnel and
physical properties and employees should provide assistance as reasonably requested.

Responsibilities

The internal audit activity will adopt all Standards and key standards are listed below.

1.

Standard 7.1 requires the internal audit activity to be independent.

Note - To promote independence the Senior Internal Auditor, referred to in the
Standards as CAE, has dual reporting relationships and is functionally accountable to
the CEO and Council via SCAR.

Standard 8.1 requires the CAE to provide ELT and SCAR with the information needed to
conduct its oversight responsibilities.

Standard 8.3 requires the CAE to develop, implement and maintain a quality assurance
and improvement program that includes both internal and external assessments.

Standard 9.1 requires the CAE to develop an effective internal audit strategy and plan.
This requires understanding the City’s governance, risk management and control
processes.

Standard 9.2 requires the CAE to develop and implement a strategy for the internal
audit function.

Standard 12.1 requires the CAE to develop and conduct internal assessments of the
internal audit function’s compliance with the Global Internal Audit Standards.

. Standard 12.2 requires the CAE to develop objectives to evaluate the internal audit

functions performance.

Approved by
Chief Executive Officer
Date 25/10/24
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Endorsed by

Executive Leadership Team (ELT)

Date: DD/MM/YY

Endorsed by

Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) Minute Item XX.

Date

Endorsed by

Council — Ordinary Council Meeting — Minute Item XX.

Date

REVIEW HISTORY

Description of Change

Date Revised

Date Approved

Next Review

Document creation

24/11/2021

by CEO
24/11/2021

Due
14/12/2022

Document review

ECM Folder 32/034
Doc Set ID 5206663

Terms of Reference — Internal Audit
Publish Date: xx/xx/2024
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12.6 Purchasing Policy Review

Voting Requirement - Simple Majority

Subject Index :  32/015 - Council Policy Manual/Code of
Conduct

Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items > N/A

Applicant - N/A

Owner > N/A

Responsible Division : Corporate and Governance

Council role

Includes adopting local laws, local planning schemes and

Legislative .
policies.

Purpose of report

To seek Council endorsement of the reviewed and amended Purchasing Policy
(refer Attachment 12.6.1) and associated revised delegations to the CEO.

Summary and key issues

In accordance with section 2.7(2)(b) of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA)
(the Act), Council is to determine the local government’s policies.

A review of the City’s Purchasing Policy has been undertaken following on from
an overall review of the City’s procurement practices. A key issue identified as
part of the review was the impact of ongoing general increases in the value of
contracts on the City’s ability to be appropriately responsive in our procurement
practices. The review found that lengthy lead times as a result of formal
procurement processes and even the agenda settlement process often impeded
the City’s ability to remain appropriately responsive in our procurement
practices and ensure efficient operations.

In response to these findings, amendments are proposed to both the
Purchasing Policy and related delegations as follows:

 The introduction of pre-qualified supplier panels to support efficient
sourcing of repetitive services
* Clarification of purchasing thresholds
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« Amendments to the CEQO’s delegation to approve variations to contracts
within Council approved budget

* Increase to the CEO’s delegation to accept tenders for capital projects to
$500,000 following benchmarking against other Local Governments

As the City is scheduled to migrate to a new financial management system in
February 2025, it is proposed that while the delegations be effective on
endorsement by Council, the revised policy come into effect with the
implementation of the new financial management system. This will permit
alignment of system and procedural implementation while permitting adequate
time to configure the new system.

In order to implement the outcomes of this review, the Purchasing Policy and
related delegations are proposed for amendment.

Officer Recommmendation

That Council:

1. Endorse the amended Purchasing Policy at Attachment 12.6.1 effective 1
February 2025.

2. In accordance with Section 5.42 of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA),
approve revised delegation 1.1.14 to the CEO at Attachment 12.6.2.

3. Directs the Chief Executive Officer to make any further minor
administrative amendments/layout changes as required prior to
publication on the City’s website.

Note:

Cr Kulczycki put forward the following Alternative Motion.

Alternative Councillor Motion

Kulczycki moved, Sessions seconded
That Council:

1. Endorse the amended Purchasing Policy at Attachment 12.6.1 effective 1
February 2025 subject to the following amendment:
a) Modify the Chief Executive Officer’s delegation to accept tenders for
capital projects to $350,000.

2. In accordance with Section 5.42 of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA),
approve revised delegation 1.1.14 to the Chief Executive Officer at
Attachment 12.6.2 subject to the following amendment:

a) Remove alterations relating to the Chief Executive Officer’s
delegation to approve variations to contracts within previously
approved budgets.
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3. Directs the Chief Executive Officer to make any further minor
administrative amendments/layout changes as required prior to
publication on the City’s website.

Reasons

« Setting the Chief Executive Officer’s delegation threshold at $350,000 aligng
with the Purchasing Policy parameters established in 2015, reflecting the
value adjusted for inflation (rounded up), while preserving Council’s
oversight and review functions.

o This threshold mitigates risks associated with the agenda settlement
process potentially delaying operations.

o Council retains the flexibility to adjust this value during subsequent
minor or major policy reviews.

o The modification reflects a practical approach to procurement
management in view of market conditions while remaining financially
responsible.

* Retaining Council oversight of contract variations ensures alignment with
the City’s strategic objectives.

0 Maintaining Council’s involvement in significant financial decisions
reinforces governance principles.

o Doing so ensures transparency and community confidence in the City's
procurement and financial management practices.

« These amendments reflect Council’s risk appetite, promoting stronger risk
management practices.

o Timely adoption ensures the necessary procedural and system changes
are implemented to integrate with the new financial management
system by 1 February 2025.

* Failure to adopt these measures before 1 February 2025 would represent a
governance inefficiency, missing the opportunity to align new thresholds
and processes with the updated system.

Carried 5 votes to 2
For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Marks and Rossi

Location

Not applicable.
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Consultation

Consultation was undertaken with the relevant Policy Owners, internal
stakeholders, the Operational Leadership Team (OLT) and the Executive
Leadership Team (ELT).

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—-2034 Strategic Community Plan:
Key Performance Area: Performance

Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

Should Council endorse the amended policy, the City’s website will be updated.

Statutory environment

The Act provides the basis for many of the City’s policies, therefore consistency
with this legislation has been reflected in the review, assessment and
amendments proposed.

Section 2.7 of the Act outlines the role of Council.

Section 2.7(2) (b) of the Act requires Council to determine the local
government’s policies.

Regulation 24AC & 24AD of the Local Government (Functions and General)
Regulations 1996 (WA) (the Regulations) outlines the requirements to establish
a Panel of pre-qualified suppliers.

Sections 5.42 & 5.43 of the Act are applicable when considering delegations.

Background

At the 22 August 2023 Ordinary Council Meeting, Council adopted Stage 1 of
the City’s Council Policy review. This review included the last iteration of the
Purchasing Policy.

At the 23 April 2024 Ordinary Council Meeting, Council adopted the Delegation
Register 2024-25.
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Report

Through recent internal audits, it was noted that there was a lack of clarity in
the application of existing procurement processes. As a result of these internal
audit findings, a review of procurement work instructions, process maps and
related documentation was undertaken and endorsed by the Operational and
Executive Leadership Teams.

Following on from the review, the City’s Purchasing Policy has been reviewed to
implement additional recommendations of the review, including the
implementation of the use of pre-qualified suppliers Panels (Panels).

To facilitate the review, benchmarking against other Tier 1 Local Government’s
was undertaken.

Key changes of the review are the inclusion of pre-qualified supplier panels,
changes to the purchasing thresholds consistent with benchmarked LGs and
changes to delegations to the CEO to support the revised policy.

Pre-Qualified Supplier Panels

In accordance with Regulation 24AC of Local Government (Functions and
General) Regulations 1996 (WA) (the Regulations), a panel arrangement is a
way to procure goods or services regularly acquired in the City. In a Panel
arrangement, suppliers have been appointed to supply goods or services for a
set period under agreed terms and conditions, including agreed pricing. Once a
Panel has been established, the City may then purchase directly from the Panel
by approaching one or more suppliers.

The ability to purchase directly from a Panel reduces likely delays associated
with the use of multiple formal procurement processes while still retaining
appropriate compliance processes.

Before establishing Panels of pre-qualified suppliers a local government must
have a written policy outlining how the local government will procure goods or
services from pre-qualified suppliers.

Persons are required to be publicly invited to apply to join a panel in accordance
with Regulation 24AD of the Regulations. Local Governments are required to
issue statewide public notice and to determine in writing the criteria for deciding
which applications should be accepted. As there is no current delegation to the
CEO from Council to meet these requirements, it is proposed that delegation to
do so be granted by Council as part of the endorsement of this report.
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Purchasing Thresholds

As the policy has been transferred to the City’s new branding and rewritten, no
track changes version is provided. Attachment 12.6.1 is the clean version for
endorsement.

A summary of the key changes to procurement thresholds is provided below.

Up to $5K * No quotes required Up to $1K * No quotes required

$5K to $15K |+ 2 guotes $1K to $10K |+ 1 guote

$15K to |+ 2 quotes $10K to | 2 quotes

$25K * Quotes must be in $50K * Quotes must be in
writing writing

$25K to |» 3 quotes

$50K « Brief outline of
specification

$50K to e 3 quotes $50K to s 3 quotes

$250K  Formal Request for $250K * Formal Request for
Quote Quote

Over $250K |+ Request for Tender Over $250K |+ Request for Tender

e Request for Tender * RFT exempt

exempt

As the City is scheduled to migrate to an upgraded financial management
system in February 2025 (migrating from Technology One’s Ci to Ci-Anywhere),
it is proposed that the revised purchasing policy come into effect with the
implementation of the new financial management system. This will permit
alignment of system and procedural implementation while permitting adequate
time to configure the new system.

Delegations

A track changed version of the proposed revision to Council delegation 1.1.14 to
the CEO, including proposed changes relating to Panels, Contract Variations and
Tender Approvals, is included as Attachment 12.6.3. Attachment 12.6.2 is the
clean version for endorsement.

In addition to the delegations relating to Panels, further detail of additional
proposed revisions are as follows.
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Contract Variations

As part of a recent review, it was identified that the current delegation related
to contract variations resulted in a significant number of variations being
presented to the Council. The primary reason for this was Delegation 1.1.14,
which allows the CEO to approve post-contract variations to a tender, limited to
10% of the total tender value.

Upon further investigation, it was discovered that tender amounts do not
include budgeted contingency amounts. Consequently, the existing delegation
necessitated that variations within the approved budget be brought before
Council, including variations within project budgets already endorsed by
Council.

To address this issue, it is proposed that the delegation be amended to permit
the CEO to approve variations to a contract, provided that there are sufficient
funds available within the approved budget for that item. This proposed
amendment will align the pre-contract and post-contract delegations and
enhance operational efficiency and ensure that contract variations within the
approved budget can be managed more effectively by the CEO. It is therefore
recommended that the proposed amendment be adopted.

Tender Approvals

Through the Procurement Advisory Unit (PAU), it has been proposed that the
current delegation relating to accepting tenders be reviewed. This proposal is
driven by a general increase in the value of contracts, which necessitates
contracts that were previously within the CEO's acceptance authority to now
require Council endorsement due to their higher value.

The CEO’s delegation to accept tenders has remained unchanged since before
2015. Currently, the CEO is authorised to accept tenders up to $250,000.
However, with the increasing value of tenders, there is a recognised need to
update this delegation to ensure efficient operations and reduce delays caused
by the agenda settlement process.

The proposal aims to increase the CEO's delegation to accept tenders from
$250,000 to $500,000 for capital items. This adjustment supports the efficient
awarding of lower-value tenders and minimises delays that can occur due to the
necessary endorsement by Council for higher-value contracts.

Benchmarking against other local governments has revealed the following
delegations for accepting tenders:

- Town of Victoria Park: $500,000
- City of Busselton: $500,000

. City of Melville: $550,000

- City of Cockburn: $1,000,000

. City of Albany: $1,000,000

. City of Wanneroo: $1,000,000
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Based on this benchmarking data, the proposed increase to $500,000 for the
City is considered appropriate and in line with practices in other local
governments.

Financial implications

There are no financial implications evident at this time.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. Purchasing Policy [12.6.1 - 16 pages]
2. Amended Delegation 1.1.14 [12.6.2 - 7 pages]
3. Amended Delegation 1.1.14 (tracked changes) [12.6.3 - 8 pages]
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Purchasing Policy Cif‘yof

Belmont
Policy Objective

To deliver a high level of accountability whilst providing a flexible,
efficient and effective procurement framework.

Policy Detail

In accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) and Local Government (Functions
and General) Regulations 1996 (WA), this policy sets out the requirements in relation to
contracts for the supply of goods and services.

1. Principles

1.1. Ethics and Integrity

The highest standards of ethics and integrity are to be observed in undertaking all purchasing
activities. Employees will act in an honest and professional manner that supports the standing
of the City and promotes a proud and collaborative community.

The principles, standards and behaviours as defined in this policy must be observed and
enforced through all stages of the purchasing process to ensure the fair and equitable
treatment of all parties.

Any information provided to the City by a supplier shall be treated as commercial-in-
confidence and should not be released unless authorised by the supplier or under relevant
legislation.

1.2. Value for Money

Value for money is an overarching principle governing purchasing, that allows the best
possible outcome to be achieved for the City.

An assessment of the best value for money outcome for any procurement activity should
consider:

a) all relevant Total Costs of Ownership (TCO) and benefits, including transaction costs
associated with acquisition, delivery, distribution, as well as other costs such as but not
limited to holding costs, consumables, deployment, maintenance and disposal;

b) the technical merits of the goods or services being offered in terms of compliance with
specifications, user requirements, quality standards, sustainability, service benchmarks,
contractual terms and conditions and any relevant methods of assuring quality;

¢) financial viability and capacity to supply without risk of default (competency of the
prospective suppliers in terms of managerial and technical capabilities, financial viability of
the supplier and any related entities and compliance history);

Purchasing Policy Page | 1
Publish Date: 10/12/2024



d) a strong element of competition in the allocation of orders or the awarding of contracts.
This is achieved by obtaining a sufficient number of competitive quotations wherever
practicable; and

e) local business capability.

Whilst it is necessary to ensure purchasing is conducted within budget, the lowest price offer
does not necessarily present the best value for money. As such it is important to ensure all of
the above is taken into consideration when determining the most advantageous outcome for
the City. Where a higher priced conforming offer is recommended, there should be clear and
demonstrable benefits over and above the lowest total priced, conforming offer.

1.3. Other principles

The City is committed to sustainable procurement practices and seeks suppliers who operate
with transparency and integrity and uphold fair labour practices. By embedding sustainable
procurement practices, we uphold our social license to operate, maintaining public trust and
minimising reputational risk. Suppliers are encouraged to align with our sustainability values,
contributing to a positive impact and reducing the risks associated with non-compliance or
unethical practices.

We aim to minimize our environmental footprint, promote social responsibility, and enhance
the well-being of our communities.

Please refer to section 4 of this Policy for more information.

2. Purchasing Requirements

The City is committed to using the most efficient, effective and appropriate purchasing
processes for the acquisition of goods or services. The purchasing requirements set out in the
Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations 1996 (the Regulations), this policy and
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Purchasing Thresholds
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Regardless of the value of the contract, a formal RFQ should be undertaken in the following
circumstances:

a) if the proposed transaction could have significant risk including, but not limited to,
financial, legal or reputational consequences for the City;

b) the proposed transaction will require the City to enter into a contract exceeding 12
months.

2.3. Contract Splitting Prohibited

It is a breach of the Regulations and this policy to enter into two or more contracts for the
same or related supply for reason of avoiding or minimising the requirements of this policy.
Such a breach might give rise to disciplinary consequences for the officer involved.

2.4. Record Keeping

In all circumstances where a written quotation is obtained under Section 2.1 of this policy, the
following conditions must be met:

a) a Purchasing Form is to be completed, including details of all quotations requested;

b) an appropriate supervising officer of a level not lower than Coordinator and with the
appropriate delegation is to authorise the Purchasing Form; and

¢) the Purchasing Form is to be is to be evidenced and recorded per item 13 of this policy.

3. Purchasing Exemptions

3.1. Quotation and Tender Exemptions

Tenders do not have to be publicly invited according to the requirements of the Regulations if
listed in regulation 11(2) of the Regulations. Please refer to the Regulations for the exempted
transactions.

The following transactions, in addition to those listed in the Regulations, do not have to satisfy
the purchasing requirements included in section 2 of this policy in the following circumstances
(where this is applicable, a purchasing form must be completed per Section 3.4 of this policy):

a) a genuine sole source of supply exists;

b) the provision of goods or services is provided under warranty or relates to specific
manufacturer repairs;

c) the purchase is from a pre-qualified supplier on the WALGA Preferred Supply Program or
CUA;

d) the purchase is from a pre-qualified supplier under a Panel established by the City, in
accordance with Division 3 of Part 4 of the Regulations (see section 11.3 of this policy);

e) the purchase is under auction which has been authorised by Council;

f) the purchase is from a Regional Local Government or another Local Government;

g) the purchase is for Goods or Services supplied by a person registered on the Aboriginal
Business Directory WA published by the Chamber of Commerce and Industry of Western
Australia Ltd or with the Australian Indigenous Minority Supplier Office Ltd (trading as
Supply Nation) only where the contract value is worth $250,000 or less.

h) the purchase is for legal services (Quotations only);

i) the purchase is for the provision, maintenance or support of software and specifically
associated hardware where:
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(i) because of the unique nature of the goods or services required, it is unlikely that there
is more than one potential supplier (Quotations only); or
(ii) the supply relates to maintenance and support, by the software supplier or their
recommended contractor, of software and specifically associated hardware currently
licensed for use by the City (Quotations only).
j) the purchase relates to the provision of banking services and a triennial review of fees is
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3.3. Exemptions from Quotations, Tenders and

Purchase Orders

Neither a purchase order nor quote is required for the provision of goods and services in the
following circumstances:

a)
b)
)
d)

e)
f
9)
h)

utilities including water, electricity, gas and telephone;

insurances;

payments made through payroll;

statutory fees, payments and charges including development contributions, bank fees,
court lodgement fees and statutory damages, infringements and penalties;

loan repayments;

contributions to the Faulkner Park Retirement Village Board of Management;
membership renewals and subscriptions; or

purchases or reimbursements which are more practically served by other internal forms.
This includes but is not limited to petty cash reimbursements, conference and approved
council activity reimbursements and other reimbursements such as rate and bond refunds.

3.4. Exemptions: Record Keeping

Where a purchasing exemption applies under section 3 of this policy, the following conditions
must be met:

a)
b)
©)

a Purchasing Form is to be completed, including details of all quotations requested;
the applicable method of quotation is to be indicated (Exempt, Waiver etc.)
the respective Director or CEO
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https://buyability.org.au/

Local Governments are subject to the Western Australian Reportable Conduct Scheme (the
Scheme) that was established under the Parliamentary Commissioner Amendment (Reportable
Conduct) Act 2022 (the Act). The Scheme is intended to prevent harm to children by holding
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Any major amendments to the scope of a contract after the contract has been executed must
be approved according to the Delegations Register and may need to be endorsed by Council.

7. Assessment and Decision Making

When considering quotations submitted under this policy a decision may be taken either to:

a) not accept any quotation; or
b) accept the quotation which will be most advantageous for the City.

7.1. Written Quotations

Any written submission of quotation must
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b) there is an understanding that the supplier will offer the City discounted rates in
expectation that the supplier will be engaged to provide goods and services on a regular
basis;

c) the supplier is providing goods or services under an existing tender, or

d) a relationship develops over any period of time that evidences an intention to purchase
goods and services from the supplier on a regular basis.

Under these circumstances the estimated value of the purchases over a three year period
should be considered when applying this policy.

9. Authorisation of Expenditure

9.1. Awarding Quotations/Tenders

Acceptance of quotations and tenders and the authorisation of expenditure shall comply with
the relevant delegation of authority as detailed within the Delegations Register.

9.2. Raising of Purchase Orders

When ordering goods and services the purchase order must be provided to the supplier, which
is to be based on the agreed schedules of rates, effectively contracting the City to the
purchase of that supply. This includes those supplies purchased under a tender or preferred
supplier arrangement. Other than emergency situations, if an employee commits the City to
the purchase of goods and services without a valid purchase order, that will be a breach of
this policy.

A purchase order is not required for the provision of goods and services exempt from the
quotations or tenders and purchase orders in accordance with section 3.3 of this policy.

9.3. Payment Methods

Where the City holds an account with a supplier a Purchase Order should be issued in the first
instance.

If the purchase is a one off purchase or the supplier does not accept Purchase Orders the
following payment methods may be used in limited circumstances:

a)
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9.5. Emergency Purchases

Where no relevant budget allocation is available for an emergency purchasing activity then, in
accordance with s.6.8 of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), the Mayor must authorise, in
writing, the expenditure prior to it being incurred.

The application of emergency expenditure is to be used in limited circumstances for genuine
emergency situations only. Dependent on the nature of the emergency, it may be determined
that only a portion of the required goods or services will be obtained via emergency
expenditure. The remainder of expenditure will then need to comply with the requirements of
section 2.1 of this policy.

9.6. Sole Source of Supply
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9.9.1. No Compliant Tenders Received

Where the City has invited tenders, however no compliant submissions have been received,
direct purchases can be arranged on the basis that:

a) the specification for goods or services remains the same;

b) a minimum of three written quotations are obtained, as per the requirements for seeking
quotations between the $50,001 and $250,000 threshold; and

c) the purchasing is arranged within six (6) months of the closing date of the lapsed tender.

Alternatively, a Council Resolution may be obtained to negotiate directly with a selected
supplier.

10. Panels of Pre-Qualified Suppliers

In accordance with Regulation 24AC(1) of the Regulations, the City may establish a panel of
pre-qualified suppliers (Panel) if there is, or will be, a continuing need for particular goods or
services.

Should the City determine that a Panel would be beneficial, then the establishment of that
Panel must comply with Part 4, Division 3 of the Regulations.

10.1. Establishing a Panel

The decision to establish a Panel shall be determined via the relevant delegation of authority,
as detailed within the Delegations Register.

Panels may be established for one supply requirement, or a number of similar supply
requirements under defined categories within the Panel.

Panels are to be established for a minimum term of one (1) year and up to a maximum term
of three (3) years, inclusive of any options to extend or renew the contract.

Where a Panel is to be established, the City will endeavour to appoint at least three (3)
suppliers to the Panel or each category within the Panel, on the basis that best value for
money is demonstrated. A minimum of two (2) suppliers are required to establish a Panel, or
for appointment to a category within the Panel.

When the City invites suppliers to apply to join a Panel, the invitation must include:

a) the evaluation criteria to be used to assess the applications;

b) the expected number of suppliers that the City intends to put on the Panel;

c) a description of how work will be distributed amongst the Panel members;

d) what will happen if a Panel member decides to leave the Panel; and

e) whether or not the City intends to purchase the goods or services exclusively from the
Panel.

Should a Panel member decide to leave a Panel, they may be replaced by the next ranked
supplier as determined by the assessment of applications to join the Panel. A Panel member
can only be replaced if this consideration is detailed, as per item (d) above, in the invitation to
join a Panel.

In the event that a Panel member leaves a Panel and this results in the Panel being reduced to
one (1) Panel member and the City is unable to replace the Panel member, then that Panel
must be disbanded.

10.2. Distributing Works Amongst Panel Members
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When establishing a panel of pre-qualified suppliers, the City must pre-determine how work
will be distributed amongst the Panel members. The City may utilise a Panel by applying one
of the following three methods:

1) Seek quotations from each pre-qualified supplier on the Panel with respect to all
purchases;

2) Purchase goods or services exclusively from any pre-qualified supplier appointed to that
Panel, and under what circumstances; or

3) Develop a ranking system for selection to the Panel, with work offered to the highest
ranked pre-qualified supplier in the first instance. Should the offer be declined or the
supply cannot be commenced and/or delivered within a specified time, the work will be
offered to the next ranked supplier, and so on.

In every instance, a contract must not be entered into with a pre-qualified supplier for an item
of work beyond 12 months, which includes options to extend or renew the contract. For any
item of work that will exceed 12 months, the Purchasing Threshold Values in section 2 of this
policy apply.

Where each Panel member has been invited to bid on an item of work, however all Panel
members decline the invitation for whatever reason, the City may invite suppliers that are not
pre-qualified under the Panel. Purchasing conducted outside of the Panel arrangement must
be in accordance with the Purchasing Threshold Values and Practices in section 2 of this policy.

10.3. Purchasing from the Panel

Each quotation process from start to finish, including all communications with Panel members

Purchasing Policy Page | 13
Publish Date: 10/12/2024






X

15. Appendix 1 City of
Belmont

Purchasing Policy Page | O
Publish Date: 10/12/2024



4
City of
Belmont

This Policy is supported by:

Policy No: CP29
Key Performance Area: Performance
Strategic Community Plan: Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance
and financial management.
1.1.14 Procurement: Tenders, Tender Exemptions;
Register of Delegations: Purchases ($50,000-$250,000) & Associated
Contract Variations
Service Area: Corporate and Governance
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1.1.14 Procurement: Tenders; Tender Exemptions; Purchases
($50,000-$250,000) & Associated Contract Variations

Delegator:

Power / Duty assigned
in legislation to:

Council

Express Power to
Delegate:

Power that enables a
delegation to be made

Local Government Act 1995 (WA):
s 5.42 Delegation of some powers or duties to the CEO

s 5.43 Limitations on delegations to the CEO

Express Power or
Duty Delegated:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA) (the Act)
s 3.57 Tenders for providing goods or services

Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations
1996 (WA) (the Regulations) - Part 4:

r. 11 When tenders must be publicly invited

r. 13 Requirements when local government invites
tenders though not required to do so

r. 14 Publicly inviting tenders, requirements for

r. 18 Rejecting and accepting tenders

r. 20 Variation of requirements before entry into
contract

r. 21A Varying a contract for the supply of goods or
services

r. 21 Limiting who can tender, procedure for
Division 3 — Panels of pre-qualified suppliers

Delegate:

Chief Executive Officer

Function:

This is a precis only.
Delegates must act
with full understanding
of the legislation and
conditions relevant to
this delegation.

1. To call tenders and set weighted criteria as
outlined in the relevant legislation and this
delegation.

2. To authorise procurement and accept tenders
according to the conditions of this delegation.

3. To vary a contract prior to entry into a contract
with a successful tenderer in accordance with
r.20.

4. To vary a contract already entered subject to r.
21A.

5. To authorise procurement and accept quotations
according to the conditions of this delegation.

6. To make, vary or discharge a contract that is

formed through a non-tender process subject to

r. 11(2).

To limit tenderers in accordance with r. 21

8. To establish panels of pre-qualified suppliers in
accordance with Division 3 including calling for

~N




applications, setting weighted criteria, accepting
and rejecting applications.

Council Conditions
on this
Delegation:

Any person proposing to exercise a power under
delegated authority shall comply with the Standard
Conditions of Delegation. This delegation must be read
in conjunction with the Regulations, the Council
approved Purchasing Policy and the following specific
additional conditions for this delegation.

Additional Conditions:

1. Tenders:
Calling of tenders may only occur where there is an
approved Council budget provision in the current year.

The Chief Executive Officer:

. may accept tenders, where there is a Council
budget provision approved in the current year for
the following:

o the tender value for any one project is no
more than $500,000 (ex GST)

o Annual supplies of a routine operational
nature within budget amount and where
the contract is:

. for no greater than 5-years and
= expenditure is no more than
$250,000 per annum.

o New capital items where the tender
amount for the capital item is less than
amount of $500,000, including changeover
costs where relevant and is within the
identified budget amount.

. may reject tenders of any amount ((r. 18(5)
Local Government (Functions and General)
Regulations 1996 (WA))

. may accept tenders relating to the disposal of
impounded perishable and non-perishable goods
in accordance with s3.47 of the Local
Government Act 1995 (WA).

. may approve purchase orders for expenditure
exceeding $250,000 that have been approved by
Council via Council Resolution or via delegated
authority to the CEO.

2. Exemptions from Tender (r. 11(2) Local
Government (Functions & General) Regulations
1996) (WA) and Purchases ($50,000-
$250,000)

The CEO
. may authorise purchases that are exempt from

tendering regulations as outlined in r.11.2,
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excluding 2(d) of the Local Government (Functions
and General) Regulations 1996 (WA), (i.e. State
Government Common User Arrangement (CUA);
WALGA preferred Suppliers provided a Council
approved budget position applies; and

. may approve purchases where there is a Counci
budget provision approved in the current year for
the following:

o Annual supplies of a routine operational
nature within budget amount and where the
contract is:

= for no greater than 5-years; and
= expenditure is no more than
$250,000 per annum.

o New capital items where the tender amount
for the capital item is less than amount of
$500,000, including changeover costs
where relevant and is within the identified
budget amount.

3. Contract Variations
3.1 Contract Variations - Tender

Pre-Contract:

Note: A minor variation is defined as a variation that
the local government is satisfied is minor having
regard to the total goods or services that tenderers
were invited to supply ((Local Government (Functions
and General) Regulations 1996 r. 20) (WA)), and:

o Does not alter the nature of the goods
and/or services procured; and
o Does not materially alter the specification
or structure provided for by the initial
tender; and
o Is within the approved budget for the item.
A tender cannot be varied outside the above
definition.

The CEO may approve minor variations (see
definition above) regarding the scope of work
specified in a tender, following the receipt of
submission, but prior to entering a contract,
provided there are sufficient funds being available
within the approved budget for that item ((r. 20
Local Government (Functions and General)
Regulations 1996) (WA)).

Post Contract:

The CEO may approve a variation(s) to a contract,
provided there are sufficient funds being available
within the approved budget for that item, where the




variation is necessary for the goods or services to be
supplied and does not change the scope of the
contract; or the variation is a renewal or extension
of the term of the contract as described in
r.11(2)(j), (ja) or (jb) in accordance with r. 21A(a)
of the Regulations.

3.2 Contract Variations - Exempt and
Procurement ($50,000 - $250,000)

Pre-Contract:

CEO may approve minor variations (see definition
below) regarding to the scope of work specified in
the quotation, following the receipt of submission,
but prior to entering a contract provided there
are sufficient funds being available within the
approved budget for that item.

. A minor variation is defined as a variation that
the local government is satisfied, is minor having
regard to the total goods or services that were
invited to supply and:

« Does not alter the nature of the goods and/or
services procured; and

« Does not materially alter the specification or
structure provided for by the initial quotation
process; and

* Is within the approved budget for that item.

Post Contract:

CEO may approve variations to a contract that has
been entered into:

« if there are sufficient funds available within the
approved budget for that item. and the variation
does not alter the nature of the goods and/or
services procured; does not materially alter the
specification or structure provided for by the
initial quotation process and are necessary for
the supply of the goods or services.

Total contract value (including Variations) is limited
to a maximum of the amount of the approved
budget for that contract.

3.3 Extension of Contracts:
. Contracts formed from tender process:

o Where a tender is accepted that includes an
option to extend the contract beyond the
initial period, the Chief Executive Officer may
exercise or decline that option (r. 21A(b)
Local Government (Functions and General)
Regulations 1996 (WA).




¢« Where any other contract is accepted with an
option to extend the contract beyond the initial
period, the Chief Executive Officer may exercise
or decline that option.

4. Expressions of Interest (EOI's) (r. 21(1) Local

Government (Functions & General) Regulations
1996 (WA)):

To call, accept the short listing and if required reject
all Expression of Interests.

5. Establishment of Panels of Pre-Qualified

Suppliers

To determine the criteria for deciding which
applications should be accepted, accept or reject all
applications.

Express Power to
Sub-Delegate:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA):

s 5.44 CEO may delegate some powers and duties to
other employees

Sub-Delegate/s:
Appointed by CEO

Director Corporate and Governance
Director Infrastructure Services
Director Development and Communities

Additional CEO
Conditions on this
Sub-Delegation:

Conditions on the
original delegation
also apply to the sub-
delegations.

In addition to the Council conditions of delegation to the
CEO, the CEO has applied the following conditions:

Directors may only:

1. Exercise this sub-delegation relevant to the activities
of their directorate.

2. Tenders & Expressions of Interest

. Call Tenders or Expressions of Interest; and set

weighted criteria (Function 1) where:

(@) there is an appropriate Council budget
provision approved in the current year;

and

(b) the scope of the service or product being
sought is finalised; and

(©) the product or service being sought is not
considered to be extraordinary; and

() all required documentation is completed.




3. Variations to tenders accepted under delegation
by the CEO

3.1 Variations to tenders accepted under
delegation by the CEO - Pre contract (Function
3):

. approve minor variations (as defined above) to
the scope of work specified in the tender
following the receipt of submissions, but prior to
entering a contract provided sufficient funds
being available within the approved budget for
that item.

3.2 Variations to tenders accepted under
delegation by the CEO - Post Contract
(Function 4):

«  Approve minor variations that were unforeseen
and necessary for the supply of the goods or
services.

»  Total contract value (including Variations) is
limited to a maximum of the amount of the
approved budget for that contract.

4. Exempt Procurement (r. 11) and Procurement
($50,000 - $250,000)
« _Call formal quotations; and set weighted criteria
where:

(a) there is an appropriate Council budget
provision approved in the current year;
and

(b) the scope of the service or product being
sought is finalised; and

(c) the product or service being sought is not
considered to be extraordinary; and

(d) all required documentation is completed.

5. Quotes

Can accept Quotes, where there is a Council approved
budget provision and within purchasing limit authority.

6. Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (r.11A) and quotations

6.1 Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (r.11A) and quotations -_Pre
contract:

. approve minor variations (as defined above) to
the scope of work specified following the receipt




of submissions, but prior to entering a contract
provided sufficient funds being available within
the approved budget for that item.

6.2 Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (r. 11A) and quotations -_Post
Contract:

«  Approve minor variations that were unforeseen
and necessary for the supply of the goods or
services.

Total contract value (including Variations) is limited to a
maximum of the amount of the approved budget for
that contract ; .

Compliance Links:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA)

Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations
1996 (WA)

CP29 - Purchasing Policy
CP63 - Execution of Documents

N

Record Keeping:

Maintain Tender Register, recording details of decisions
under this delegation and insert ECM-links to relevant
evidentiary documents.

Ensure that evidentiary documents that meet the
requirements of Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 (WA) r.19 Delegates to keep certain
records, are retained in the City’s record keeping
systems.

Version Control:

1 Formerly incorporated as DAO4 Tenders in 2020-2021 Delegation
Register. Approved ELT 19/5/2021; OCM 22/6/2021 Item 12.6.

2 | Amended ELT 18/5/2022 OCM 28/6/2022

Reviewed ELT 15/3/2023 OCM 26/4/2023

3 New Policy OCM 12/12/2023

Reviewed ELT 9/4/2024 OCM 23/4/2024 Item 12.8

Commented [SJ1]: To be deleted with limits

- | transferred to Delegation Register as sub-delegation

Commented [EW2R1]: Just the Director Limits
(Level 5 - $5,000,000) in context of this delegation or
a new CEO delegation for all Purchase Order
approvals?
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1.1.14 Procurement: Tenders; Tender Exemptions; Purchases
($50,000-%$250,000) & Associated Contract Variations

Delegator:

Power / Duty assigned
in legislation to:

Council

Express Power to
Delegate:

Power that enables a
delegation to be made

Local Government Act 1995 (WA):
s 5.42 Delegation of some powers or duties to the CEO

s 5.43 Limitations on delegations to the CEO

Express Power or
Duty Delegated:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA)_(the Act)
s 3.57 Tenders for providing goods or services

Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations
1996 (WA) (the Requlations) - Part 4:

r._.11 When tenders must be publicly invited

r._13 Requirements when local government invites
tenders though not required to do so

r._14 Publicly inviting tenders, requirements for
r._18 Rejecting and accepting tenders

r._20 Variation of requirements before entry into
contract

r._21A Varying a contract for the supply of goods or
services

r. 21 Limiting who can tender, procedure for
Division 3 — Panels of pre-qualified suppliers

Delegate:

Chief Executive Officer

Function:
This is a precis only.

Delegates must act
with full understanding
of the legislation and
conditions relevant to
this delegation.

1. To call tenders and set weighted criteria as
outlined in the relevant legislation and this
delegation.

2. To authorise procurement and accept tenders in
aceordance-withaccording to the conditions of
this delegation.

3. To vary a contract prior to entry into a contract
with a successful tenderer in accordance with
r.eg 20.

4. To vary a contract already entered subject to
r.eg 21A.

5. To authorise procurement and accept quotations
according to in-aceerdance-with-the conditions of
this delegation.

6. To make, vary or discharge a contract that is
formed through a non-tender process subject to
r.eg 11(2).

7. To limit tenderers in accordance with r. 21




To establish panels of pre-qualified
suppliers in accordance with Division 3 including
calling for applications, setting weighted criteria,
accepting and rejecting applications.

Council Conditions
on this
Delegation:

Any person proposing to exercise a power under
delegated authority shall comply with the Standard
Conditions of Delegation. This delegation must be read
in conjunction with the Reqgulations-, the Council
approved Purchasing Policy and-theregulations-and the
following specific additional conditions for this
delegation.

Additional Conditions:

1. Tenders:
Calling of tenders may only occur where there is an
approved Council budget provision in the current year.

The Chief Executive Officer:

¢ may accept tenders, where there is a Council
budget provision approved in the current year for
the following:

o the tender value for any one project is no
more than $500,000 (ex GST)

0 Annual supplies of a routine operational
nature within budget amount and where
the contract is:

= for no greater than 5-years and
. expenditure is no more than
$250,000 per annum.

o0 New capital items where the tender
amount for the capital item is less than
amount of $250500,000, including
changeover costs where relevant and is
within the identified budget amount.

. may reject tenders of any amount ((r-reg 18(5)
Local Government (Functions-and General)
Regulations-1996)0f the Regulations)

¢ may accept tenders relating to the disposal of
impounded perishable and non-perishable goods
in accordance with s3.47 of the Local
Government-Act1995Act.

. may approve purchase orders for expenditure
expenditure-for-amounts-exceeding $250,000
that have been approved by Council via Council
Resolution or via delegated authority to the CEO.

2. Exemptions from Tender (r.Reg 11(2) Local
Government (Functions & General) Regulations
1996) (WA) and Purchases ($50,000-
$250,000)
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The CEO

. may authorise purchases that are exempt from
tendering regulations as outlined in Rregulation
r.11.2, excluding 2(d) of the Lecal Government
{Functions—and—-Generab)—Regulations—1996, (i.e.
State Government Common User Arrangement
(CUA); WALGA preferred Suppliers provided a
Council approved budget position applies; and

. may approve purchases where there is a Counci
budget provision approved in the current year for
the following:

o0 Annual supplies of a routine operational
nature within budget amount and where the
contract is:

. for no greater than 5-years; and
. expenditure is no more than
$250,000 per annum.

o0 New capital items where the tender amount
for the capital item is less than amount of
$250500,000, including changeover costs
where relevant and is within the identified
budget amount.

3. Contract Variations
3.1 Contract Variations - Tender
Pre-Contract:

Note: A minor variation is defined as a variation that
the local government is satisfied is minor having
regard to the total goods or services that tenderers
were invited to supply (r.20 of the Reqgulations) (Lecal
Government (Functions—and-— General) Regulations
1996 Reg-20)-(WA)), and:
o0 Does not alter the nature of the goods
and/or services procured; and
o Does not materially alter the specification
or structure provided for by the initial
tender; and
o Is within the approved budget for the
itemless-than-10%-of the original-tendered
price.
A tender cannot be varied outside the above
definition.

The CEO may approve minor variations (see
definition above) regarding the scope of work
specified in a tender, following the receipt of
submission, but prior to entering inte-a contract,
provided there are sufficient funds being available
within the approved budget for that item ({r.Reg-20




Local-Government(Functions-and-General)
Regulations-1996)-(WAof the Reqgulations)).

Post Contract:

The CEO may approve a variation(s) to tendera
contract, lmitedto-10% of the-total tender—value
feurmulative); provided there are sufficient funds
being available within the approved budget for that
L erthevelueoidhetrpurehasing-anthenn s
contract-where the variation is necessary for the
goods or services to be supplied and does not
change the scope of the contract; or the variation is
a renewal or extension of the term of the contract as
described in regulation. 11(2)(j). (ja) or (jb) Cwas

5 .
': 'IG'ES.EE" a Id S ||eeel_sss’u5 III order-for t_lne _gf_sgesl
change-the-contract-seope-in accordance with Reg-r.
21A(a) of the Local- Government(Functions-and
General) Regulations-1996-(\WA).

3.2 Contract Variations - Exempt and
Procurement ($50,000 - $250,000)

Pre-Contract:

CEO may approve minor variations (see definition
below) regarding to the scope of work specified in
the quotation, following the receipt of submission,
but prior to entering ito-a contract provided
there are sufficient funds being available within the
approved budget for that item.

. A minor variation is defined as a variation that
the local government is satisfied, is minor having
regard to the total goods or services that were
invited to supply and:

« Does not alter the nature of the goods and/or]
services procured; and

« Does not materially alter the specification or
structure provided for by the initial quotation
process; and

* Is within the approved budget for-the
ltemthat contractitem-less-than-10%-of-the

original-quoted-price.

Post Contract:




CEO may approve_variations to a contract that has
been entered into:

*»  —minorvarations-ina-contract that-has-been
entered-into-provided-thatif there are sufficient
funds; being-available within the approved
budget for that item. and the variation does not
alter the nature of the goods and/or services
procured; does not materially alter the
specification or structure provided for by the
initial guotation process, and are necessary for
the supply of the goods or services.complies-with

necessary-for-the-supply-of-the-goods-or-services:
= Total contract value (including Variations-(in-total)
are-is limited to a maximum of the amount of the
approved budget for that contract the-ameunt-ofthe
approved budget for that itema maximum-of-10%

(cumulative total)-of the procurement value for the

contract. othenloe ol thodo contod o oo’

purchasing-authority,-whichever-is the lesser-

3.3 Extension of Contracts:

. Contracts formed from tender process:

o0 Where a tender is accepted that includes an
option to extend the contract beyond the
initial period, the Chief Executive Officer may
exercise or decline that option (r.Reg 21A(b)
LoeolCeovomnmpent honedonc anc Concrn
Regulations-1996)-(WA)Yof the Reqgulations).

*  Where any other contract is accepted with an
option to extend the contract beyond the initial
period, the Chief Executive Officer may exercise
or decline that option.

4, Expressions of Interest (EOI’s) (r. 21(1

Local Government (Functions & General)
Requlations 1996 (WA)):

To call, accept the short listing and if required reject
all Expression of Interests.

5. Establishment of Panels of Pre-Qualified

Suppliers

To determine the criteria for deciding which
applications should be accepted, accept or reject all
applications.

Express Power to
Sub-Delegate:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA):




s 5.44 CEO may delegate some powers and duties to
other employees

Sub-Delegate/s:
Appointed by CEO

Director Corporate and Governance
Director Infrastructure Services
Director Development and Communities

Additional CEO
Conditions on this
Sub-Delegation:

Conditions on the
original delegation
also apply to the sub-
delegations.

In addition to the Council conditions of delegation to the
CEO, the CEO has applied the following conditions:

Directors may only:

1. Exercise this sub-delegation relevant to the activities
of their directorate.

2. Tenders & Expressions of Interest

e _Call Tenders or Expressions of Interest; and set

weighted criteria (Function 1) where:

(@ there is an appropriate Council budget
provision approved in the current year;

and

(b) the scope of the service or product being
sought is finalised; and

(©) the product or service being sought is not
considered to be extraordinary; and

(d) all required documentation is completed.

3. Variations to tenders accepted under delegation
by the CEO

3.1 Variations to tenders accepted under
delegation by the CEO - Pre contract (Function
3):

¢ approve minor variations (as defined above) to
the scope of work specified in the tender
following the receipt of submissions, but prior to
entering a contract provided sufficient funds
being available within the approved budget for
that item.

3.2 Variations to tenders accepted under
delegation by the CEO - Post Contract
(Function 4):

*  Approve minor variations that were unforeseen
and necessary for the supply of the goods or
services.




= _Total contract value (including Variations—in
total) are-islimited to a maximum of the amount
of the approved budget for that contract.the
amount of the approved budget for that itema
maximum-of-10% (cumulative total) of the
procurement value for-the contract.;er
of-the delegated- officers' purchasing-authority;
whichever-isthe lesser.

4. ProcurementExempt Procurement (Reg-r. 11)
and Procurement ($50,000 - $250,000)
e _Call formal quotations; and set weighted criteria
where:

() there is an appropriate Council budget
provision approved in the current year;
and

(b) the scope of the service or product being
sought is finalised; and

(c) the product or service being sought is not
considered to be extraordinary; and

(d) all required documentation is completed.

5. Quotes

Can accept Quotes, where there is a Council approved
budget provision and within purchasing limit authority.

6. Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (reg-r.11A) and quotations

6.1 Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (reg-r.11A) and quotations -_Pre
contract:

¢ approve minor variations (as defined above) to
the scope of work specified following the receipt
of submissions, but prior to entering a contract
provided sufficient funds being available within
the approved budget for that item.

6.2 Variations to contracts for exempt
procurement (reg-r. 11A) and quotations -_Post
Contract:

*  Approve minor variations that were unforeseen
and necessary for the supply of the goods or
services.

Total contract value (including Variations-(in-tetal) are
is limited to a maximum of the amount of the approved
budget for that contract the-amount-of the-approved
budget for that item a-maximum-of-10%-(cumulative
total)-of the procurement-value for the-contract; or the




vope-othe-delegored offcersl speasine oo
whichever-isthe lesser-.

Compliance Links:

Local Government Act 1995 (WA)

Local Government (Functions and General) Regulations
1996 (WA)

CP29 - Purchasing Policy
CP63 - Execution of Documents

horitv Lirmi N

Record Keeping:

Maintain Tender Register, recording details of decisions
under this delegation and insert ECM-links to relevant
evidentiary documents.

Ensure that evidentiary documents that meet the
requirements of Local Government (Administration)
Regulations 1996 (WA) reg.19 Delegates to keep
certain records, are retained in the City’s record
keeping systems.

Version Control:

1 Formerly incorporated as DAO4 Tenders in 2020-2021 Delegation
Register. Approved ELT 19/5/2021; OCM 22/6/2021 Item 12.6.

2 Amended ELT 18/5/2022 OCM 28/6/2022

Reviewed ELT 15/3/2023 OCM 26/4/2023

3 New Policy OCM 12/12/2023

Reviewed ELT 9/4/2024 OCM 23/4/2024 Item 12.8



https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/law_a465.html
https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/law_s4578.html
https://www.legislation.wa.gov.au/legislation/statutes.nsf/law_s4578.html

12.7 Annual Report 2023-24

Voting Requirement > Absolute Majority

Subject Index :  32/001 — Operational/Strategic Planning-
Originals

Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items - N/A

Applicant - N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division : Corporate and Governance

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council eg adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To adopt the City of Belmont Annual Report for Financial Year 2023-24.

Summary and key issues

The statutory Annual Report is prepared to advise the community on the
activities of the local government and includes the audited Annual Financial
Report. The Annual Report also contains an overview of the Plan for the Future.
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Officer Recommendation

Sessions moved, Sekulla seconded

That Council:

1. Accepts the City of Belmont 2023-24 Annual Report, including the Annual
Financial Report and Independent Auditors Report, as included in
Attachment 12.7.1.

2. Directs the Chief Executive Officer to make any further minor
administrative amendments/layout changes as required prior to
publication of the Annual Report 2023-24.

3. Directs the Chief Executive Officer to ensure the availability of the Annual
Report is advertised in accordance with Section 5.55 of the Local
Government Act 1995 (WA).

4. Directs the Chief Executive Officer to ensure the Annual Report is
available for distribution to members of the public at the Annual Meeting
of Electors on Monday, 3 February 2025, and copies are available for
inspection by the public as soon as practicable after this meeting.

5. Notes the Management letter for the Information Systems Audit provided
by the Office of the Auditor General for the year ended 30 June 2024
(Confidential Attachment 12.7.2).

Carried Unanimously 6 votes to 1
For: Davis, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Harris

Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

No public consultation was required on this matter. The Annual Financial Report
and Audit Report for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 have been
considered and accepted by the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk).

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—-2034 Strategic Community Plan:
Key Performance Area: Performance

Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.
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Outcome: 11. A happy, well informed and engaged community.

Policy implications
There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

Section 5.53(1) of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) (the Act) prescribes
that a local government must prepare an Annual Report and Section 5.53(2) of
the Act sets out what must be contained within the Annual Report.

Section 5.54 of the Act prescribes that the Annual Report be accepted (Absolute
Majority required) by the Local Government by 31 December after that financial
year however, if the Auditor’s Report is not available in time for acceptance by
31 December, then it must be accepted within two months after the receipt of
the Auditor’s Report.

Section 5.55 of the Act prescribes that local public notice is to be given as soon
as practicable as to the availability of the Annual Report after its acceptance by
the Local Government.

Section 7.12A of the Act provides further detail with respect to audits including
that the auditor must meet with the local government at least once every
financial year, and that the local government is to report to the Minister
addressing any findings identified as significant by the auditor and stating what
action the local government has taken or intends to take with respect to those
matters. S.7.12(4)(b) requires a copy of the report to be provided to the
Minister within 3 months of the audit report being received by the local
government.

Section 29(2) of the Disability Services Act 1993 (WA) requires a Local
Government with a Disability Services Plan to report via its Annual Report on
the implementation of this Plan.

Principle 6 of the State Records Principles and Standards 2002 (State Records
Act 2000 (WA)) requires that the City’s Annual Report include evidence of the
efficiency and effectiveness of the City’s Record Keeping Plan, training, and
induction programs.

Section 94 of the Freedom of Information Act 1992 (WA) requires the City to
provide an “Information Statement” that outlines the structure of the City,
access to information and a range of other information. The City provides
details of the “Information Statement” in the Annual Report.

Regulation 19B of the Local Government (Administration) Regulations 1996
(WA) prescribes what information is to be included in the Annual Report.
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Background

The Annual Report is to be accepted prior to the 31 December of the financial
year being reported on, subject to availability of the Auditor’s Report. The
Auditor’s Report was signed on 26 November 2024 following acceptance by the
Standing Committee (Audit and Risk).

The local government is required to prepare, adopt, and advertise its Annual
Report prior to the Elector’'s Meeting. The Annual General Meeting of Electors is
to be held not more than 56 days after the local government accepts the annual
report for the previous financial year (s5.27(2) of the Local Government Act
1995 (WA)). The Annual Electors’ Meeting has been scheduled for Monday 3
February 2025.

A presentation and the Annual Audited Financial Statements were provided to
the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) at its meeting on Monday 25
November 2024. Representatives of the Office of the Auditor General attended
the Standing Committee meeting and discussed the Auditor’s Report. The below
was resolved by the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) at its meeting on 25
November 2024:

That the Standing Committee (Audit and Risk) recommend that Council:

1. Accepts the Annual Financial Statements for the period ending 30 June
2024 at Attachment 11.4.1.

2. Accepts the Auditor’s Exit Briefing Report, prepared for the year ended 30
June 2024 at Attachment 11.4.3.

3. Accepts the Auditor’'s Management Letter (Information Systems Audit) for
the year ended 30 June 2024 at Confidential Attachment 11.4.5; and

4. Approves the Chief Executive Officer to sign the Annual Financial Report
for the period ending 30 June 2024 and Management Representation
Letter at Attachments 11.4.1 and 11.4.4.

Report
The Annual Report contains:

. Reports from the Mayor and Chief Executive Officer together with reports
from individual Committee Presiding Members;
. A copy of the Financial Statements including the Auditor’s Report;
. An overview of the Plan for the Future;
. Report on the City’s Disability Access and Inclusion Plan achievements;
. Report on the Environment and Sustainability Strategy 2023-2033;
. Report on the Urban Forest Strategy;
. Details of the City’s Freedom of Information Act - Information Statement;
and
Report on the status of the City’s Record Keeping Plan.
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Further additional information included within the Annual Report is as follows:

. Councillor demographics (required by regulations);
Attendance by Councillors at council and committee meetings (required by
regulations);
. Corporate Governance/Code of Conduct (including Complaints);
. Salary ranges (required by regulations);
. CEO Remuneration (required by regulations);
. Capital grants for the renewal of assets (required by regulations); and
. Payments to each elected member (required by regulations).

It should be noted that there were no major trading undertakings or major land
transactions in 2023-24.

In accordance with Council Policy 21 - Elected Member Professional
Development and Authorised Travel, a table is included which discloses the total
expenditure on Councillor Professional Development activities for the year being
reported on. The listed expenditure does not include expenditure for mandatory
training or Council Nominated Professional Development and Authorised Travel
as defined in the Policy.

A copy of the Annual Report has been provided (refer Attachment 12.7.1) and a
final “published” version will be prepared following acceptance by Council and
will be circulated to all Elected Members when available.

Copies of the Annual Report will be available for members of the public at the
Annual Electors’ Meeting and includes the Annual Financial Statements,
however a copy will be made available for public inspection as soon as
practicable following Council’s resolution on this report.

The appropriate advertising will be carried out once the Annual Report has been
accepted.

Financial implications

There are no significant financial implications evident at this time other than the
costs associated with the publication of the Annual Report and statutory
advertising and are available within existing budgets.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.
Social implications
There are no social implications associated with this report.
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Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. City of Belmont Annual Report 2023-24 [12.7.1 - 110 pages]

2. CONFIDENTIAL REDACTED - City of Belmont IS GCC Audit Management
Letter (Confidential matter in accordance with Local Government Act 1995
(WA) Section 5.23(2)(f)(ii)) [12.7.2 - 20 pages]
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Acknowledgement of Country

The City of Belmont acknowledges the
Whadjuk Noongar people as the Traditional
Owners of this land and we pay our respects
to Elders past, present and emerging. We
further acknowledge their cultural heritage,
beliefs, connection and relationship with this
land which continues today. We acknowledge
all Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander
peoples living within the City of Belmont.
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History of Belmont

For tens of thousands of
years, the First Australians
knew this area as Goorgyp.

First Australians moved

WKURXJK GLNHUHQW DUH

7KH *ROG 5XVK LQ WKH The\City of Belmont became

brought people through the
Belmont district, as people
travelled up the Great Eastern
Hi%hway (then Guildford

WKURXJK GLNHUHQW VHRYB:RM0 MR growing

follow food at the optimum
times of the year, in a way
that did not interfere with
breeding cycles or populations
of their food sources.

A well established track
through the area was
developed into what we

now know as Great Eastern
Highway. At the time of the
Swan River Colony, Goorgyp
was under the stewardship
of the Beeloo Clan under
Munday.

Most land grants of the early
settlement were granted
along the Swan and Canning
5LYHUV %\
the river frontage from Perth
to Guildford had been divided
into grants including land
located in the current City of
Belmont.

, Q WKH ¢UVW KRUVH

was held at Grove Farm. TRC
Walters then donated land

from his adjoining property for

a permanent racetrack, now

known as Ascot Racecourse.

The West Australian Turf Club

ZDV HVWDEOLVKHG LQ

QHDUO\

market, general stores,
boarding houses and hotels
sprung up along the route.

As people returned from

the Gold Rush, housing
developments grew in the

area, prompting churches and
schools to be built. This also
meant the popularity of horse
UDFLQJ JUHZ DQG LQ
new railway bridge and a

station next to the racecourse
were built.

Food production also boomed

to address the demands of

a growing population, and

dairies, piggeries, poultry
fAfh&and Chinese market
JDUGHQV ARXULVKHG

The Belmont Road Board, the
precursor to our current City
of Belmont, was gazetted in
'"HEHPEHU

a Shire in 1961 and in 1979
was proclaimed a City by
the Governor of Western
Australia, Sir Wallace Kyle,

PG WR WKH *R O G ¢ H O @hén he&ppened the Civic and

Administration Building on
Wright Street.

Today, the City of Belmont
includes a unique mix

of people, cultures and
businesses coming together
to connect as one community.
Our history is woven from the
countless stories of those who
have called this place home.

Fro?n the First Nations
communities who nurtured
the land for thousands of
years to new arrivals seeking
new opportunities, each have
contributed their unique
traditions, struggles and
triumphs to make the City of
Belmont what it is today.

7R ¢QG RXW DERXW WKH P

stories of our City, visit or
contact the Belmont Museum.

DQG WKH ¢UVW

LRQV ZHUH KHOG LQ

In early 1942 the area now
known as Perth Airport

was converted from a golf
course to an RAAF base
which operated until the end
of World War Il. It became
Guildford Aerodrome and later
changed its name to Perth
Airport in 1952.




Your City of Belmont Elected Members

Central
Ward

Mayor Robert ROSSI JP

o

@ MayorRossi@belmont.wa.gov.auu
Term expires: 16 October 2027

Cr Deborah SESSIONS
DEPUTY MAYOR

crsessions@belmont.wa.gov.au
7HUP H[SLUHV 2FWREHU

Cr George SEKULLA, JP

@ 0431 963 660
9 crsekulla@belmont.wa.gov.au
7HUP H[SLUHV 2FWREHU

Cr Phil MARKS

o

@ crmarks@belmont.wa.gov.au
Term expires: 16 October 2027

Cr Natalie CARTER
(resigned 1 March 2024)

Cr Steve WOLFF
Term expired: 21 October 2023

Cr Christopher KULCZYCKI

crkulczycki@belmont.wa.gov.au
Term expires: 16 October 2027

Cr VIJAY

@ 0430052 715
e crvijay@belmont.wa.gov.au
Term expires: 16 October 2027

Cr Bernie RYAN

o

e crryan@belmont.wa.gov.au
7THUP H[SLUHV 2FWREHU

Cr Jenny DAVIS

0413 579 390
crdavis@belmont.wa.gov.au
7HUP H[SLUHV 2FWREHU

CrJanet POWELL

0407 277 391
crpowell@belmont.wa.gov.au

Elected: 21 June 2024
7HUP H[SLUHV 2FWREHU



Elected Member Demographics

Gender Ages
25-34
35-44

3 female 45-54
55-64

‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘ Over 64

6 male

Languages spoken at home

Country of birth English [ g
Australia Croatian
England Italian

Polish

Note:
,QIRUPDWLRQ DV DW JHEUXDU\
*One Elected Member declined to provide this voluntary information.



Belmont in Brief

6kms from Perth CBD

CENTRAL
WARD

Intersection of the prolongation northwesterly of
Belmont Avenue with the left bank of the Swan River.

Belmont Avenue and it's prolongation northwesterly
Resolution Drive
Intersection of the northern side of Orrong Road with Fulham Street

Intersection of Tonkin Highway with the prolongation southwesterly
of the northernmost northwestern boundary of Lot 300 (Reserve 51776)
as shown on Deposited Plan 416045

Intersection of Grandstand Road with the left bank of the Swan River

Per th Air port

7 Oy
Ny
0
My

--- Suburb boundaries



40 km 45,976

total area population (approx.)

6 kms 27,330

from Perth eligible electors (at 9 April 2024)

309 ha 21,272

parks and gardens rates assessments

234 kms 20,839

of roads dwellings (2026 forecast)

Figures shown at 30 June 2024 unless otherwise noted.
JRU PRUH GHPRJUDSKLF LQIRUPDWLRQ YLVLW SUR{;OH LG FRP DX EHOPRQW




Mayor’'s Report

It is with great pleasure that
| present the Annual Report

A major project this year
was the introduction of a

P\ ¢UVW DV \RXU @hitdZFOGO bin for most

Mayor of the City of Belmont.

This past year was a landmark
year for the City of Belmont

as we celebrated our 125th
anniversary as a local
government.

Our anniversary provided
us with the opportunity to

UHAHFW RQ RXU VKDUHQmBrB\)é

celebrate how far we have
come as an organisation and
city, and look forward towards
the many opportunities that
lie ahead.

The City is constantly
changing, and in our 125th
year, we have reached a

new stage on our journey of
opportunity. It has been a
rewarding year, and I'm proud
of the many accomplishments
that we have achieved for and
with our local community.

The past year has seen
the City consolidate our
position as a progressive and
sustainable local government
with an excellent track record

households, and we will
continue rolling out this new
service to multi-unit dwellings
throughout the coming year.

Planting more trees and
enhancing our public spaces
were key focuses this year.
We implemented several
streetscape and park
P&ﬁté{ ))rganised
community planting days,
and launched a new verge
garden initiative to expand
our urban forest and foster
vibrant community spaces.

LQGXVWU\ OHDGHU LQ ¢YH
including value for money

from rates, the openness and

transparency of our processes

and our recognition of cultural

diversity.

There remains a strong focus

on our business community

ZLWK VLIQL{FDQW LQLWLD
grant opportunities for our

local businesses to create

connections and drive local

innovation.

While the past year provided

DQ RSSRUWXQLW\ WR UHAH
our shared history, we also

WRRN VLIQL,FDQW VWULGH

$GGLWLRQDOO\ VLJIQL PBiDg for our future with

progress was made in our
plans for Belvidere Street and
Wilson Park.

We continued to prioritise
essential services such as
library services, community
safety initiatives, community
grants, and creative events.

input from our community,
resulting in a variety of
informed plans and strategies.

Looking ahead, the City
remains committed to
delivering excellent service
to our community. We

are dedicated to fostering

7KHVH HNRUWV QRW R Q @Rportunities for residents,

enhance our quality of life
but also foster a safer, more
vibrant community where
everyone feels they belong.

RI ¢QDQFLDO PDQDJHPH®dNhecked in frequently

focussed on delivering
genuine value to our
community.

with our community to

ask their thoughts on how
we are tracking through
engagement projects, as
well as our community
perception scorecard. It
was heartening to see that
the City was once again an

businesses, and visitors to
thrive, connect, and learn
together in the years to come.

As your Mayor, | am genuinely
excited about the future and

the immense potential it holds
for everyone who lives, works,
and visits the City of Belmont.

Robert Rossi
Mayor



Chief Executive

20FHUYV 5HSRUW

| am delighted to present the
Annual Report 2023-24 for the
City of Belmont and highlight
our plans for the future.

Looking back at our
achievements throughout
the past year | commend

Together, we crafted a
roadmap that not only
addresses our immediate
needs, but also sets long term
goals to ensure a sustainable
and vibrant future for all.

The Corporate Business

WKH &RXQFLO DQG &L W\PlaiidaN extension of the

for their commitment and
professionalism that has

HQDEOHG XV WR ¢QLVK

in a strong and sustainable
position.

We remain focused on
delivering genuine value to
our community. By creating
places where people can
thrive, opportunities to
connect and a commitment
to learn from each other, we
have successfully delivered an
amazing variety of projects,
programs and services over
the past 12 months.

This year we developed a new
Strategic Community Plan
2024-2034 and Corporate
%XVLQHVV 30DQ
cornerstones of our Integrated
Planning Framework.

The Strategic Community
Plan was born from the
contributions of over 1,500
community members and

key partners who shared
their thoughts and lived
experiences to help us create

Strategic Community Plan and
sets out tangible actions to
fvddd-Hon bivBrithe next four
years to ensure we deliver on
those community priorities. |
encourage you to access both
plans on our website.

Community safety and

crime prevention remain

a high priority with a
continued commitment to
community safety initiatives.
We also engaged actively
with community and key
stakeholders to start work
on our updated Community
Safety Strategy which will be

places. Our next Urban Forest
Strategy is in development to
build on these programs and
renew our focus on the future.

We continue to embed
community engagement into
our projects and strategies

and measure our service
delivery by seeking regular
feedback from community,
businesses and stakeholders.
The 2023 MARKYT community
and business perception
VFRUHFDUGY FRQ¢{(UPHG XV
an industry leader in several
key areas, including value for
money from rates.

| continue to be impressed by

the dedication of Councillors

DQG VWDN ZKR DUH FRPPL\
to ensuring the best

outcomes for our community.

This underlying passion is

made obvious through the

many projects, initiatives,

GHOLYHUHG WKLV ¢ QD Q Bttaiz@les, ld\his and

We are focused on building
aWed(tét City and creating
public spaces where people
can belong. The coming year
will see a continued focus

on capital works with a good
balance of asset sustainability
and new infrastructure
developments.

We are committed to creating
a sustainable environment to

D SODQ WKDW UHAHFW V p#é&dt to the next generation

values and priorities of our
community.

with a comprehensive
program of works to green
our City around our local

parks, streetscapes and public

services we deliver.

7KH SDVW (QDQFLDO \HDU
a truly rewarding one. | look

forward this coming year to

building on our past successes

and creating a better City of

Belmont — together.

John Christie
&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU



Executive Committee Report

The Executive Committee
is responsible for obtaining

During 2023-24 the Executive
Committee met on two

DQG FRQVLGHULQJ VXO Focth§ons; in July 2023 to

information to make unbiased,
objective recommendations to
Council on CEO appointments,
contract reviews/

renewals, performance

and remuneration reviews

as required by the City of
Belmont ‘Standards for CEO
Recruitment Performance and
Termination’. The Executive
Committee will also monitor
sanctions ordered by the
Standards Panel for minor
breaches pursuant to the
Local Government Act 1995
(WA).

conduct the CEO’s 2022-23
performance appraisal and

to set goals and targets for
2023-24 and in February 2024
to conduct the CEO'’s Interim
Review for 2023-24.

The Committee was not

required to meet to consider

any sanctions ordered by the

Standards Panel for minor

breaches. | would like to

thank the members of the

Committee, including Cr

Marks (Presiding Member

until October 2023) as well

DV WKH &KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU
DQG VWDN IRU WKHLU DVVLVWDQFH
during the year and the

support | have received as

Presiding Member since | was

elected to this position in

February 2024.

Report By

Mayor Robert Rossi
Presiding Member
Executive Committee



Standing Committee
(Audit and Risk) Report

The Standing Committee The Committee considered I would like to thank the
(Audit and Risk) met four eight internal audit reports members of the Committee
times during 2023-24. conducted on: including Cr Sekulla (Deputy

. ) _ Presiding Member), Mayor
The purpose of the Committee » Refurbishment of City of Rossi, Cr Davis (Presiding
is to assist Council to Belmont Glasshouse Project Member until October
discharge its responsibilities « Wilson Park Tennis Courts 2023), Cr Ryan, Mr Ron
by exercising due care ) Back (Independent Member
and diligence in relation to * Community Safety until October 2023) and Ms
WKH UHSRUWLQJ RI ¢ QD Q Buieilance and Ranger Shona Zulsdorf (Independent
information, the application Activities Member from October 2023)
of accounting policies, - Development Applications DV ZHOO DV VWDRN IRU WKH
and the managementof assistance and support during
WKH ¢QDQFLDO DNDLUV *RWast&Management the year
City in accordance with . Risk Management
the provisions of the Local Report By
Government Act 1995 (WA) * Parks Work Health and _ _
and associated Regulations Safety gr C_rljr_lstok)/lher E“'CZVCK'
including an assessment of . ; ; residing Member
the management of risk. ﬁggmumty Environmental Standing Committee

(Audit and Risk)
The Committee provides These reports were
guidance and assistance to recommended to Council for
the City of Belmont in carrying noting.
out its functions relating to
audits carried out under Part The Committee monitors
7 of the Local Government Act and reviews progress of
1995 (WA). audit logs which record
) ) recommendations advised

The Committee considered the E\ WKH ZOFH RI WKH $XGLWRU
City’s Annual Audited Financial General and other audits.
Report to 30 June 2023 and
recommended its adoption by The Committee also received
Council prior to the Annual the 2023 Compliance Audit

Meeting of Electors. Return.



Standing Committee
(Community Vision) Report

The Standing Committee
(Community Vision) is
responsible for considering
and making recommendations
to Council on matters of
strategic importance and
relevance to the City of
Belmont that relate to
community social priorities.

During 2023-24 the

Standing Committee
(Community Vision) met
once in August 2023 to make
recommendations to Council
about the nominations for
the 2023 Community Service
Awards.

The Standing Committee
(Community Vision) was
abolished following the
October 2023 elections.

| would like to thank the
members of the Committee
including Cr Ryan (Deputy
Presiding Member), Cr Marks
and Cr Carter, as well as the

&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU

Report By

Cr George Sekulla JP
Presiding Member
Standing Committee
(Community Vision)

-RKQ

&KULVWLH DQG VWDRN IRU WKHLU

assistance during the year
and the support | received as
Presiding Member.



Standing Committee
(Environmental) Report

The purpose of the Standing During 2023-24 the Standing
Committee (Environmental) Committee (Environmental)
is to consider and provide met once in July 2023 to
recommendations to Council endorse the draft Environment
on matters of strategic and Sustainability Strategy
environmental importance 2023-2033. | would like
and relevance to the City of to thank the members of
Belmont. the Committee including
IRUPHU &RXQFLOORU B6WHYH :RON
In accordance with the Terms (Presiding Member), Cr Marks
of Reference, the Committee and Cr Ryan as well as the
meets as required to provide &KLHI ([HEXWLYH 20FHU -RKQ
guidance and assistance &KULVWLH DQG VWDR IRU WKHLU

WR 'DFLOLWD_WH HNHFWLXiance during the year.
management of the City of

Belmont’s environmental The Standing Committee
responsibilities through: (Environmental) was
abolished following the

+ Development and ) October 2023 elections.
recommendation of Council
environmental policies Report By

* Annual review of the Cr Deborah Sessions
Environment and Deputy Presiding Member
Sustainability Strategy Standing Committee

« Review of the outcomes (Environmental)

of actions implemented
from the Environment and
Sustainability Strategy
requiring Council approval /
endorsement.



Disability Access and Inclusion Plan
progress to date

The City’s Access and
Inclusion Plan 2022-2026 has
guided the development and

e Strengthening our
partnership with the
Belmont Forum and

« Continued promotion of
the Accessible Business
SURJUDP WR RNHU IULHQ

implementation of projects
and activities during this
reporting period. The City is
proud of its achievements in
creating a more accessible
and inclusive community and
will continue to strive to meet
the needs of all those who
work, live and play in the City.

The plan includes 35 actions;
19 of which have been
completed, 11 currently

in progress, and 5 to be
progressed in the remaining
2 years of the Plan. Some of
the past year’s achievements,
aligned to the Access and

Valued Lives to deliver the
International Day of People
with Disability event with
microenterprise markets

at the Belmont Forum in
December 2023.

opt-in audits and training to
participating businesses.

Continued improvements
to access and inclusion at
the City’s events, such as
including AUSLAN lessons at

« &LW\ VWDRN XQGHUWDN L @8 Harmony Week Festival.

training with a lived-
experience training provider
with sight impairment on
how to provide best practice
customer service to our
community.

¢ A partnership with Ballroom
Fit and Para Dance WA to

« Ongoing improvements

to access and inclusion in
footpaths, parks, facilities
and playgrounds.

RNHU ZHHNO\ JURXS GDQFH

lessons to the community at

' QFOXVLRQ 30DQTV HLJIKWsehdnt QUG

Outcomes, included:

¢ Quarterly meetings of
the Access and Inclusion
Advisory Group to provide
feedback and guidance on
implementing the City’s
Access and Inclusion Plan.

* A partnership with People
with Disabilities WA to
deliver Self-Advocacy
workshops to the
community.



Environment and Sustainability Strategy

2023-2033

The City adopted its

new Environment and
Sustainability Strategy 2023-
2033 (the Strategy) at the
Ordinary Council Meeting
held 31 October 2023. This
update builds on the success
and achievements of the

JUVW 6WUDWHJ\ GHPRQV\?/V f:?W’O?g

the City’s commitment to
continuous improvement.

The City continues to deliver
on a range of environmental
objectives, with the following
key achievements during the

(.QDQFLDO \HDU

¢ Successful adoption of
the Environment and
Sustainability Strategy
2023-2033 following
extensive internal and
community stakeholder
engagement.

* Roll out of the City’s
inaugural Verge Garden
Program, including free
educational workshops and
Verge Makeover ‘Starter
Kits’ for over 100 residents.

Three (3) successful grant
applications totalling over

UHFHLYHG
State Government to
facilitate tree planting and
greening initiatives in the
public realm.

r5at|ve trees

unders rey plants
installed across 40 locations
including foreshore
reserves, parks, and urban
bushland — more than
double the amount planted
in 2022/2023.

With the purchase of 100%
green electricity at eight

of our highest consuming
sites, the City has
prevented the emission of
DSSUR[LPDWHO\
of CO2.

The City’s workshop located
at the Operations Centre
retained Greenstamp
Advantage accreditation.

Over 30 environment-
focused events and
workshops held within the
City of Belmont. These

IURP

include community planting
days, fauna workshops
and training, free muich,

FRPPXQLW\ GURS RN GD\\

specialised waste streams
including asbestos and
white goods and supporting
Switch Your Thinking and
Keep Australia Beautiful
initiatives.

¢ The City has been a
Waterwise Council since
2001, maintaining Gold
status since 2021.

¢ The Business Environmental
Assessment Project
continued to implement
a risk-based inspection
program, conducting
79 visits to commercial
W R @r@ kdustrial premises,
providing advice on
compliance obligations
and environmental best-
practice.



‘DWHU HOFLHQF\

Throughout the 2023-24 irrigation season, public open space was managed as required by the City's

JURXQGZDWHU OLFHQFH $ QXPEHU RI ZDWHU HOFLHQF\ PHDVXUHV KDYH HC
optimal levels of soil moisture and park presentation during one of the hottest and driest summers

on record.

7KH &LW\TV SURJUHVV WRZDUGV ZDWHU HOFLHQF\ JRDOV DQG WDUJHWV LV

7TDEOH 3URJUHVV WRZDUGV ZDWHU HOFLHQF\ JRDOV DQG WDUJHWYV

Goal 2023-24 Outcomes

Maintain irrigation delivery to Achieved: The City’s total abstraction for 2023-24 was
below the Department of Water below the licensed allocation.

and Environmental Regulation

(DWER) Licensed Allocation

Maintain Waterwise Council Achieved: The City was re-endorsed are recognised as a
status for 2023-24 Gold Waterwise Council for 2024.
Maintain corporate scheme Not achieved: A leak at the Belmont Oasis swimming pool
water use to within 10% of resulted in an increase in scheme water consumption for

NLOROLWUHY N/ this asset of 10,677kL (compared to the FY22/23 period).
2015 consumption) by 2021 The total scheme water consumption for FY24/25 was 15%

above the FY14/15 baseline.

Maintain water consumption Achieved:  Despite an increase in total residential water
below 125 KL per person XVH WKH SHU FDSLWD FRQVXPSWLRQ RI N/ UH

below the target of 125kL.

Energy management and carbon

Electricity use at the City’s contestable sites (those consuming greater than 50,000 units per year)
in 2023-24 indicated an overall increase of 7.63% in comparison to 2022/2023 data.

As part of the WALGA Sustainable Energy Project, the City has purchased 100% renewable energy
IRUDOO LWV FRQWHVWDEOH VLWHY 7KH HVWLPDWHG &2 RRNVIHMXW EODAHGGR G
IRU ZDV WRQQHYV

The City’s progress towards energy management and carbon goals for 2023-24 is shown in Table 2
below.

Table 2: Progress towards energy and carbon goals for 2023-24

Goal 2023-24 Outcomes

Maintain annual energy Achieved: A further reduction in energy consumption
consumption per full time of 5.5% was observed between 2022/2023 and 2023-24
equivalent (FTE) at the I[URP WR N:K )7(

Operations Centre to within
10% of 2015-2016 levels until

2021
tailpipe emissions rating’ of km, representing a decrease of 2 units compared with the

WKH &LW\TV OLJKW Y HK L F QPI§VIRY$ Fepprting period.
between 2016 and 2021




Waste reduction

The City of Belmont provides a range of waste services to its residents and businesses including
kerbside waste, recycling, FOGO collections, bulk hard waste and green waste, and on demand
collections of mattresses, white goods and lounges.

7KH FRPPXQLW\ JHQHUDWHG D WRWDO RI WRQQHV RI ZDVWH LQ A
LQ ODQG¢,0O0O 7KLV LV D VLIQL¢,FDQW UHGXFWLRQ FRPSDUHG WR WKH SUHY
includes 623 tonnes of residual waste after processing recyclables (contamination) and 1,695 tonnes

collected from the bulk hard waste (blue) skip bin service.

ODWHULDO UHFRYHU\ UDWHVY KDYH DOVR LPSURYHG VLIJQL{FDQWO\ SUHGRF
third bin to recover compostable food organics and garden organics (FOGO). Already, 1,110 tonnes
of material have been recovered to produce FOGO-derived soil products.

The fortnightly kerbside recycling service recovered 77% commaodity materials including aluminium,

paper, cardboard, glass, and plastics. For the bulk hard waste service, 30% of materials were

UHFRYHUHG LQFOXGLQJ PLIHG PHWDOV XQWUHDWHG WLPEHU FDUGERDUG
776 tonnes of bulk green waste was recovered via the green skip bin service.



Urban Forest Strategy

A comprehensive review

of the City’s Urban Forest
Strategy has been undertaken
with a review of the current
preferred species range
completed as the City looks
to enhance the biodiversity of
the urban forest.

Data collected in January
2024 from both an aerial
survey (LIDAR) and Street
Tree Inventory has been used
to inform the future direction
of the City’s urban forest.

The aerial survey data is used
to measure the City’s tree
canopy and provide a baseline
to monitor the performance

of the Urban Forest Strategy
now and into the future.

The Street Tree Inventory is
XVHG VSHFL¢{FDOO\ WR
opportunities and locations

to increase the tree canopy
across the City.

The City has planted a total Overall, the year was a great
R WUHHYV ZLWKLQ S 8utkls¥ in relation to the
and road reserves during the implementation of the City’s
¢QDQFLDO \HDU 7 HKUXbé&n Forest Strategy. The
has exceeded the City’s target City’s continued focus on the
of 3,000 trees. delivery of outcomes within
N ) this Strategy will support
In addition to the planting the growth of the City’s tree
program, the City has given canopy into the future.

away 245 native trees to
ratepayers as part of its ‘Trees
for Residents’ initiative which
provides residents with the
opportunity to request one
free tree to plant on their
private property.

The City’s continued focus
on working with external
stakeholders to meet our
future needs in relation

to high quality tree stock

has seen positive results in
LretakoR W stdtk development
and its establishment with

all new stock being grown

to Australian Standard AS



Record Keeping Report

Records are a key information ini ini ;
DVVHW RI WKH &LW\ Dogrel\?vlg% Training Evaluation
and elected members are $00 QHZ ROFHUV DUH UHRXDLWMKGWROFHUY WR FRPS
expected to keep records as attend records management feedback forms on the training
part of their day-to-day tasks induction training. delivered, resulting in 60
and responsibilities. This induct o0 completed feedback forms
is induction covers topics ; ;

The City manages its Records such as: P during the relevant period.
in accordance with the o ) The percentage of positive
requirements of the State * Legislation covering the responses in the feedback
Records Act 2000 (WA). City's recordkeeping has increased compared
The current Recordkeeping responsibiities o feedbgck receivgd last

« Legal deposit year, which we attribute
Plan was approved by the ’ WR UH:QHPHQWV LQ RXU
State Records Commission in e 20FHU UHVSRQVLELOL Wahqh‘]é{mle ods and the
November 2Q21 and is due to managing records improvement in the quality of
be reviewed in 2026. « Access to records instruction given.
The City’s primary record « %HQH{WV RI JRRG This recordkeeping report
keeping system, Technology recordkeeping was created under the terms
One’s "ECM" was reaching . required by the State Records
end of life status and was $00 QHZ ROFHUV ZKR K Q%rﬁmission Standard 2
upgraded to an internet-based access to ECM are required to Principle 6. '
platform. This has resulted attend training.
in ECM having a more user- S
friendly interface and ECM Refresher training is also
FDQ EH DFFHVVHG E\ RO®PRlaple onrequest to current
LQ WKH ¢HOG 7KLV XxsJUgdH gpv
a major project by Records 'Q WKH (QDQFLDO \HDU

and IT. Internal corporate

; training was held for:
documents relating to Records 9

Management are regularly ¢ 70 new users received ECM
updated and made available and records management
WR VWDN induction training,

. ROFHUV UHFHLYHG UHIUHVKHU
training in using ECM,

. ROFHUV DWWHQGHG
induction only training,

. VWDN PHPEHUYV DWWHQGHG
information sessions on the
update to ECM.



Freedom of Information

The Freedom of Information
Act 1992 (WA) (FOI Act)
provides a general right

of access to the City’s
documents. This right of
access is subject to limitations
and exemptions as set out in
the FOI Act.

As required by the FOI Act,
the City:

* provides an Information
Statement on its website
to give details on accessing
the City’s documents.

¢ submits a statistical
return to the Information

During 2023-24, the City
received 14 valid applications
for access to documents,

3 were withdrawn with

the remaining 11 valid
applications completed by the
HQG RI WKH ¢QDQFLDO \HDU
11 completed applications
were processed and
completed within an average
R GD\V

&RPPLVVLRQHUTV 20FH HYHU\

year.

« releases documents that

are not otherwise exempt to

applicants.

7KH



Plan for the future

Integrated City of Belmont's Integrated Planning
planning and and Reporting Framework
reporting

How we plan and report

The Strategic Community Plan
and Corporate Business Plan
are part of the Integrated
Planning and Reporting
Framework and are legislated
requirements of Local
Governments.

3
g
3
<
)
3
@
>
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The City’s Strategic
Community Plan 2020-2040
ZDV ¢(¢UVW DGRSWHG E\ &RXQFLO

RQ $SULO $ PLQRU
review was completed in
2022.

The City’s Corporate Business
Plan 2023-2027 was adopted
by Council on 27 June 2023.

This year the City completed

its major review of the
Strategic Community Plan,

and updated the Corporate
Business Plan. These reviewed
and updated documents, the
Strategic Community Plan
2024-2034 and Corporate
%XVLQHVYV 30DQ
were adopted by Council at

the Ordinary Council Meeting
on 25 June 2024, and the new
GRFXPHQWY WDNH HNHFW DV
26 June 2024.

pnnuel Repg, '

T, W09
O Mance Repo™
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Strategic plans

Strategic Community Plan 2020-2040

The City’s Strategic Community Plan 2020-
2040 presents the vision and aspirations for
the future of our community. It sets out the
key strategies required to achieve these and
provides the City, and others, with a clear
understanding of what matters most to the
community and guides the way in which the

City plans for the future and delivers services.

Informing plans

Corporate Business Plan 2023-2027

The Corporate Business Plan guides the
implementation of our Strategic Community
Plan. The Corporate Business Plan translates
the aspirations and strategies of the Strategic
Community Plan into operational priorities
and indicates how they will be resourced over
a four-year period. The Corporate Business
Plan articulates how the Strategic Community
Plan will be delivered through services, capital
works, projects and activities.

The City’s Integrated Planning and Reporting Framework includes informing plans that address

.QDQFLDO DQG QRQ ¢(QDQFLDO UHVRXUFHVY UHTXLUHG RYHU WKH OLIH RI W
were in place for the year ended 30 June 2024:

Workforce Plan Long Term Financial Plan

The City’s Workforce Plan
2023-2026 shapes the
direction of how the City

will build workforce and
organisational capacity and
capability. The plan has
been designed to ensure the
right people — those with

the skills and capabilities

in the right numbers, in the
right place and at the right
time to deliver organisational
objectives. This is balanced
with the need to attract and
retain the right people in a
competitive labour market.

The Long-Term Financial
Plan has been developed as
part of the City’s ongoing
(QDQFLDO SODQQLQJ WRmekQcurkebtldnd future
FRQWLQXHG ORQJ WH U ReeglQdan@té afirise return
sustainability while providing
VXOFLHQW IXQGLQJ IR Wy an Asset Management
future workforce, services,
and infrastructure to the
necessary — are available community.

Asset Management Plans
The City plans for the

management of its assets

on investment. Directed
Strategy, Asset Management

of service and operational
requirements for the various
classes of assets. AMPs also
highlight the processes used
to manage the assets and
how assets will be sustainably
renewed, upgraded or
disposed of at the most
appropriate standard, time,
place and cost. The AMPs feed

LQWR WKH ORQJ WHUP ¢QDC

plan and associated capital
works program.

HNHFWLYH DQG VXVWDLQDE

30DQV $03V GH¢QH WKH O



Performance Reporting on corporate goals

The City monitors performance and reports on progress to ensure the success of the Strategic
Community Plan and the Corporate Business Plan.

Performance Reporting

During 2023-24, the City monitored and reported on the progress of actions listed in the Corporate
Business Plan. In addition, a number of other performance related reports were submitted to Council
Committees and Council during 2023-24.

Below are key achievements and progress during 2023-24 against the plans, and priorities for the
IXWXUH 7KHUH DUH ¢YH VHFWLRQV UHSUHVHQWLQJ WKH *RDO $UHDV RI W

Liveable Belmont

We are vibrant, desirable and liveable.

Connected Belmont

We can all get to where we want to go.

Natural Belmont

We care for and enjoy our environment.

22



Goal 1: Liveable Belmont /ﬁk

We are vibrant, desirable and liveable.

Outcome Strategies
Our neighbourhoods are 1.1 Respect, protect and celebrate our shared living histories
well serviced by local and embrace our heritage

activity centres which are

exciting and attractive. 1.2 Plan and deliver vibrant, attractive, safe and economically

sustainable activity centres
All ages can live, work and

play in the City. 1.3  Ensure activity centres have a thriving economy
Business is attracted to 1.4 Attract public and private investment and businesses to
the City, creating more our City and support the retention, growth and prosperity
local jobs. of our local businesses

1.5 Encourage and educate the community to embrace
sustainable and healthy lifestyles

Corporate Business Plan Achievements 2023-24

« Endorsement of The First Nations Strategy by Council for public comment
¢ Adoption of Activity Centre Planning Strategy

» Multicultural Strategy continued to be delivered, with Australian English classes, employment
support programs, multicultural playgroups and Food Safari’s held throughout the year

» Recreation Strategy implemented, including delivering the Tomato Lake playground launch,
completion of the synthetic bowling greens project and commencement of the Garvey Park trall
development plan

¢ Age Friendly Belmont Plan delivered a four-week online course titled, 'Dementia - Meaning of
Life', a four week '‘Computer Basics for Seniors' at the Ruth Faulkner Library, the successful
implementation of the 2023 Seniors Week program including the Senior's Dance held in
partnership with The Western Social Club

« Economic Development Strategy launched, delivering business networking events, small
business workshops, cultural awareness for businesses workshops, Jobs Fair/Expo, and the
launch of 31st Belmont and Western Australian Small Business Awards on 26 June

e The Aboriginal Advisory Group, Age-Friendly Advisory Group, Belmont Business Advisory
Group, Cultural Diversity Advisory Group and Access & Inclusion Focus Group continued to
meet throughout the year

» Extension and enhancement of the City’'s CCTV network at Cracknell Park, Belmont Village,
Belvidere Street/Gardiner Street junction, The Y on Abernethy Road, St Augustine Catholic
Church, Belmont Ave (East Street) and at Belmont Oasis

« Ongoing provision of security appraisals for the community
* Youth Week event delivered

¢ Implementation of ‘The Stories that Unite Us’ program, designed to promote intergenerational
and intercultural connections through the sharing of stories and addressing ageism in the
community

« Nutrition education workshops and CountUsIn programs delivered throughout the year

¢ The Belmont Museum’s Rewind Festival provided 40 programs and events, allowing the
community to experience unique historical perspectives




Projects Looking Forward

« Development of a new Community Safety Strategy.
« Development of a new Public Health Plan.

* Review and update the Safer Communities Plan, Recreation Strategy, Multicultural Strategy,
Youth Strategy and Access and Inclusion Plan.




Goal 2: Connected Belmont Qo

We can all get to where we want to go.

Outcome Strategies
People of all abilities are able to move freely, safely 2.1 Design our City so that it is
and sustainably around the City. accessible by people of all

) . ages and abilities
People and goods are able to move sustainably in and

out of the City. 2.2  Make our City more

. ) ) enjoyable, connected and safe
The City’s bike paths are connected and easy to ride for walking and cycling
on.

o _ o JYDFLOLWDWH D VDIH HOFLH
The City is a leader in transportation with advanced reliable transport network
WUDOF SODQQLQJ WKDW PD[LPLVHYV HOFLHQF\ RI FXUUHQW
infrastructure and encourages transport alternatives. 2.4 Promote alternative forms of

transport

Supports the City’s liveability by enabling seamless
connections between people and places.

Corporate Business Plan Achievements 2023-24

* The International Day of Persons with Disabilities was implemented successfully in December
2023 in partnership with the Belmont Forum and Valued Lives

¢ Auslan lessons held at the City's Harmony Week Festival

» All Abilities Dance program continued in partnership with Para Dance WA and Ballroom Fit

e Access and Inclusion Advisory Group meetings held throughout the year

« Belmont Your Move Map updated in consultation with the Department of Transport

Projects Looking Forward

« Development of a new Road Safety Management Plan

* Review the Sustainable Transport Plan




Goal 3: Natural Belmont @'

We care for and enjoy our environment.

Outcome Strategies

Belmont has an abundance of natural 3.1 Protect and enhance our natural environment
features including the river, parks and
gardens which are colourful and focus
on nature. 33

3.2 Improve our river and waterways

Keep our City clean

Tree lined streets create shade, 34
facilitate walking and riding and give ' " t
KHDOWK DQG HQYLURQPHQWDO EHSnﬂ?;WX/men

B3URPRWH HQHUJ\ DQG ZDWHU HOFLHQF'
renewable energy sources and reduce

emissions and waste

Provide green spaces for recreation, relaxation

Highly rated as place to live.

Planning and development will have a

focus on sustainability. 3.6  Encourage sustainable development to guide

built form

Corporate Business Plan Achievements 2023-24

« Adoption of the Environment and Sustainability Strategy 2023-2033
« Three bin ‘FOGO’ system implementation — Phase One completed
« Implementation of the Streetscape Enhancement Strategy and Public Open Space Strategy

« Maintained gold level Waterwise accreditation and reduced overall water use through approved
maintenance practices

¢ Continued to implement the Urban Forest Strategy, with over 3000 trees planted
* Adoption of Tree Preservation Order Council Policy

« 15 Design Review Panels held throughout the year

Projects Looking Forward

¢ Plan ahead for future foreshore stabilisation projects
* Review and update the Urban Forest Strategy and Canopy Plan
¢ Finalise the transition to the FOGO three bin system

* Review the Storm Water Management Plan




Goal 4: Creative Belmont

We are innovative, creative and progressive.

Outcome Strategies
There is a strong focus on arts and culture in the City. 4.1 Promote the growth of arts
. . . and culture
The City works with local schools and businesses to
run programs. 4.2 Embrace technology,
. ) _ ) _ _ creativity and innovation to
There is a wide variety of public art in the City. solve complex problems and

The City runs awards programs for arts and [ L EAE

innovation. 4.3  Support and collaborate with

Innovative businesses look to Belmont as a preferred local schools and businesses

location close to the airport and with links to
universities.

Corporate Business Plan Achievements 2023-24

« The Ruth Faulkner Library and Belmont Museum delivered an extensive range of educational
programs and special activities each month

¢ Launch of the Belmont Museum ‘Harmonious’ exhibition in conjunction with the Rewind Festival
and Heritage month

e The 2023 City of Belmont Art Awards were held in the Glasshouse, with works exhibited over a
two-week period

« Community Markets at the Glasshouse were delivered throughout the year
« Digital Strategy reviewed and incorporated into the Strategic IT Plan
« Drafting of the Arts and Culture Strategy and Public Art Management Plan

« Delivery of the Imaginarium, Harmony Week Festival and other community events including
the 125th anniversary party attracting over 5000 attendees

« Sister City student delegation sent to Adachi, Japan

» Belmont Hub, Wright Street entry ‘Acknowledgement of Country' Public Art project Stage One
completed

Projects Looking Forward

* Finalise the Arts and Culture Strategy
¢ Finalise the Public Art Management Plan

» Conduct a three-year trial and evaluation of an expanded Your Neighbour Grant Program




Goal 5: Responsible Belmont

We are inclusive, engaging and act with integrity.

The community is 5.1 Support collaboration and partnerships to deliver key

actively involved in outcomes for our City

decision making through

engagement. 0ODQDJH WKH &LW\fV DVVHWV DQG (QDQFLDO Ul
responsible manner and provide the best possible services

Engagement is a part of for the community

everything the City does. . ) o ) _
5.3 Invest in services and facilities for our growing community

There are housing

opportunities for $QYRFDWH DQG SURYLGH IRU DNRUGDEOH DQG
everyone. choices

The community has a high 5.5 Engage and consult the community in decision-making

N OISl "HOLYHU HNHFWLYH IDLU DQG WUDQVSDUHQW
and the City of Belmont. GHFLVLRQ PDNLQJ UHAHFWLYH RI FRPPXQLW\ (
The City is well governed aspirations

and acts with the highest 5.7 Engage in strategic planning and implement innovative

e iz solutions to manage growth in our City

Corporate Business Plan Achievements 2023-24

« Completed a major review of the Strategic Community Plan

* Adoption of the Strategic Community Plan 2024-2034

e $GRSWLRQ RI WKH &RUSRUDWH %XVLQHVV 30DQ +

« Adoption of the Engagement Strategy and Stakeholder and Advocacy Plan

« Adoption of the Strategic IT Plan

* Reviewed the Leadership Strategy

* Reviewed all Asset Management Plans

¢ City’s Workforce Plan reviewed

¢ Volunteer Program continues to be successfully implemented

. 6WDNHKROGHU PHHWLQJV KHOG WKURXJKRXW WKH \HDU

¢ Two Community Contribution Fund rounds delivered

Projects Looking Forward

« Development of a new Leadership Strategy

* Major review of the Asset Management Strategy

* Major review of the Risk Management Framework
» Develop an Engagement Charter

¢ Introduce SmoothRates




Continuous Improvement

The City is committed to
continuous improvement and
utilises the Australian Business
Excellence Framework
(ABEF) and ISO audit and
accreditation process as

tools to drive continuous
improvement. ABEF has

been incorporated into the
City of Belmont's Integrated
Planning and Reporting
Framework to identify and
drive improvement in business
practice and performance.
Executives, Managers and

RWKHU VWDRN DUH WUD L &PRstanty: wk H

principles of the ABEF.

Community and

The City of Belmont aims Stakeholder

to provide quality local Feedback

government services and has

EHHQ LQWHUQDWLRQ D O &he Eityiswwomniited to

in 1ISO 9001 for Quality, ISO keeping our community
14001 for Environment and informed and seeking regular

ISO 45001 for Occupational feedback on our projects,
Health and Safety. programs and services. We

XVH D QXPEHU RI GLNHUHQ
The City actively seeks methods to understand
DQG XVHV LWV FHUWL ¢ FédMhuRiy stitnent and
ensure that its processes are how the City has progressed
delivering the right outcomes towards achieving our vision
for the community and and strategic objectives.
delivering those outcomes These include surveys,
workshops, face-to-face
engagement and a range of
online tools.



Executive management
and their responsibilities

(as at 30 June 2024)

Stuart Downing
John Christie . Director Corporate
&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU and Governance

Responsible for: Responsible for:

e Overall responsibility for the e Governance, Strategy and Risk
management of Council's operations « Finance
* People and Culture + Information Technology

* Internal Audit Public Relations and Stakeholder
« Work, Health and Safety Engagement

Wilmot Loh Mario Murphy
Director Development Director Infrastructure
and Communities Services

IURP $XIXVW (from 6 November 2023)

Responsible for: Responsible for:

Economic and Community Development * Works
Planning Services * Parks, Leisure and Environment
Safer Communities » Design, Assets and Development
Library, Culture and Place City Projects

City Facilities and Property




Salary ranges

The number of employees of the Council, in bands of $10,000, entitled to an annual salary of
$130,000 or more is as follows.

Salary range 2024 2023 2022 2021
130,000 - 139,999 4 5 7
140,000 — 149,999 5 2 1
150,000 — 159,999 2 1 0
160,000 — 169,999 0 4 8
170,000 — 179,999 S 4 4
+ 5 0 1
190,000 — 199,999 1 1 3
200,000 — 209,999 4 4 0
210,000 — 219,999 2 0 0
220,000 — 229,999 0 0 1
230,000 — 239,999 0 1 0
240,000 — 249,999 1 0 0
250,000 — 259,999 0 0 1
260,000 — 269,999 0 1 0
270,000 — 279,999 0 0 0
+ 0 0 0
290,000 — 299,999 0 0 0
300,000 — 399,999 0 0 0
310,000 — 319,999 0 0 0
320,000 — 329,999 1 1 1

Total 28 24 22 23




Membership of committees

Committee membership as at 30 June 2024

Note: The Standing Committee (Community Vision) and Standing Committee (Environmental) were

DEROLVKHG ZLWK HNHFW IURP 2FWREHU DV &RNQBHY RAXWLRQ\PDGH E
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE STANDING COMMITTEE

* Mayor Robert Rossi* (AUDIT AND RISK)

¢ Cr Deborah Sessions — Deputy Mayor** * Cr Christopher Kulczycki*

* CrJenny Davis » Cr George Sekulla**

» Cr Christopher Kulczycki + OD\RU 5REHUW 5RVVL ([ 20FLR

» Cr Phil Marks » CrJenny Davis

e Cr Janet Powell » Cr Bernie Ryan

» Cr Bernie Ryan * Ms Shona Zulsdorf — Independent Member

* Cr George Sekulla
« Cr Vijay

* Presiding Member
hid Deputy Presiding Member



Attendance at Council and Committee
meetings

(1 July 2023 — 30 June 2024)

Ordinary Special Annual / Agenda Information
Council Council Special %ULH¢QJ Forum/
Meeting Meeting Electors’ Forum Special

Meeting Information
Forum

No. of Meetings 2 2 19
Mayor Rossi* 10 2 2 10 17
Cr Sessions 11 2 1 11 17
Cr Carter # 6 1 0 5 9
Cr Davis 2 1 7 12
Cr Kulczycki* 1 2 13
Cr Marks*# 10 2 2 11 19
Cr Powell~ 1 0 0 0 0
Cr Ryan 11 2 2 11 19
Cr Sekulla 11 2 1 10 19
Cr Vijay* 4 1 0 5 3
&U :RON 3 1 0 3 5

Standing Standing Standing Executive
Committee Committee Committee Committee
(Environmental) (Audit & Risk) (Community
Vision)

No. of Meetings

Mayor Rossi* 1:0 4 MM 1:0 2 | M*M
Cr Sessions 1 M 0 M 1:0 1M
Cr Carter * 1:0 0:M 1 M 2 OM
Cr Davis 0 1 MM 0 1 MM
Cr Kulczycki* 0 3 M 0 1:M
Cr Marks*# 1 M 1 M¥* 1 M 1 MM
Cr Powell~ 0 0 0 0 M
Cr Ryan 1 M 3 PIM 1 M 1:M
Cr Sekulla 0 3 M 1 M 2 ¢ M*M
Cr Vijay* 0 0 0 0: M
&U :RON 1 M¥* 0 0 1 M

n Resigned March 2024 # Mayor to October 2023

M Member Oct 23-Oct 25 * Term started October 2023

M#kx Member Oct 21-Oct 23 ** Term ended October 2023

P Committee Member Proxy ~ Elected June 2024

o Observer



Elected Member professional development

Council Policy 21 —  Elected Member Professional Development and Authorised Travel provides

each Elected Member with an allocation of $5,000 per year during their four-year term to cover

professional development costs. This allocation can be utilised at any point during their term,

provided that total professional development costs do not exceed $20,000 over the four-year term

RI ROFH ([SHQVHV DVVRFLDWHG ZLWK OHJLVODWHG PDQGDWRU\ WUDLQLQJ
Government Week event are excluded from the $20,000 allocation.

Councillor Election 4YR Term Expenditure Allocation Mandatory
Term Allocation 1/7/2023- Remaining Training
Balance 30/6/2024 as at Expenses
remaining 30/6/2024 2023-24
as at
1/7/2023
Cr Carter* Oct 2021 — 16,631 0 0 0
Oct 2025
Cr Davis Oct 2021 — 13,527 5,262 0
Oct 2025
Cr Marks* Oct 2023 — 0 20,000 0
Oct 2027
Mayor Rossi* Oct 2023 — 19,936 0 20,000 0
Oct 2027
Cr Ryan Oct 2021 — 20,000 150 0
Oct 2025
Cr Sekulla Oct 2021 — 0 0
Oct 2025
Cr Sessions Oct 2021 — 12,439 4,291 0
Oct 2025
&U :RON Oct 2019 — 20,000 0 0 0
Oct 2023
Cr Kulczycki* Oct 2023 - 0 10,063 9,937 2,460
Oct 2025
Cr Vijay* Oct 2023 - 0 0 20,000 0
Oct 2025
Cr Powell~ Jun 2024 - 0 0 6,666 0
Oct 2025
Total 127,059 22,769 115,543 2,460

* "Resigned March 2024, * Term started October 2023, ** Term Ended October 2023, ~ Elected June 2024



Payments to each Elected Member

Elected Member Remuneration

Fees, expenses and allowances paid or reimbursed to Elected Members. Act:al
Mayoral Local Government Allowance (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024) 64,452
Deputy Mayoral Local Government Allowance (1 July 2023 to 22 October 2023)

Annual Meeting Attendance Fees (1 July 2023 to 22 October 2023) 10,121
Mayor Meeting Attendance Fees (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024) 34,121
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 30

119,392

Deputy Mayor - Cr Sessions

Deputy Mayoral Local Government Allowance (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024) 16,113
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees 32,960
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 935
53,508
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees (1 July 2023 to 29 February 2024) 22,001
Information & Communications Allowance (1 July 2023 to 29 February 2024) 2,336
24,337
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees 32,960
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 199
36,659
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024) 22,750
Information & Communications Allowance 2,416
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 144
25,310
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Elected Member Remuneration

Actual
Fees, expenses and allowances paid or reimbursed to elected members.

Cr Marks

Mayoral Local Government Allowance (1 July 2023 to 22 October 2023)

Mayor Meeting Attendance Fees (1 July 2023 to 22 October 2023)

Annual Meeting Attendance Fees (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024) 22,750
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 52
70,155
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees 32,960
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
Sundry Expense Reimbursement 49
36,509
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees 32,960
Information & Communications Allowance 3,500
36,460

Cr Vijay (23 October 2023 to 30 June 2024)

Annual Meeting Attendance Fees 22,750
Information & Communications Allowance 2,416
25,166
Annual Meeting Attendance Fees (1 July 2023 to 22 October 2023) 10,121
Information & Communications Allowance 1,075
11,196
Total Elected Member Fees, Allowances and Expenses 438,255

w

6



Capital grants for the renewal of assets

Income from capital grants, subsidies and 2024 2023 2022
contributions and capital grants, subsidies Actual Actual Actual
and contributions

$ $ $
Law, order and public safety 0 139,095 0
Community amenities 52,955 59,116
Recreation and culture 100,579 42,025
Transport 1,999,401 1,322,304 1,119,706
Economic services 19,067 162,544 1,993,756
Other property and services 205,000 0

2,379,831 2,571,078 3,214,603




Financial report
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Content Overview
The City of Belmont conducts the operations of a local government with the following community vision:
Belmont - The City of Opportunity

Our Vision is to be home to a diverse and harmonious community, thriving from the opportunities of our
unique, riverside City.

Principal place of business:
215 Wright Street
Cloverdale WA 6105



Financial Report
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Local Government Act 1995

Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996

Statement by Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying financial report of the City of Belmont has been prepared in compliance with the provisions
of the Local Government Act 1995 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions

for the reporting period ended 30 June 2024 and the financial position as at 30 June 2024.

At the date of signing this statement the particulars included in the financial report are not misleading or
inaccurate.

Signed on the 25 day of November 2024

Chief Executive  Officer

John Christie



Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Revenue

Rates

Grants, subsidies and contributions
Fees and charges

Interest revenue

Other revenue

Expenses

Employee costs
Materials and contracts
Utility charges
Depreciation

Finance costs
Insurance

Other expenditure

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions
Profit on asset disposals
Loss on asset disposals

Fair value adjustments to financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss

Net result for the period

Other comprehensive income for the period

Iltems that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit

or loss
Changes in asset revaluation surplus

Total other comprehensive income for the
period

Total comprehensive income for the
period

Note

28,2a
2a
2a
2a
2a

2b

10
2b

2b

2a

4b

27b

17

2024 2024 2023
Actual Budget Actual

$ $ $
56,821,093 56,523,628 53,168,844
2,687,747 1,352,213 3,228,805
10,603,344 9,431,466 9,298,507
5,498,868 3,212,602 3,108,718
1,637,147 652,442 1,364,996
77,248,199 71,172,351 70,169,870

(26,371,607)
(33,568,344)

(27,827,054)
(31,435,088)

(23,126,544)
(27,231,232)

(2,329,974) (1,734,423) (1,530,315)

(12,953,278) (11,400,000) (11,423,543)
(531,283) (544,195) (528,441)
(722,861) (853,263) (811,990)

(1,622,528) (1,387,515) (1,702,211)

(78,099,875) (75,181,538) (66,354,276)
(851,676) (4,009,187) 3,815,594
2,379,832 2,152,794 2,571,078
27,368 145,298 28,535

(744,290) = (2,149,490)
4,203 = 9,215
1,667,113 2,298,092 459,338
815,437 (1,711,095) 4,274,932

= = 46,497,340

= = 46,497,340

815,437 (1,711,095) 50,772,272

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Position
as at 30 June 2024

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Inventories

Contract assets

Other assets

Total current assets

Non-current assets

Trade and other receivables
Other financial assets
Property, plant and equipment
Infrastructure

Right of use assets

Intangible assets

Total non-current assets

Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Borrowings

Employee related provisions
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Other liabilities

Lease liabilities

Borrowings

Employee related provisions
Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Retained surplus
Reserve accounts
Revaluation surplus
Total equity

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Note

4b

1la
12

13
14
11b
15
16

14
11b
15
16

31
17

2024 2023
$ $
23,433,621 12,671,468
24,999,919 24,316,200
53,024,893 33,253,360
262,339 246,770
37,717 -
3,483,614 2,533,328
105,242,103 73,021,126
515,831 457,172
3,486,733 31,226,126
342,414,320 343,924,427
291,434,830 291,318,360
158,975 275,307
236,828 145,828
638,247,517 667,347,220
743,489,620 740,368,346
7,630,356 5,743,434
1,835,550 1,400,503
105,428 118,561
641,884 618,111
4,987,946 4,428,402
15,201,164 12,309,011
151,558 165,134
57,042 162,469
10,976,367 11,618,252
541,262 366,690
11,726,229 12,312,545
26,927,393 24,621,556
716,562,227 715,746,790
195,472,405 202,240,918
69,265,327 61,681,377
451,824,495 451,824,495
716,562,227 715,746,790
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note

Cash flows from operating activities
Rates

Grants, subsidies and contributions
Fees and charges

Interest revenue

Goods and services tax received
Other revenue

Employee costs

Materials and contracts
Utility charges

Finance costs

Insurance paid

Goods and services tax paid
Other expenditure

Net cash provided by operating
activities 18b

Cash flows from investing activities

Payments for purchase of property, plant & equipment
Payments for construction of infrastructure

Payments for intangible assets 12
Capital grants, subsidies and contributions

Proceeds from financial assets at amortised cost

Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment

Net cash (used in) investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of borrowings 30a
Payments for principal portion of lease
liabilities 30c

Net cash (used in) financing activities
Net increase /(decrease) in cash held

Cash at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of
the year 18a

2024 2024 2023
Actual Budget Actual

$ $ $
56,784,697 56,523,628 53,069,237
2,674,717 1,288,228 2,374,596
10,536,127 9,431,466 9,298,507
5,498,868 3,212,602 3,108,718
4,270,594 - 3,488,170
1,677,024 652,442 1,596,152
81,442,027 71,108,366 72,935,380

(25,663,318)
(32,815,633)

(27,827,054)
(31,435,088)

(23,160,779)
(29,006,171)

(2,329,974) (1,734,423) (1,530,315)
(531,283) (544,195) (528,441)
(722,861) (853,263) (811,990)

(4,514,849) - (3,555,392)

(1,688,278) (1,387,515) (1,623,711)

(68,266,196) (63,781,538) (60,216,799)
13,175,831 7,326,828 12,718,581

(4,038,462) (4,270,740) (2,108,638)

(8,743,245) (9,482,917) (7,899,265)
(166,533) - (39,000)
2,602,175 2,152,794 2,289,330
7,972,063 - (3,206,206)

696,997 1,083,340 850,259

(1,677,005) (10,517,523) (10,113,520)
(618,112) (618,110) (595,215)
(118,561) (67,308) (116,118)
(736,673) (685,418) (711,333)

10,762,153 (3,876,113) 1,893,728
12,671,468 15,328,045 10,777,740
23,433,621 11,451,932 12,671,468

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Financial Activity
for the year ended 30 June 2024

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Revenue from operating activities
General rates

Rates excluding general rates
Grants, subsidies and contributions
Fees and charges

Interest revenue

Other revenue

Profit on asset disposals

Fair value adjustments to financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss

Expenditure from operating activities
Employee costs

Materials and contracts

Utility charges

Depreciation

Finance costs

Insurance

Other expenditure

Loss on asset disposals

Non-cash amounts excluded from operating activities
Amount attributable to operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Inflows from investing activities

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions
Proceeds from disposal of assets

Outflows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase and construction of infrastructure
Payments for intangible assets

Non-cash amounts excluded from investing activities

Amount attributable to investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Inflows from financing activities
Transfers from reserve accounts

Outflows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings

Payments for principal portion of lease liabilities
Transfers to reserve accounts

Amount attributable to financing activities

MOVEMENT IN SURPLUS OR DEFICIT
Surplus or deficit at the start of the financial year
Amount attributable to operating activities
Amount attributable to investing activities
Amount attributable to financing activities
Surplus/(deficit) after imposition of general rates

This statement is to be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Note

28
28

4b

29

12

29

31

30a
30c
31

29

29

2024 2024 2023
Actual Budget Actual
$ $ $
42,251,503 42,188,900 39,946,826
14,569,590 14,334,728 13,222,018
2,687,747 1,352,213 3,228,805
10,603,344 9,431,466 9,298,507
5,498,868 3,212,602 3,108,718
1,637,147 652,442 1,364,996
27,368 145,298 28,535
4,203 - 9,215
77,279,770 71,317,649 70,207,620

(26,371,607)
(33,568,344)

(27,827,054)
(31,345,088)

(23,126,544)
(27,231,232)

(2,329,974) (1,734,423) (1,530,315)
(12,953,278) (11,400,000) (11,423,543)
(531,283) (544,195) (528,441)
(722,861) (853,263) (811,990)
(1,622,528) (1,387,515) (1,702,211)
(744,290) = (2,149,490)
(78,844,165) (75,091,538) (68,503,766)
13,599,408 11,319,524 12,820,728
12,035,013 7,545,635 14,524,582
2,379,832 2,152,794 2,571,078
696,997 1,083,340 850,259
3,076,829 3,236,134 3,421,337
(4,038,462) (4,270,740) (1,495,112)
(8,743,245) (9,482,917) (8,651,885)
(166,533) = (39,000)
(12,948,240) (13,753,657) (10,185,997)
= = 139,096
(9,871,411) (10,517,523) (6,625,564)
5,874,818 3,644,575 2,918,262
5,874,818 3,644,575 2,918,262
(618,112) (618,110) (595,215)
(118,561) (67,308) (116,118)
(13,458,768) (6,956,761) (10,377,025)
(14,195,441) (7,642,179) (11,088,358)
(8,320,623) (3,997,604) (8,170,096)
11,952,642 7,559,492 12,223,720
12,035,013 7,455,635 14,524,582
(9,871,411) (10,517,523) (6,625,564)
(8,320,623) (3,997,604) (8,170,096)
5,795,621 500,000 11,952,642
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Index of notes to the Financial Report

Note 1 Basis of preparation 47
Note 2 Revenue and expenses

Note 3 Cash and cash equivalents 51
Note 4 Other financial assets 52
Note 5 Trade and other receivables 54
Note 6 Inventories 56
Note 7 Other assets 57
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The financial report of the City of Belmont, a Class 1 local government,
comprises general purpose financial statements which have been
prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 and

accompanying regulations.

Local Government Act 1995 requirements

Section 6.4(2) of the Local Government Act 1995, read with the Local
Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 prescribe that the
financial report be prepared in accordance with the Local Government Act
1995 and, to the extent that they are not inconsistent with the Act, the
Australian  Accounting Standards. The Australian Accounting Standards
(as they apply to local governments and not-for-profit  entities) and
Interpretations of the Australian Accounting Standards Board were
applied where no inconsistencies exist.

The Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 specify
that vested land is a right-of-use asset to be measured at cost, and is
considered a zero cost concessionary lease. All right-of-use assets under
zero cost concessionary leases are measured at zero cost rather than at
fair value, except for vested improvements on concessionary land leases
such as roads, buildings or other infrastructure  which continue to be
reported at fair value, as opposed to the vested land which is measured
at zero cost. The measurement of vested improvements at fair value is a
departure from AASB 16 which would have required the City to measure
any vested improvements at zero cost.

The Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations 1996 provide
that:

®* land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment; or

® infrastructure; or

® vested improvements that the local government controls;
and measured at reportable value, are only required to be revalued every
five years. Revaluing these non-financial assets every five years is a
departure from AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment , which would
have required the City to assess at each reporting date whether the
carrying amount of the above mentioned non-financial assets materially
differs from their fair value and, if so, revalue the class of non-financial
assets.

Accounting policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this
financial report have been consistently applied unless stated otherwise.
Except for cash flow and rate setting information, the financial report
has been prepared on the accrual basis and is based on historical costs,
modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected
non-current  assets, financial assets and liabilities.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of a financial report in conformity with Australian
Accounting  Standards requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that effect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances; the results of which form the basis of making
the judgements about carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

As with all estimates, the use of different assumptions could lead to
material changes in the amounts reported in the financial report.

The following are estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities  within the next financial year and further information on their
nature and impact can be found in the relevant note:

®  Fair value measurement of assets carried at reportable value

including:

®  Property, plant and equipment - note 8

® Infrastructure - note 9

® Expected credit losses on financial assets - note 5

® Impairment losses of non-financial assets - note 8 and 9

® Estimated useful life of intangible assets - note 10

® Measurement of employee benefits - note 16
Fair value hierarchy information can be found in note 26.

The local government reporting entity

All funds through which the City controls resources to carry on its
functions have been included in the financial statements forming part
of this financial report.

All monies held in the Trust Fund are excluded from the financial
statements. A separate statement of those monies appears at Note 32
of the financial report.

Initial application of accounting standards
During the current year, the following new or revised Australian
Accounting Standards and Interpretations were applied for the first time.
® AASB 2021-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
- Disclosure of Accounting Policies or Definition of Accounting
Estimates
This standard resulted in terminology changes relating to material

accounting  policies (formerly referred to as significant accounting

policies).

New accounting standards for application in future years

The following new accounting standards will have application to local

government in future years:
® AASB 2014-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards-

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture

® AASB 2020-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -
Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

® AASB 2021-7c Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
- Effective Date of Amendments to AASB 10 and AASB 128 and

[deferred  AASB 10 and AASB 128
amendments in AASB 2014-10 apply]

® AASB 2022-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -
Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

® AASB 2022-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -
Non-current  Liabilities with Covenants

editorial ~ Corrections

These amendments are not expected to have any material impact on the
financial report on initial application.
® AASB 2022-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
-Fair Value Measurement of Non-Financial Assets of Not-for-Profit
Public Sector Entities

These amendments may result in changes to the fair value of non-
financial assets. The impact is yet to be quantified.
® AASB 2023-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards -
Supplier Finance Arrangements

These amendments may result in additional disclosures in the case of
applicable finance arrangements.
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Note 2. Revenue and expenses

(@) Revenue

Contracts with customers
Recognition of revenue is dependent on the source of revenue and the associated terms and conditions
associated with each source of revenue and recognised as follows:

Revenue
category

Grants,
subsidies or
contributions

Fees and
charges -
licences,
registrations,
approvals

Fees and
charges -
waste
management
entry fees

Fees and
charges -
airport

landing
charges

Fees and
charges - sale
of stock

Other
revenue -
private works

Nature of
goods and
services

Community
events, minor
facilities,
research, design,
planning
evaluation and
services

Building,

planning,
development and
animal
management.

Waste treatment,
recycling and

disposal service
at disposal sites

Permission to use
facilites and
runway

Aviation fuel,
kiosk and visitor
centre stock

Contracted
private
works

When
obligations

typically
satisfied

Over time

Single point
time

Single point
time

Single point
time

Single point i

time

Single point
time

Payment
terms

Fixed terms
transfer of
funds based
on agreed
milestones
and reporting

Full payment
prior to issue

Payment in
advance at
gate or on
normal
trading terms
if credit
provided

Monthly in
arrears

In full in
advance, on
15 day credit

Monthly in
arrears

Returns/
refunds/
warranties

Contract obligation
if project not
complete

None

None

None

Refund for faulty
goods

None

Consideration from contracts with customers is included in the transaction price.

Timing of revenue
recognition

Output method
based on project
milestones and/or
completion date
matched to
performance
obligations

On payment and
issue of the licence,
registration or
approval

On entry to facility

On landing/departure
event

At point of sale

At point of service



Notes to the Financial Statements
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Note 2. Revenue and expenses

(@) Revenue (continued)

Revenue Recognition

(continued)

Revenue recognised during the year under each basis of recognition by nature of goods or services is

provided in the table below:

Contracts with

Capital grant/

Statutory

Nature customers contributions Requirements Other Total
For the year ended 30 June 2024
Rates - - 56,821,093 - 56,821,093
Grants, subsidies and
contributions 441,678 - - 2,246,069 2,687,747
Fees and charges 1,762,985 - 8,565,263 275,096 10,603,344
Interest revenue - - 312,866 5,186,002 5,498,868
Other revenue 1,246,890 - - 390,257 1,637,147
Capital grants, subsidies
and contributions - 2,379,832 - - 2,379,832
Total 3,451,553 2,379,832 65,699,222 8,097,424 79,628,031
For the year ended 30 June 2023
Rates - - 53,168,844 - 53,168,844
Grants, subsidies and
contributions 666,093 - - 2,562,712 3,228,805
Fees and charges 1,591,176 - 7,497,359 209,972 9,298,507
Interest revenue - - 261,674 2,847,044 3,108,718
Other revenue 756,830 — - 608,166 1,364,996
Capital grants, subsidies
and contributions - 2,571,078 - - 2,571,078
Total 3,014,099 2,571,078 60,927,877 6,227,894 72,740,948
2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
Assets and services acquired below fair value
Contributed assets - 139,096
- 139,096
Interest revenue
Interest on reserve account funds 2,881,939 1,472,387
Rate overdue interest 151,371 114,542
Rate instalment interest 150,765 140,345
Pensioner Deferred Interest 10,730 6,787
Other interest revenue 2,304,063 1,374,657
Total interest earnings 5,498,868 3,108,718
Fees and charges relating to rates receivable
Charges on instalment plan 108,760 108,040

The 2024 original budget estimate in relation to charges on instalment plans was $110,000.
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Note 2. Revenue and expenses (continued)

(b) Expenses

Materials and contracts

Auditors remuneration

- Audit of the annual financial report
- Other services

Total Auditors remuneration

Employee costs
Employee benefit costs
Other employee costs
Finance costs

Interest and financial charges paid/payable for lease liabilities and
financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss

Other expenditure

Impairment losses on trade receivables
Sundry expenses

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
74,847 69,850
3,400 4,140
78,247 73,990
25,784,084 22,654,342
587,523 472,202
26,371,607 23,126,544
531,283 520,951
531,283 520,951
(67,233) 78,500
1,689,761 1,623,711
1,622,528 1,702,211
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Note 3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023
Note $ $

Cash at bank and on hand 10,980,523 5,546,464

Term deposits 12,453,098 7,125,004

Total cash and cash equivalents 18a 23,433,621 12,671,468
Held as

- Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents 9,500,744 2,732,417

- Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18a 13,932,877 9,939,051

23,433,621 12,671,468

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, cash at bank, deposits available on demand with banks and
other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Bank overdrafts are reported as short term borrowings in current liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Term deposits are presented as cash equivalents if they have a maturity of three months or less from the date
of acquisition and are repayable with 24 hours notice with no loss of interest.

Restricted  financial assets

Restricted financial asset balances are not available for general use by the local government due to externally
imposed restrictions. Restrictions are specified in an agreement, contract or legislation. This applies to reserve
accounts, unspent grants, subsidies and contributions and unspent loans that have not been fully expended
in the manner specified by the contributor, legislation or loan agreement and for which no liability bhas been
recognised.
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Note 4. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2024 2023
Note $ $
(@) Current assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 53,024,893 33,253,360
53,024,893 33,253,360
Other financial assets at amortised cost
Term deposits 53,024,893 33,253,360
53,024,893 33,253,360
Held as
- Unrestricted other financial assets at amortised cost - 12,000,000
- Restricted other financial assets at amortised cost 18a 53,024,893 21,253,360
53,024,893 33,253,360
(b) Non current assets
Financial assets at amortised cost 18a 3,278,806 31,022,402
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 207,927 203,724
3,486,733 31,226,126
Financial assets at amortised cost
Term deposits 3,278,806 31,022,402
3,278,806 31,022,402
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Units in Local Government House Trust - opening balance 203,724 194,509
Movement attributable to fair value increment 4,203 9,215
Units in Local Government House Trust - closing balance 207,927 203,724

Fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss is determined from the net asset value of the
units held in the Trust at balance date as compiled by WALGA.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Other financial assets at amortised cost

The City classifies financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following criteria are met:
* the asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cashflows, and
* the contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.

Fair values of financial assets at amortised cost are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since
the interest receivable on those assets is either close to current market rates or the assets are of a short term
nature. Non-current financial assets at amortised cost fair values are based on discounted cash flows using
a current market rates. They are classified as level 2 fair values in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 26(i))
due to the observable market rates.

Interest received is presented under cashflows from operating activities in the Statement of Cash Flows where
it is earned from financial assets that are held for cash management purposes.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The City has elected to classify the following financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
* debt investments which do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income.
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Note 4. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)
* equity investments which the City has not elected to recognise as fair value gains and losses through
profit or loss.

Impairment and risk
Information regarding impairment and exposure to risk can be found at Note 24.
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Note 5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2024 2023
Note $ $

Current
Rates and statutory receivables 2,364,117 2,251,527
Trade receivables 604,927 422,154
GST receivable 795,659 551,405
Receivables for employee related provisions 16 245,966 241,995
Allowance for credit losses of trade receivables 24b (11,267) (78,500)
EMRC receivable -~ 21,000,517 20,927,619
24,999,919 24,316,200

(*) The City was a participant in the Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC) and had voting rights of
1/6th and the interest in the assets and liabilities of the EMRC (refer note 23a for further details).

Non-current

Rates and statutory receivables 384,022 359,969
Receivable for employee related provisions 16 131,809 97,203
515,831 457,172

Disclosure of opening and closing balances related to contracts with customers

Information about receivables from contracts with customers along with financial assets and associated
liabilities arising from transfers to enable the acquisition or construction of recognisable non financial assets
is as follows:

30 June 30 June 1 July
2024 2023 2022
Actual Actual Actual
Note $ $ $
Trade and other receivables from contracts
with customers 602,361 418,178 188,797
Contract assets 37,717 — —
Allowance for credit losses of trade receivables 5 (11,267) (78,500) -
Total trade and other receivables from
contracts with customers 628,811 339,678 188,797

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Rates and statutory  receivables

Rates and statutory receivables are non-contractual receivables arising from statutory requirements and
include amounts due from ratepayers for unpaid rates and service charges and other statutory charges or fines.

Rates and statutory receivables are recognised when the taxable event has occurred and can be measured
reliably.

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts receivable from contractual arrangements with customers for goods sold,
services performed or grants or contributions with sufficiently specific performance obligations as part of the
ordinary course of business.

Other Receivables
Other receivables are amounts receivable from contractual arrangements with third parties other than
contracts with customers including grants for the construction of recognisable non financial assets.

Measurement
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Note 5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at the amount of the transaction price, unless they contain
a significant financing component, and are to be recognised at fair value.

Classification and subsequent  measurement

Receivables which are generally due for settlement within 30 days except rates receivables which are expected
to be collected within 12 months are classified as current assets. All other receivables such as, deferred
pensioner rates receivable after the end of the reporting period are classified as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are held with the objective to collect the contractual cashflows and therefore the
City measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method.

Due to the short term nature of current receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as
their fair value. Non-current receivables are indexed to inflation, any difference between the face value and
fair value is considered immaterial.

Impairment and risk exposure
Information about the impairment of trade receivables and their exposure to credit risk and interest rate risk
can be found in Note 24.
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Note 6. INVENTORIES

2024 2023
$ $

Current
Fuel and materials 262,339 246,770
Total current inventories 262,339 246,770
The following movements in inventories occurred during the year:
Balance at beginning of year 246,770 231,185
Additions to inventory 15,569 15,585
Balance at end of year 262,339 246,770

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

General
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
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Note 7. OTHER ASSETS

2024 2023
$ $
Other assets - current
Prepayments 590,562 401,535
Accrued income 2,893,046 2,131,793
3,483,608 2,533,328

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Other current assets

Other non-financial assets include prepayments which represent payments in advance of receipt of goods or
services or that part of expenditure made in one accounting period covering a term extending beyond that
period.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 10. FIXED ASSETS
Depreciation rates

Typical estimated useful lives for the different asset classes for the current and prior years are included in
the table below:

Asset Class Useful life
Buildings 25 - 80 years
Sub Structure 30 - 96 years
Envelope 25 - 80 years
Roof 20 - 64 years
Floor Coverings 20 - 40 years
Internal  Fitout 30 - 48 years
Services - Mechanical 30 - 48 years
Services - Fire 30 - 48 years
Services - Electrical 30 - 64 years
Services - Hydraulic 32 - 64 years
Services - Other & Security & Transport 36 - 48 years
Furniture and equipment 3 - 20 years
Plant and equipment 3 - 15 years
Right-of-use assets - plant and equipment 2 - 5 years

Infrastructure - Roads
Access Roads

Surface 35 - 70 years
Subbase 70 years
Formation Not depreciated
Distributor Roads
Surface 25 - 70 years
Subbase 50 years
Formation Not depreciated
Infrastructure - Reserve Improvements 5 - 80 years
Irrigation 5 - 30 years
Playgrounds 10 - 15 years
Park furniture 10 - 20 years
Other structures 20 - 80 years
Turf Not depreciated
Infrastructure - Footpath Network 20 - 50 years
Asphalt 20 years
Paved 35 years
Concrete 50 years
Infrastructure - Drainage Network
Pits 77 years
Pipes 100 years
Sumps 200 years
Infrastructure - Carparks 35 - 70 years

Intangible assets 3 years



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 10. FIXED ASSETS (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Initial recognition
An item of property, plant and equipment or infrastructure that qualifies
for recognition as an asset is measured at its cost.

Upon initial recognition, cost is determined as the amount paid (or other
consideration given) to acquire the assets, plus costs incidental to the
acquisition. The cost of non-current assets constructed by the City
includes the cost of all materials used in construction, direct labour on the
project and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads.
For assets acquired at zero cost or otherwise significantly less than fair
value, cost is determined as fair value at the date of acquisition.

Assets for which the fair value as at the date of acquisition is under $5,000
are not recognised as an asset in accordance with Local Government
(Financial Management) Regulation 17A(5) . These assets are expensed
immediately.

Where multiple individual low value assets are purchased together as part
of a larger asset or collectively forming a larger asset exceeding the
threshold, the individual assets are recognised as one asset and
capitalised.

Individual assets that are land, buildings and infrastructure  acquired
between scheduled revaluation dates of the asset class in accordance
with the City's revaluation policy, are recognised at cost and disclosed as
being at reportable value.

Measurement after recognition

Plant and equipment including furniture and equipment and right-of-use
assets (other than vested improvements) are measured using the cost
model as required under Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulation 17A(2) . Assets held under the cost model are carried at cost
less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.

Reportable Value

In accordance with Local Government (Financial Management) Regulation
17A(2 ), the carrying amount of non-financial assets that are land and
buildings classified as property, plant and equipment, investment
properties,
government  controls.

infrastructure or vested improvements that the local

Reportable value is for the purpose of Local Government (Financial
Management) Regulation 17A(4) is the fair value of the asset at its last
valuation date minus (to the extent applicable) the accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses in respect of the
non-financial asset subsequent to its last valuation date.

Revaluation

Land and buildings classified as property, plant and equipment,
infrastructure  or vested improvements that the local government controls
and measured at reportable value, are only required to be revalued every
five years in accordance with the regulatory framework.  This includes
buildings and infrastructure items which were pre-existing improvements

(i.e. vested improvements) on land vested in the City.

Whilst the regulatory framework only requires a revaluation to occur
every five years, it also provides for the City to revalue earlier if it chooses
to do so.

For land, buildings and infrastructure, increases in the carrying amount
arising on revaluation of asset classes are credited to a revaluation

surplus in equity.

Decreases that offset previous increases of the same class of asset are
recognised against revaluation surplus directly in equity. All other
decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Subsequent increases are then recognised in profit or loss to the extent
they reverse a net revaluation decrease previously recognised in profit or
loss for the same class of asset.

Depreciation

The depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment and
infrastructure, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the individual
asset's useful life from the time the asset is held ready for use. Leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired
period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the improvements.

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Depreciation on revaluation

When an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure is
revalued, any accumulated depreciation at the date of the revaluation is
treated in one of the following ways:

(i) The gross carrying amount is adjusted in a manner that is consistent
with the revaluation of the carrying amount of the asset.

(i) Eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount restated to the revalued amount of the asset.

Impairment
In accordance  with Local Government (Financial
Regulations 17A(4C) , the City is not required to comply with AASB136

Impairment  of Assets to determine the recoverable amount of its non-

Management)

financial assets that are land or buildings classified as property, plant
and equipment, infrastructure or vested improvements that the local
government  controls in circumstances where there has been an

impairment indication of a general decrease in asset values.

In other circumstances where it has been assessed that one or more of
these non-financial assets are impaired, the asset's carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses on disposal

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds
with the carrying amount. These gains and losses are included in the
statement of comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 11. LEASES

(a) Right of use assets

Movement in the balance of each class of right-of-use asset between the beginning and the end of the
current financial year

Plant &
Equipment Total
$ $

2023
Balance at 1 July 2022 231,580 231,580
Additions 165,521 165,521
Depreciation (121,794) (121,794)
Balance at 30 June 2023 275,307 275,307
Gross balance amount at 30 June 2023 362,107 362,107
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2023 (86,800) (86,800)
Balance at 30 June 2023 275,307 275,307
2024
Balance at 1 July 2023 275,308 275,308
Depreciation (116,333) (116,333)
Balance at 30 June 2024 158,975 158,975
Gross balance amount at 30 June 2024 362,107 362,107
Accumulated depreciation at 30 June 2024 (203,133) (203,133)
Balance at 30 June 2024 158,974 158,974

The following amounts were recognised in the statement of comprehensive income during the period in
respect of leases where the entity is the lessee:

2024 2023
Actual Actual
Note $ $
Depreciation on right-of-use assets (116,333) (121,794)
Finance charge on lease liabilities 30c (9,284) (6,038)
Total amount recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income (125,617) (127,832)
Total cash outflow from leases (118,562) (122,156)
(b) Lease liabilities
Current 105,428 118,561
Non-current 57,042 162,469
30c 162,470 281,030

The City has two leases relating to plant and equipment for terms of two and three years, both with fixed
lease payments. The measurement of lease liabilities does not include variable lease payments and any future
cash outflows associated with leases not yet commenced to which the City is committed. Refer to Note 30c
for details of lease liabilities.

Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security
Lease liabilities are effectively secured, as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial
statements revert to the lessor in the event of default.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 11. LEASES (continued)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Leases

At inception of a contract, the City assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. A contract is, or contains, a
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration.

At the commencement date, a right-of-use asset is recognised at cost and lease liability at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
the City uses its incremental borrowing rate.

All contracts that are classified as short-term leases (i.e. alease with aterm of 12 months or less) and leases
of low value assets are recognised as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Details of individual lease liabilities required by regulations are provided at Note 30c.

Right-of-use assets - measurement

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost. All right-of-use assets (other than vested improvements) under
zero cost concessionary leases are measured at zero cost (i.e. not recognised in the Statement of Financial
Position). The exception is vested improvements on concessionary land leases such as roads, buildings or
other infrastructure  which are reported at fair value.

Refer to Note 10 under revaluation for details on the material accounting policies applying to vested
improvements.

Right-of-use assets - depreciation

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is
the shorter. Where a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset, or the cost of the right-of-use asset
reflects that the City anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful
life of the underlying asset.

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
(c) Lessor - Property, Plant and Equipment Subject to Lease
The table below represents a maturity analysis of the undiscounted lease
payments to be received after the reporting date.
Less than 1 year 531,061 886,871
1to 2 years 355,502 264,172
2 to 3 years 206,691 233,523
3to4years 200,347 140,494
4 to 5 years 170,786 140,494
> 5 years 227,708 272,801
1,692,095 1,938,355
Amounts recognised in profit or loss for Property, Plant and
Equipment Subject to Lease
Rental income 937,629 829,423

The City leases property to tenants, with rentals payable monthly. These leases are classified as operating
leases as they do not transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to the ownership of the
assets. The aged persons housing are considered a joint operation and are not considered investment property
as the primary purpose is provision of community housing.

Lease payments for some contracts include CPI increases, but there are no other variable lease payments
that depend on an index or rate.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 11. LEASES (continued)

Although the City is exposed to changes in the residual value at the end of the current leases, the City typically
enters into new operating leases and therefore will not immediately realise any reduction in residual value
at the end of these leases. Expectations about the future residual values are reflected in the fair value of
the properties.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The City as Lessor
Upon entering into each contract as a lessor, the City assesses if the lease is a finance or operating lease.

The contract is classified as a finance lease when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases not within this definition are classified as operating
leases. Rental income received from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of
the specific lease.

Initial direct costs incurred in entering into an operating lease (eg legal cost, cost to setup) are included in the
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

When a contract is determined to include lease and non-lease components, the City applies AASB 15 Revenue
from Contracts with Customers to allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 12. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
Intangible assets
Non-current
Corporate website 473,929 307,396
Less: Accumulated amortisation (237,101) (161,568)
236,828 145,828
Movements in balances during the financial year are shown as follows:
Balance at 1 July 145,828 171,548
Recognition of computer software 166,533 39,000
Amortisation (75,533) (64,720)
Balance at 30 June 236,828 145,828
TOTAL INTANGIBLE ASSETS 236,828 145,828

Amortisation
The estimated useful life of intangible assets is 5 years for the current and prior years.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Corporate  Website

Costs associated with planning, administration and other general overhead expenses are recognised as an
expense when incurred. The application, graphical design and content development costs directly attributable
to preparing the website to operate in the manner requested by management meets the recognition criteria
in AASB 138.21 and AASB 138.57 and are recognised as intangible assets.

Similarly, the operating website costs are recognised as intangible assets when it meets the recognition criteria
set out in AASB 138.18 where it is demonstrated that the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits when the asset is ready for use.

Computer software
Costs associated with maintaining software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software
products controlled by the the City are recognised as intangible assets where the following criteria are met:

* it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will be available for use;

* management intends to complete the software and use or sell it

* there is an ability to use or sell the software.

* it can be demonstrated how the software will generate probable future economic benefits;

* adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

software are available; and
* the expenditure attributable to the software during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software include employee costs and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which the
asset is ready for use.

Amortisation
All intangible assets with a finite useful life, are amortised on a straight-line basis over the individual asset's
useful life from the time the asset is held ready for use.

The residual value of intangible assets is considered to be zero and the useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each financial year.

Amortisation is included within depreciation in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023
$ $
Current
Sundry creditors 1,245,963 950,814
Accrued interest 73,375 77,279
Prepaid rates 1,111,695 1,011,448
Accrued payroll liabilities 625,423 595,031
Accrued expenses 4,573,900 3,108,862
Total current trade and other payables 7,630,356 5,743,434

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value when the City becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Non-derivative  financial liabilities (excluding financial guarantees) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost.

Financial liabilities are derecognised where the related obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party
and any consideration paid, including the transfer of non-cash assets or liabilittes assumed, is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the City prior to the end of the
financial year that are unpaid and arise when the City becomes obliged to make future payments in respect
of the purchase of these goods and services.

The amounts are unsecured, are recognised as a current liability and are usually paid within 30 days of
recognition. The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are considered to be the same as their fair
values, due to their short-term nature.

Prepaid rates

Prepaid rates are, until the taxable event has occurred (start of the next financial year), refundable at the
request of the ratepayer. Rates received in advance are initially recognised as a financial liability. When the
taxable event occurs, the financial liability is extinguished and the City recognises income for the prepaid rates
that have not been refunded.



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 14. OTHER LIABILITIES

2024 2023
$ $
Current
Contract liabilities 65,100 79,883
Capital grant/contributions liabilities 906,148 453,553
Bonds and deposits held 230,983 230,537
Emergency Services Levy 383,640 366,298
Payable to other Councils 221,387 258,309
Other Liabilities 28,292 11,923
1,835,550 1,400,503
Non-current
Emergency Services Levy (Deferred) 68,468 62,747
Payable to other Councils 83,090 102,387
151,558 165,134
Reconciliation of changes in contract liabilities
Opening balance 79,883 35,775
Additions 65,100 79,883
Revenue from contracts with customers included as a contract liability at
the start of the period (79,883) (35,775)
65,100 79,883

The aggregate amount of the performance obligations unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) in relation to
these contract liabilities was $65,100 (2023: $114,423)

The City expects to satisfy the performance obligations, from contracts with customers unsatisfied at the
end of the reporting period, within the next 12 months.

Reconciliation of changes in capital grant/contribution liabilities

Opening balance 453,553 596,205

Additions 676,066 343,518

Revenue from capital grant/contributions held as a liability at the start of

the period (223,471) (486,170)
906,148 453,553

Expected satisfaction of capital grant/contribution liabilities
Less than 1 year 906,148 453,553

906,148 453,553

Performance obligations in relation to capital grant/contribution liabilities are satisfied as project milestones
are met or completion of construction or acquisition of the asset.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Contract Liabilities

Contract liabilities represent the the City's obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the
City has received consideration from the customer.

Contract liabilities represent obligations which are not yet satisfied. Contract liabilities are recognised as
revenue when the performance obligations in the contract are satisfied.

Capital grant/contribution liabilities



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 14. OTHER LIABILITIES (continued)

Capital grant/contribution liabilities represent the City's obligations to construct recognisable non-financial
assets to identified specifications to be controlled by the City which are yet to be satisfied. Capital
grant/contribution liabilities are recognised as income when the obligations in the contract are satisfied.

Fair values for non-current capital grant/contribution liabilities, not expected to be extinguished within 12
months, are based on discounted cash flows of expected cashflows to satisfy the obligations using a current
borrowing rate. They are classified as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 26(i)) due to
the unobservable inputs, including own credit risk.
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Note 15. BORROWINGS

2024 2023
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
Note $ $ $ $ $ $
Secured
Bank loans 641,884 10,976,367 11,618,251 618,111 11,618,252 12,236,363
Total secured borrowings 30a 641,884 10,976,367 11,618,251 618,111 11,618,252 12,236,363

Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security

Debentures, bank overdrafts and bank loans are secured by a floating charge over the assets of the City of
Belmont

Other loans relate to transferred receivables. Refer to Note 5.

City of Belmont has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing facilities during the 2024 and 2023
years.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Borrowing  costs
The City has elected to recognise borrowings costs as an expense when incurred regardless of how the

borrowings are applied.

Fair values of borrowings are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since the interest payable on
those borrowings is either close to current market rates or the borrowings are of a short term nature.

Borrowings fair values are based on discounted cash flows using a current borrowing rate. They are classified
as level 3 fair values in the fair value hierarchy (see Note 26(i)) due to the unobservable inputs, including
own credit risk.

Risk
Information regarding exposure to risk can be found at Note 24.

Details of individual borrowings required by regulations are provided at Note 30a.
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Note 16. EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS

2024 2023
$ $
Employee related provisions
Current provisions
Employee benefit provisions
Annual leave 2,192,843 1,889,953
Long service leave 1,994,409 2,090,449
Other employee leave provision 170,678 170,589
4,357,930 4,150,991
Other provisions
Employment on-costs 630,016 277,411
630,016 277,411
Total current employee related provisions 4,987,946 4,428,402
Non-current provisions
Employee benefit provisions
Long service leave 469,767 366,690
469,767 366,690
Other provisions
Employment on-costs 71,495 -
71,495 -
Total non-current employee related provisions 541,262 366,690
Total employee related provisions 5,529,208 4,795,092

Provision is made for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave and long
service leave and associated on costs for services rendered up to the reporting date and recorded as an
expense during the period the services are delivered.

Annual leave liabilities are classified as current, as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the
liabilities is expected to occur as follows:

2024 2023
Note $ $
Amounts are expected to be settled on the following basis:
Less than 12 months after the reporting date 3,338,703 2,584,027
More than 12 months from reporting date 2,190,505 2,211,065
5,529,208 4,795,092
Expected reimbursements of employee related provisions from
other WA local governments included within other receviables 5 (377,775) (339,198)

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Employee benefits

The City’s obligations for employees’ annual leave, long service leave and other employee leave entitlements
are recognised as employee related provisions in the Statement of Financial Position.

Short-term employee  benefits

Provision is made for the City’'s obligations for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits
are benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after
the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages,
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Note 16. EMPLOYEE RELATED PROVISIONS (continued)

salaries and sick leave. Short-term employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected
to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The City’s obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages, salaries and sick leave are recognised
as a part of current trade and other payables in the statement of financial position

Other long-term  employee benefits

Long-term employee benefits provisions are measured at the present value of the expected future payments
to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels,
durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market
yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the
terms of the obligations. Any remeasurements for changes in assumptions of obligations for other long-term
employee benefits are recognised in profit or loss in the periods in which the changes occur.

The City’s obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement
of financial position, except where the City does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at
least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current
provisions.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 18. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of cash

For the purposes of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash includes cash on hand and cash equivalents, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash at the end of the reporting period is reconciled to the related items in the
Statement of Financial Position as follows:

2024 2023
Actual Actual
Note $ $
Cash and cash equivalents 3 23,433,621 12,671,468
Restrictions
The following classes of financial assets have restrictions imposed by
regulations or other externally imposed requirements which limit or
direct the purpose for which the resources may be used:
- Cash and cash equivalents 3 13,932,877 9,939,051
- Financial assets at amortised cost 4 56,303,699 52,275,762
70,236,576 62,214,813
The restricted financial assets are a result of the following specific
purposes to which the assets may be used:
Restricted reserve accounts 31 69,265,328 61,681,377
Contract liabilities 14 65,100 79,883
Capital grant liabilities 14 906,148 453,553
Total restricted financial assets 70,236,576 62,214,813
(b) Reconciliation of Net Result to Net Cash Provided By
Operating Activities
Net result 815,437 4,274,932
Non-cash items:
Depreciation/amortisation 12,953,278 11,423,543
Adjustments to fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (4,203) (9,215)
(Profit)/loss on sale of asset 716,922 2,120,955
Movement in receivable from EMRC (72,898) (538,413)
Assets received for substantially less than fair value - (139,096)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (669,467) (414,739)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories (15,569) (15,585)
(Increase)/decrease in other assets (1,053,753) (1,311,239)
(Increase)/decrease in contract assets 65,750 -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 1,890,826 (197,290)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities - -
Increase/(decrease) in accrued interest payable (3,904) -
Increase/(decrease) in employee related provisions 734,116 (304,860)
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 421,471 118,918
Capital grants, subsidies and contributions (2,602,175) (2,289,330)

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 13,175,831 12,718,581
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Note 18. NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
(c) Undrawn borrowing facilities credit standby arrangements
Credit standby arrangements
Bank overdraft limit 200,000 200,000
Credit card limit 60,000 60,000
Credit card balance at balance date (4,045) (1,036)
Total amount of credit unused 255,955 258,964
2024 2023
Note $ $
Loan facilities
Loan facilities - current 15 641,884 618,111
Loan facilities - non-current 15 10,976,367 11,618,252
Total facilities in use at balance date 11,618,251 12,236,363

Unused loan facilities at balance date = -
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Note 19. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(@) Contaminated Sites

The City has one site with possible contamination at 5 Resolution Drive, Ascot and one classified as
'‘Contaminated — Restricted Use’ at Peachey Park (400 Acton Ave and 50 Peachey Ave, Kewdale).

Regarding 5 Resolution Drive, until the City conducts an investigation to determine the presence and scope
of contamination, assesses the risk, and agrees with the respective state government authorites on the need
and criteria for remediation, the City is unable to estimate the potential costs associated with the remediation
works.

Two lots within Peachey Park are classified as 'Contaminated - Restricted Use', as they are suitable for public
open space and recreational use, but may not be suitable for a more sensitive land use.

(b) Springs Development Contribution Plan

In February 2017 the Springs Development Contribution Plan (DCP) was established which required landowners
to make a financial contribution towards infrastructure when undertaking any subdivision or development
within the area, with the funds collected by the City used to reimburse Development WA.

This future reimbursement by the City is a contingent liability of which the amount and timing of the
development is uncertain. The previous DCP expired in February 2022 and the City sought an extension of
the DCP through an amendment to Local Planning Scheme No. 15. This Amendment was approved by the
Minister for Planning and notice of the approval was published in the 14 February 2023 Government Gazette.
The Minister approved an extension of the Development Contribution Plan until 7 February 2027.

Note 20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2024 2023
$ $

(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Contracted for:
- capital expenditure projects 5,896,249 3,575,707
- plant & equipment purchases 784,612 590,533
Total capital expenditure commitments 6,680,861 4,166,240
Payable:
- not later than one year 6,680,861 4,166,240
Total capital expenditure commitments 6,680,861 4,166,240

The capital expenditure projects outstanding at the end of the current reporting period represents various
projects including foreshore project works, traffic management for various infrastructure projects and
various replacements of fleet and plant assets for which delivery has been delayed.
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Note 21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Elected Member Remuneration

Fees, expenses and allowances to be paid or reimbursed to elected council members.

Mayor's annual allowance

Mayor's meeting attendance fees

Mayor's other expenses

Mayor's annual allowance for ICT expenses

Deputy Mayor's annual allowance

Deputy Mayor's meeting attendance fees

Deputy Mayor's other expenses

Deputy Mayor's annual allowance for ICT expenses

All other council member's meeting attendance fees
All other council member's expenses

All other council member's annual allowance for ICT
expenses

All other council member's child care expenses

(b) Key management personnel

The total of compensation paid to KMP of the City during the year are as

follows:

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits
Employee - other long-term benefits
Employee - termination benefits
Council member costs

Total

Short-term  employee benefits

2024 2024 2023
Actual Budget Actual
Note $ $ $
93,125 93,380 91,997
49,301 49,435 48,704
4 _ _
3,500 3,500 3,500
145,930 146,315 144,201
23,281 23,345 23,000
32,960 32,960 32,470
654 - 16
3,500 3,500 3,500
60,395 59,805 58,986
209,373 230,720 223,862
235 - 118
22,243 24,500 24,131
- - 838
231,851 255,220 248,949
21b 438,176 461,340 452,136
2024 2023
Actual Actual
Note $ $
1,083,275 1,145,545
127,896 122,436
3,300 120,993
- 233,069
2la 438,176 452,136
1,652,647 2,074,179

These amounts include all salary and fringe benefits awarded to KMP except for details in respect to fees and
benefits paid to council members which may be separately found in the table above.

Post-employment  benefits

These amounts are the current-year's estimated cost of providing for the City's superannuation

made during the year.

Other long-term benefits

contributions
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Note 21. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

These amounts represent annual leave and long service leave entitlements accruing during the year.

Termination benefits
These amounts represent termination benefits paid to KMP (Note: may or may not be applicable in any given
year).

Council member costs

These amounts represent payments of member fees, expenses, allowances and reimbursements during the
year.

(c) Transactions with related parties

Transactions between related parties and the City are on normal commercial terms and conditions, no more
favourable than those available to other parties, unless otherwise stated.

No outstanding balances or provisions for doubtful debts or guarantees exist in relation to related parties at
year end.

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
In addition to KMP compensation above the following transactions
occurred with related parties:

Payments made to Faulkner Park Board of Management 243,405 144,913
Income from the Belmont Retirement Villages Board of Management 313,267 298,308
556,672 443,221

Related parties
The City's main related parties are as follows:

i. Key management personnel

Any person(s) having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
entity, directly or indirectly, including any council member, are considered key management personnel and
are detailedin Notes 2la and 21b.

ii. Other Related Parties
Short-term  employee benefits related to an associate person of the CEO who was employed by the City under
normal employment terms and conditions.

Outside of normal citizen type transactions with the City, there were no other related party transactions
involving key management personnel and/or their close family members and/or their controlled (or jointly
controlled) entities.

ii. Entities subject to significant influence by the City
There were no such entities requiring disclosure during the current or previous vyear.

The City of Belmont has two elected members and the CEO on the Board of the Belmont Retirement Villages
Board of Management (BRVBM). As the City is represented by three of the seven Board members this would
illustrate  significant influence although it is not an investee/investor relationship and the City cannot benefit
financially from this arrangement. The City makes a contribution to the ongoing management of the Board
and receives a percentage of sales income from unit sales within the Faulkner Park Retirement Village that
is placed into specific reserves.
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Note 22. JOINT ARRANGEMENTS

Share of joint operations

The City has an agreement with the Housing Authority for the provision of aged accomodation. This
arrangement has been determined to be a joint arrangement. The assets held under the agreement by both
parties are land and 22 units located at Orana Aged Persons and land and 20 units located at Gabriel Gardens
Retirement Village.

The ownership of the joint operation is defined in the agreement including the percentage of each party's
proportionate interest in the assets of the joint operation. The total value of the City's share of jointly controlled
assets at 30 June 2024 is $2,215,986 (2023: $2,254,476) being 30.63% share of Gabriel Gardens and 13.04%
share of Orana Aged Persons. Surplus funds are returned to the City and transferred to the Homeswest and
Aged Housing Reserves for future building maintenance and capital improvements of the City's aged housing
centres.

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $
Statement of Financial Position
Cash and cash equivalents 1,010,521 928,711
Land and buildings 3,169,800 3,169,800
Less: accumulated depreciation (953,814) (915,324)
Total assets 3,226,507 3,183,187
Reserve accounts 1,010,521 928,711
Total equity 1,010,521 928,711
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Grants, subsidies and contributions 319,250 305,768
Interest revenue 9,794 4,590
Other revenue 1,164 286
Employee costs (14,104) (45,502)
Materials and contracts (217,818) (98,395)
Depreciation (38,490) (29,942)
Finance costs (465) (455)
Profit/(loss) for the period 59,331 136,350
Other comprehensive income
Changes in asset revaluation surplus - 848,712
Total comprehensive income for the period 59,331 985,062
Statement of Cash Flows
Grants, subsidies and contributions - 134,410
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities - 134,410

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement where the City has joint control with two or more parties to the
joint arrangement. All parties to joint arrangementhave rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities
relating to the arrangement.

Assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses relating to the City's interest in the joint operation are accounted
for in accordance with the relevant Australian Accounting Standard.
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Note 23. INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

Investment in associates
Set out below are the associates of the City. All associates are measured using the equity method.
Western Australia is the principal place of business for all associates.

(@) Share of investment in EMRC

The City was a participant in the Eastern Metropolitan Regional Council (EMRC), with voting rights and interest
in assets and liabilities of the EMRC equal to 1/6th of the total. The City's interest in the EMRC was calculated to
be 11.31% as at 30 June 2021, representing a share of net assets equal to $21,000,517. On the 23 December
2020 the City issued its Notice of Withdrawal from the EMRC, effective from 1 July 2021, with the City's interest
in the EMRC as at 30 June 2021 to be payable on 1 July 2023. This value was discounted and incorporated as
a non current receivable from the EMRC for the year ended 30 June 2022.

For the year ended 30 June 2023, the City's equity entittement remained subject to a valuation methodology
and subsequent payment of the City's share of net assets. The amount of $21,000,517 was therefore
discounted to the present value as at 30 June 2023 and was reclassified from a non current to a current
asset receivable.

As of October 2024, the City's equity entitlement remains subject to a valuation methodology and subsequent
payment of the City's share of net assets on a wind-up basis per the EMRC establishment agreement. While
a draft valuation has been prepared by the appointed financial advisory, it remains subject to review by both
parties before finalisation. In the absence of the finalised valuation, the amount of $21,000,517, being the
City’s share of EMRC's Net Book Value at the time of departure, has been used to calculate the receivable as
at 30 June 2024, with the asset continuing to be classified as a current asset receivable (refer note 5).

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the City has significant influence, that is it has the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but not control or joint control of those policies.

Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method. The equity method of accounting, is
whereby the investment s initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in
the City’s share of net assets of the associate. In addition, the City’s share of the profit or loss of the associate
is included in the City’'s profit or loss.
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Note 24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

This note explains the City’s exposure to financial risks and how these risks could affect the City's future
financial performance.

Risk Exposure arising from Measurement Management

Market risk - Long term borrowings at Sensitivity analysis Utilise fixed interest rate

interest rate variable rates borrowings

Credit risk Cash and cash Aging analysis Diversification of bank
equivalents, trade Credit analysis deposits, credit limits.
receivables, financial Investment policy
assets and debt
investments

Liquidity risk Borrowings and other Rolling cash flow forecasts Availability of committed
liabilities credit lines and borrowing

facilities

The City does not engage in transactions expressed in foreign currencies and is therefore not subject to foreign
currency risk.

Financial risk management is carried out by the finance department under policies approved by Council. Finance
identifies, evaluates and manages financial risks in close co-operation with the operating divisions. Council
have approved the overall risk management policy and provide policies on specific areas such as investment.

(a) Interest rate risk

Cash and cash equivalents

The City's main interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents with variable interest rates, which
exposes the City to cash flow interest rate risk. Short term overdraft facilities also have variable interest rates
however these are repaid within 12 months, reducing the risk level to minimal.

Excess cash and cash equivalents are invested in fixed interest rate term deposits which do not expose the
City to cash flow interest rate risk. Cash and cash equivalents required for working capital are held in variable
interest rate accounts and non-interest bearing accounts. Carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents at
the 30 June and the weighted average interest rate across all cash and cash equivalents, term deposits, and
Treasury bonds held disclosed as financial assets at amortised cost are reflected in the table below.

Weighted
average
interest Carrying Fixed Variable Non interest
rate amounts interest rate interest rate bearing
% $ $ $ $
2024
Cash and cash
equivalents 4.37% 23,433,627 12,453,104 10,976,473 4,050
Financial assets at
amortised cost - term
deposits 5.04% 56,303,699 56,303,699 - -
2023
Cash and cash
equivalents 4.38% 12,671,468 7,125,004 5,542,314 4,150

Financial assets at
amortised cost - term
deposits 4.33% 64,275,762 64,275,762 - -
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Note 24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Sensitivity

Profit or loss is sensitive to higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents as a result of changes
in interest rates.

2024 2023
$ $
Impact of a 1% movement in interest rates on profit or loss and equity ) 109,765 55,423

(*) Holding all other variables constant

Borrowings
Borrowings are subject to interest rate risk - the risk that movements in interest rates could adversely affect
funding costs.

The City manages this risk by borrowing long term and fixing the interest rate to the situation considered
the most advantageous at the time of negotiation. The City does not consider there to be any interest rate
risk in relation to borrowings.

Details of interest rates applicable to each borrowing may be found at Note 30a.

(b) Credit risk

Trade and Other Receivables

The City’s major trade and other receivables comprise contractual non-statutory user fees and charges, grants,
contributions and reimbursements.  The major risk associated with these receivables is credit risk — the risk
that the debts may not be repaid. The City manages this risk by monitoring outstanding debt and employing
debt recovery policies.

Credit risk on rates and annual charges is minimised by the ability of the City to recover these debts as a
secured charge over the land, that is, the land can be sold to recover the debt. The City is able to charge
interest on overdue rates and annual charges at higher than market rates, which further encourages payment.

The level of outstanding receivables is reported to Council monthly and benchmarks are set and monitored
for acceptable collection performance.

The City applies the AASB 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses using a lifetime expected
loss allowance for all trade and other receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, receivables from
grants, contributions and reimbursements are separated from other trade receivables due to the difference
in payment terms and security.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of trade and other receivables over a period of 36
months before 1 July 2023 or 1 July 2024 respectively and the corresponding historical losses experienced
within this period. Historical credit loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors such as the ability of users to settle the receivables.

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 was determined as follows for trade and other
receivables.

More than 30 More than 60 More than 90
Current days past due days past due days past due Total
$ $ $ $ $
30 June 2024
Trade receivables
Expected credit loss 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 4.49%
Gross carrying amount 203,659 114,943 35,407 250,918 604,927

Loss allowance - - - 11,267 11,267
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Note 24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT  (continued)

More than 30 More than 60 More than 90
Current days past due days past due days past due Total
$ $ $ $ $

Other receivables
Expected credit loss 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Gross carrying amount 377,775 - — - 377,775
Loss allowance - - - - -
30 June 2023
Trade receivables
Expected credit loss 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 27.03%
Gross carrying amount 14,492 5,388 111,823 290,451 422,154
Loss allowance - - - 78,500 78,500
Other receivables
Expected credit loss 0.00% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Gross carrying amount 339,198 - - - 339,198

Loss allowance - - - - _

The loss allowances for trade, other receivables and contract assets as at 30 June reconcile to the opening
loss allowances as follows:

Trade receivables Other receivables Contract Assets
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual Actual
$ $ $ $ $ $

Opening loss allowance as at 1

July 78,500 - - - - -
Increase in loss allowance

recognised in profit or loss during

the year - 78,500 - - - -
Receivables written off during the

year as uncollectible - - 2,566 4,233 - -
Unused amount reversed (67,233) - (2,566) (4,233) - -
Closing loss allowance at 30

June 11,267 78,500 - - - -

Trade,other receivables and contract assets are written off where there is no reasonable expectation of
recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure
of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the City, and a failure to make contractual payments for a
period of greater than 120 days past due.

Impairment  losses on rates and statutory receivables, trade, other receivables and contract assets are
presented as net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

Contract  Assets

The City’s contract assets represent work completed, which have not been invoiced at year end. This is due
to the City not having met all the performance obligations in the contract which give an unconditional right to
receive consideration. The City applies the simplified approach to measure expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all contract assets. To measure the expected credit losses, contract assets
have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. Contract assets have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables for the same types of contracts. The City
has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation of
the loss rates for the contract assets.
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Note 24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Liquidity risk
Payables and borrowings

Payables and borrowings are both subject to liquidity risk — that is the risk that insufficient funds may be on
hand to meet payment obligations as and when they fall due. The City manages this risk by monitoring its
cash flow requirements and liquidity levels and maintaining an adequate cash buffer.

Payment terms can be extended and overdraft facilities drawn upon if required and disclosed in Note 18c.

The contractual undiscounted cash flows of the City’s payables and borrowings are set out in the liquidity
table below. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is
not significant.

Due Due Due Total
within between after contractual Carrying
1 year 1 &5 years 5 years cash flows values
$ $ $ $ $
2024
Trade and other
payables 7,556,981 - - 7,556,981 7,556,981
Borrowings 1,158,165 4,584,687 9,980,524 15,723,376 11,618,251
Other liabilities 480,662 87,585 - 568,247 563,752
Lease liabilities 114,763 61,623 - 176,386 162,470
9,310,571 4,733,895 9,980,524 24,024,990 19,901,454
2023
Trade and other
payables 5,666,155 — - 5,666,155 5,666,155
Borrowings 1,162,305 4,604,038 11,119,338 16,885,681 12,236,363
Other liabilities 500,769 106,994 - 607,763 603,156
Lease liabilities 59,135 324,972 7,901 392,008 281,030
7,388,364 5,036,004 11,127,239 23,551,607 18,786,704
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Note 25. EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

There has been no material post balance sheet event after 30 June 2024
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Note 26. OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

a) Goods and services tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net
of the amount of GST, except where the amount of
GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian
Taxation Office (ATO).

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST
receivable or payable. The net amount of GST
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO is included
with receivables or payables in the statement of
financial position.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST
components of cash flows arising from investing or
financing activites which are recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash
flows.

b) Current and non-current classification

The asset or liability is classified as current if it is
expected to be settled within the next 12 months,
being the City's operational cycle. In the case of

liabilites  where the City does not have the
unconditional  right to defer settlement beyond 12
months, such as vested long service leave, the

liability is classified as current even if not expected to
be settled within the next 12 months. Inventories
held for trading are classified as current or non-
current based on the City's intentions to release for
sale.

¢) Rounding off figures

All figures shown in this annual financial report, other
than a rate in the dollar, are rounded to the nearest
dollar. Amounts are presented in Australian Dollars.

d) Comparative figures

Where required, comparative figures have been
adjusted to conform with changes in presentation for
the current financial year.

When the City applies an accounting  policy
retrospectively, makes a retrospective restatement
or reclassifies items in its financial statements that
has a material effect on the statement of financial
position, an additional (third) statement of financial
position as at the beginning of the preceding period in
addition to the minimum comparative financial report
is presented.

e) Budget comparative figures

Unless otherwise stated, the budget comparative
figures shown in this annual financial report relate to
the original budget estimate for the relevant item of
disclosure.

f) Superannuation

The City contributes to a number of Superannuation
Funds on behalf of employees. All funds to which the
City contributes are defined contribution plans.

g) Fair value of assets and liabilities

Fair value is the price that the City would receive
to sell the asset or would have to pay to transfer
a liability, in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction
between independent, knowledgeable and willing
market participants at the measurement date.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest
equivalent observable market pricing information is
used to determine fair value. Adjustments to market
values may be made having regard to the
characteristics of the specific asset or liability. The
fair values of assets that are not traded in an active
market are determined using one or more valuation
techniques. These valuation techniqgues maximise, to
the extent possible, the use of observable market
data.

To the extent possible, market information s
extracted from either the principal market for the
asset or liability (i.e. the market with the greatest
volume and level of activity for the asset or liability)
or, in the absence of such a market, the most
advantageous market available to the entity at the
end of the reporting period (i.e. the market that
maximises the receipts from the sale of the asset
after taking into account transaction costs and
transport  costs).

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement
also takes into account a market participant's ability
to use the asset in its highest and best use or to sell
it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

h) Interest revenue

Interest revenue is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
a financial asset measured at amortised cost except
for financial assets that subsequently become credit-
impaired. For credit-impaired  financial assets the
effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the
loss allowance).

i) Fair value hierarchy

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement
disclosure of fair value information by level of the
fair value hierarchy, which categorises fair value
measurement into one of three possible levels based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the
measurement can be categorised into as follows:

requires the

Level 1

Measurements based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that
the entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2
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Note 26. OTHER MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Measurements based on inputs other than quoted
prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3
Measurements based on unobservable inputs for the
asset or liability.

The fair values of assets and liabilities that are not
traded in an active market are determined using one
or more valuation techniques. These valuation
technigues maximise, to the extent possible, the use
of observable market data. If all significant inputs
required to measure fair value are observable, the
asset or liability is included in Level 2. If one or more
significant inputs are not based on observable market
data, the asset or liability is included in Level 3.

Valuation techniques
The City selects a valuation technique that is
appropriate  in the circumstances and for which

sufficient data is available to measure fair value. The
availability of sufficient and relevant data primarily
depends on the specific characteristics of the asset
or liability being measured. The valuation techniques
selected by the City are consistent with one or more
of the following valuation approaches:

Market approach

Valuation techniques that use prices and other
relevant information generated by  market
transactions  for identical or similar assets or
liabilities.

Income  approach

Valuation techniques that convert estimated future
cash flows or income and expenses into a single
discounted present value.

Cost approach
Valuation  techniques that reflect the current
replacement cost of the service capacity of an asset.

Each valuation technique requires inputs that reflect
the assumptions that buyers and sellers would use
when pricing the asset or liability, including
assumptions about risks. When selecting a valuation
technique, the City gives priority to those techniques
that maximise the use of observable inputs and
minimise the use of unobservable inputs. Inputs that
are developed using market data (such as publicly
available information on actual transactions) and
reflect the assumptions that buyers and sellers would
generally use when pricing the asset or liability are
considered observable, whereas inputs for which
market data is not available and therefore are
developed using the best information available about
such assumptions are considered unobservable.

j) Impairment of assets
In accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
the City's assets are assessed at each reporting date

(continued)

to determine whether there is any indication they
may be impaired.

Where such an indication exists, an impairment test
is carried out on the asset by comparing the
recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of
the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in
use, to the asset's carrying amount except for non-
financial assets that are:

- land and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment;

- infrastructure;  or

- vested improvements that the local government
controls, in circumstances where there has been an

impairment indication of a general decrease in asset
values.

These  non-financial assets are assessed in
accordance with the regulatory framework detailed
in Note 10.

Any excess of the asset's carrying amount over its
recoverable amount is recognised immediately in
profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount in accordance with another Standard (e.g.
AASB 116 Property, Plant and Equipment) whereby
any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as
a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other
Standard.
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Note 27. FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY

(a) Service objectives and descriptions

City operations as disclosed in this financial report encompass the following service orientated functions and

activities.

OBJECTIVE

GOVERNANCE

To provide a decision-making process
for the efficient allocation of scarce
resources.

GENERAL PURPOSE FUNDING
To collect revenue to allow for the
provision of services.

LAW, ORDER, PUBLIC SAFETY
To provide services to help ensure a

safer and environmentally  conscious
community.

HEALTH

To provide an operational framework

for environmental
health.

and community

EDUCATION AND WELFARE

To provide services to disadvantaged
persons, the elderly, children and
youth.

HOUSING
To provide and maintain elderly
residents housing.

COMMUNITY AMENITIES
To provide services required by the
community.

RECREATION AND CULTURE

To establish and effectively manage
infrastructure  and resources which
will help the social wellbeing of the
community.

TRANSPORT
To provide safe, effective and efficient
transport services to the community.

ECONOMIC SERVICES
To help promote the local government
and its economic wellbeing.

OTHER PROPERTY AND SERVICES
To monitor and control operating
accounts.

DESCRIPTION

All costs associated with the elected members of Council, together
with all costs associated with the general governance of the district.
Includes all costs generated by the full allocation of administration
costs in accordance with the principles of Activity Based Costing.

Includes the cost of collecting rates revenue and all general
purpose funding e.g. Grants Commission funding.

The control and prevention of fire. Administration of all matters
relating to the control of animals, mainly dogs and all general law,
order and public safety matters administered by City Rangers.

The administration  of maternal health and infant health through
child health clinics. The administration of preventative services
such as: immunisation, inspection of food premises and pest
control.

The provision of children services, the care of the aged and
disabled through aged and disabled services and senior citizen
centres. The provision of some pre-school education facilities, but
not the delivery of education.

The provision of aged housing facilities throughout the district.

Includes sanitation (household refuse); town
and regional planning and development;

rooms and protection of the environment.

stormwater drainage;
the provision of rest

The provision of facilities and support of organisations concerned
with leisure time activities and sport. The provision and
maintenance of a public library. The provision of a cultural
and a historical museum.

centre

Construction and maintenance of streets, roads, footpaths,
cycleways and Council Operations Centre. The control of street
parking and the control of traffic management of local streets.

The management
provision of building approvals,
services.

of local tourism and area promotion. The
control and any other economic

Private works, public work overheads, plant operations. A
summary of salaries and wages total costs and any other
miscellaneous activities that cannot otherwise be classified
above.

in the
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(b) Income and expenses

Income excluding grants, subsidies and
contributions and capital grants, subsidies and

contributions
Governance

General purpose funding
Law, order, public safety
Health

Education and welfare
Housing

Community amenities
Recreation and culture
Transport

Economic services
Other property and services

Grants, subsidies and contributions and capital
grants, subsidies and contributions

Governance

General purpose funding
Law, order, public safety
Health

Education and welfare
Housing

Community amenities
Recreation and culture
Transport

Economic services
Other property and services

Total income

Expenses

Governance

General purpose funding
Law, order, public safety
Health

Education and welfare
Housing

Community amenities
Recreation and culture
Transport

Economic services
Other property and services
Total expenses

Net result for the period

90

(continued)

2024 2024 2023
Actual Budget Actual
$ $ $
456,058 290,752 269,626
64,275,145 60,924,676 58,114,002
499,921 207,500 236,099
270,201 196,250 92,627
14,499 1,000 12,449
428,008 360,000 369,407
7,477,267 7,164,561 6,905,144
620,227 383,699 515,283
46,234 151,798 25,488
389,679 263,000 358,288
114,783 22,200 80,402
74,592,022 69,965,436 66,978,815
44,004 80,000 24,869
1,045,953 310,000 1,415,239
99,124 96,638 242,702
60,574 90,000 51,330
85,727 53,500 69,519
330,208 131,496 407,989
169,819 300,295 197,685
149,247 88,000 246,871
2,808,658 2,070,078 2,253,603
19,067 250,000 162,544
255,197 35,000 727,532
5,067,578 3,505,007 5,799,883
79,659,600 73,470,443 72,778,698
(9,515,690) (11,005,485) (8,975,745)
(4,103,449) (3,250,341) (4,529,134)
(4,241,143) (4,389,744) (3,785,886)
(1,967,297) (1,766,036) (1,419,890)
(2,339,878) (2,991,320) (2,727,907)
(1,117,053) (581,651) (800,391)
(12,938,325) (12,780,552) (8,992,894)

(20,691,382)
(14,024,543)

(18,808,646)
(12,645,648)

(17,876,318)
(12,150,224)

(3,734,354) (3,348,802) (3,531,256)
(4,171,049) (3,613,313) (3,714,121)
(78,844,163) (75,181,538) (68,503,766)
815,437 (1,711,095) 4,274,932
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Note 27. FUNCTION AND ACTIVITY (continued)

(c) Total assets

2024 2023
Actual Actual
$ $

Governance 3,952,963 5,327,396
General purpose funding 207,879,033 205,685,371
Law, order, public safety 1,080,112 952,597
Health 3,138,575 2,521,446
Education and welfare 4,462,638 3,686,135
Housing 4,857,441 6,428,279
Community amenities 22,047,723 22,678,187
Recreation and culture 113,899,382 116,190,999
Transport 265,157,745 264,690,767
Economic services 24,971,017 21,384,260
Other property and services 12,097,745 13,935,610
Unallocated 79,945,246 76,887,299

743,489,620 740,368,346




8yl ainsua 0}

papuswe Ssem piodal djel By} UAYM Se ||om Se Jeak

[eloueuly ay) ul sares asodwl o} panjosal AyD oy Jaye

rS'YTT 000°02T TLE'TST

SrE'orT 0Sz'orT G9/'0ST

v¥8'89T'€S 829'€25'95 £60'728'95

(L6V'798'T) (000'08°T) (z82'256'T)

TVE'€e0'sS 829'€6€'8S GLE'8LL'8S

810'222'eT 82L'VEE'YT = 8ZL'VEEVT 065'695 7T ¥S'€6T 970'9LE'YT 696'v2€'S6T T
TL0'€0T 855'86 - 855'86 ¥62°60T - ¥62'60T - -

L¥6'8TT'ET 0LT'9€Z'¥T - 0LT'9€2'7T 962'097' 7T 7S'E6T 251'992'7T 696'7.€'S6T T

€ZETTI8TY 006850y 169'882 €02'0LL'EY §8.'802' VY YET'TOC T59'200'7Y 2€L'80T'859 2Lz Te
Svy'ST8'Y 069°0TS'T = 069'0TS'T 096'2€S'T = 096°2ES'T 889'€58'6T 9LL'T
0vS'6 orT'L - ovT'L 09Z'€T - 09Z'€T SST'OVT €1
00v'26T 000°'TVT - 000'T¥T 000°TVT - 000'TYT S.6'G66 T
GOS'€T9'Y 0S5'29€'T - 0S5'29€'T 00L'8LE'T - 00L'8LE'T 85G'TTL'ST 229'T

8/8'566'9€ 0TZ'8¥S'eh 169'882 €15'652'2r §28'SL9'CY YET'TOC T69'vLY'ey ¥10'552'8€9 96v'6T
S08'YYT'6 ¥85'225'6 Sy 6£5'225'6 8TV'T09'6 GSL'ZYT €99'85Y'6 6LL'09€'0ET 69V

159'7€0°0T 961'€99'0T ¥SL'€S 27,'609'0T 0ST'85L°0T (€0L'€6) €58'7158'0T 626'TEV'SKT 188

9TY'9T8'LT 0€T'29€'2Z 868'7EC zeeLer'ee 152'9TE'CT 280°2ST SLT'Y9T'2e 9EE'ZIV'TIE ovT'8T
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

anuanal anuanal alel wuLul anuanal anuanal Ssajel wuau| anuaAal , onea mm_u._wﬁ_o‘_a

[ejo [enjoy [ejo1 196png 196png ayel 1obpng [ejol [enoy lenjoy a1ey [enoy a|qearey Jo JaquinN
[enjoy
€2/220C vz/ge0T ¥2/€202 v2/€202 v2/€202 v2/€20T vz/£20T vz/ee0T

T0ELOO

00°020'T

00°000'T

00°058

0SEVL0'0

900€.0°0

€60T90°0

$ Ul arey

“alel Jo Buisiel Jo swin 1e anfeA s|qesiey ()

"J081I00 puUB JUBLND SEM PI023I BY) Ul  UOReWIoUl

a|qeonoeid Se UOOS se pI0Jal djel Byl WOJ) Pasiufodas Sem anuaAdl ayel ayL

1S191UI BNPISAO SRy
1S3191UI JuBWIBISUI 3jey

solel [e10L
salel [elausn)
S)uNoasia

(sa1el [esauab Buipnjoxa)

SoYel WO} Pasiel Junowre [ejo |
nar ul sayey Jayio

saley yodiy

sajel enelb-x3

syuawhed
wnwiuiw pue sajel [elauab [ejoL

sjuawAed wnwiuiw [ejo|

uonenfen
[ejual ssol9 aley [elisnpu|
uonenfen
[ejual ssoI aley [eRIsWWOD
uonenfen
[ejual ssoi ajel [enuapisay
JuswAed wnwiuiy
sajel [esauab [e10L
uonenfen
[ejuas ssoi aley [elisnpu|
uonenfen
[elual ssoI9 aley [eJsWWOD
uonenfen
[ejuas ssoi alel [enuapisay
uonduosaq arey
soley [elausn
adA) arey
uonenjen
Jjo siseg

NOILVINHO-NI ONILVY '8¢ 810N

#7202 aunr Qg papua Jeak ay o}
SjUBWAL]S [eIoURUIH Y] O] S310N

92



Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 29. DETERMINATION OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT

2023/24 2023/24 2022/23
Budget
30 June 2024 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Carried Carried Carried
Forward Forward Forward
Note $ $ $

(a) Non-cash amounts excluded from operating
activities

The following non-cash revenue or expenditure has been excluded from amounts attributable to operating
activities within the Statement of Financial Activity in accordance with Financial Management Regulation 32.

Adjustments to operating activities

Less: Profit on asset disposals (27,368) (145,298) (28,535)
Less: Fair value adjustments to financial

assets at fair value through profit or loss (4,203) - (9,215)
Add: Loss on disposal of assets 744,290 - 2,149,490
Add: Depreciation 10 12,953,278 11,400,000 11,423,543

Non-cash movements in non-current assets and

liabilities:

Pensioner deferred rates 24,053 - 19,557
Employee benefit provisions (4,611) 64,822 (44,305)
Movement in current lease liability (13,133) - (12,298)
Movement in receivable from EMRC (72,898) - (538,413)
Asset additions at substantially less than fair

value - - (139,096)
Movement in non-current employee provisions - - -
Non-cash amounts excluded from

operating activities 13,599,408 11,319,524 12,820,728

(b) Non-cash amounts excluded from investing activities
The following non-cash revenue or expenditure has been excluded from amounts attributable to investing

activities within the Statement of Financial Activity in accordance with Financial Management Regulation 32.

Adjustments to investing activities
Property, plant and equipment received for

substantially less than fair value 8a - - 139,096
Non-cash amounts excluded from
investing activities - - 139,096

(c) Surplus/(deficit) after imposition of general rates

The following current assets and liabilities have been excluded from the net current assets used in the
Statement of Financial Activity in accordance with Financial Management Regulation 32 to agree to the surplus/
(deficit) after imposition of general rates.

Adjustments to net current assets
Less: Reserve accounts 31 (69,265,327) (44,568,885) (61,681,377)
Add: Financial assets at amortised cost 3,278,806 - 31,022,402

Less: Current assets not expected to be
received at end of year - EMRC receivable (21,000,517) - (20,927,619)
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Note 29. DETERMINATION OF SURPLUS OR DEFICIT

Add: Current liabilities not expected to be cleared at

end of year

- Current portion of borrowings

- Current portion of lease liabilities

- Employee benefit provisions

Total adjustments to net current assets

Net current assets used in the Statement of

Financial Activity

Total current assets

Less: Total current liabilities

Less: Total adjustments to net current assets
Surplus or deficit after imposition of

general rates

Note

15
11

(continued)
2023/24 2023/24 2022/23
Budget
30 June 2024 30 June 2024 30 June 2023
Carried Carried Carried
Forward Forward Forward
$ $ $
641,884 641,884 618,111
105,428 58,056 118,561
1,994,408 3,527,499 2,090,449
(84,245,318) (40,341,446) (48,759,473)
105,242,103 52,695,950 73,021,126
(15,201,164) (11,854,504) (12,309,011)
(84,245,318) (40,341,446) (48,759,473)
5,795,621 500,000 11,952,642
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Notes to the Financial Statements
for the year ended 30 June 2024

Note 32. TRUST FUNDS

Funds held at balance date which are required to be held in trust and which are not included in the

financial statements are as follows:

BCITF Levy

Cash-in-lieu of public open space
Building Services Levy
Development Asset Panels

Amounts
1-Jul-2023 received Amounts paid 30 June 2024

$ $ $ $

3,354 15,379 (16,298) 2,435

1,303,865 - - 1,303,865
53,097 312,214 (308,609) 56,702
- 73,739 (73,228) 511

1,360,316 401,332 (398,135) 1,363,513

100



Auditor General

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
2024
City of Belmont

To the Council of the City of Belmont
Opinion
I have audited the financial report of the City of Belmont (City) which comprises:

the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2024, the statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and statement of
financial activity for the year then ended

notes comprising a summary of material accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

In my opinion, the financial report:
is based on proper accounts and records

presents fairly, in all material respects, the results of the operations of the City for the
year ended 30 June 2024 and its financial position at the end of that period

is in accordance with the Local Government Act 1995 (the Act) and, to the extent that
they are not inconsistent with the Act, Australian Accounting Standards.
Basis for opinion

| conducted my audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. My responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the
financial report section below.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Other information

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) is responsible for the preparation and the Council for
overseeing the other information. The other information is the information in the entity’s annual
report for the year ended 30 June 2024, but not the financial report and my auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly, | do
not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial report, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent

with the financial report or my knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

Page 1 of 3
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If, based on the work | have performed, | conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, | am required to report that fact. | did not receive the other information prior
to the date of this auditor’s report. When | do receive it, | will read it and if | conclude that there
is a material misstatement in this information, | am required to communicate the matter to the
CEO and Council and request them to correct the misstated information. If the misstated
information is not corrected, | may need to retract this auditor’s report and re-issue an
amended report.

Responsibilities of the Chief Executive Officer and Council for the financial
report

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the City is responsible for:
keeping proper accounts and records

preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with the requirements
of the Act, the Regulations and Australian Accounting Standards

managing internal control as required by the CEO to ensure the financial report is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, the CEO is responsible for:
assessing the City’s ability to continue as a going concern
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern

using the going concern basis of accounting unless the State Government has made
decisions affecting the continued existence of the City.

The Council is responsible for overseeing the City’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the
financial report. The objectives of my audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial report as a whole is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of the financial report. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control.

A further description of my responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located on the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website. This description forms part of my auditor’s
report and can be found at https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar4.pdf.

My independence and quality management relating to the report on the financial
report

I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and the
relevant ethical requirements relating to assurance engagements. In accordance with ASQM 1
Quality Management for Firms that Perform Audits or Reviews of Financial Reports and Other
Financial Information, or Other Assurance or Related Services Engagements, the Office of the
Auditor General maintains a comprehensive system of quality management including
documented policies and procedures regarding compliance with ethical requirements,
professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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Matters relating to the electronic publication of the audited financial report

This auditor’s report relates to the financial report of the City of Belmont for the year ended

30 June 2024 included in the annual report on the City’s website. The City’'s management is
responsible for the integrity of the City’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the
integrity of the City’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial report. It does not
provide an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from the
annual report. If users of the financial report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from
publication on a website, they are advised to contact the City to confirm the information
contained in the website version.

Sandra Labuschagne

Deputy Auditor General

Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia

28 November 2024
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CEO remuneration

The total remuneration

paid to the Chief Executive

20FHU LQ WKH ¢QDQFLDO \HDU
ended 30 June 2024 under

the Salaries and Allowances

Act 1975, including salary,

superannuation, private

use of a motor vehicle and

DOORZDQFHV ZDV



Corporate Governance / Code of Conduct

Local Laws

The Local Government

Act 1995 (WA) and other
legislation allows Western
Australian local governments
to make local laws considered
necessary for the good
government of the district.
The City of Belmont currently
has the following local laws in
place:

« Consolidated Local Law
2020

¢ Health Local Laws 2002

» Standing Orders Local Law
2017

The City of Belmont
Consolidated Local Law 2020
was gazetted in January 2021
and amended in November
2022 following an undertaking
to the Joint Standing
Committee on Delegated
Legislation.

Code of Conduct

As required by the  Local
Government Act 1995 (WA)
the City has two codes of
conduct: one for Elected
Members, Committee
Members and Candidates, and
the other, for employees of

the City of Belmont.

Both codes set out the
standards of behaviour
which must be observed
when performing a person’s
respective duties and

are intended to promote
accountable and ethical
decision-making.

Gift Disclosures Complaints

If Elected Members when \ Register
DFWLQJ LQ WKHLU ROFL?h%reF\A%r%%ICWr}pIaints

receive any gifts with a under Section 5.121 of the

value over $300, the Local
' Local Government Act 1995
Government Act 1995 (WA) (WA) entered on the Register

requires them to disclose the of Complaints during the

gift in writing to the Chief ,
] ¢QDQFLDO \HDU 7KH
([HFEXWLYH 20FHU ZI‘WKLI_QcaI Government Standards

days of receipt of the gift. Panel found that a breach
This requirement includes any had been made on the two
contributions to travel. The

. occasions and ordered training
&KLHI ([HFXWLYH ZOFHUf(J)T%eBeéC\@g

. . . member
required to disclose such gifts EH XQGHUWDNHQ IRU WKH
in writing to the Mayor.

complaint and a public

7KH &KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20Aapaagy for the second. Both
maintains a register of gifts sanctions were carried out.
which is published on the
City’s website and is available
for public inspection on
request at the City of Belmont
Administration Building.

Two behaviour complaints
were lodged under the
Code of Conduct for Council
Members, Committee
Members and Candidates

Elected Members are also GXULQJ WKH
required to make a disclosure year.

of interest relating to any gifts

received from a person who

requires a decision of Council.

The disclosure must be in

writing to the Chief Executive

20FHU EHIRUH WKH PHHWLQJ
or at the meeting where the

matter will be discussed. The

&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU PXVW
also make such disclosures.

¢QDQFLI



Compliance
Audit Return

The Local Government (Audit)
Regulations 1996 (WA)
requires local governments
to carry out an annual
compliance audit for the
period 1 January to 31
December. The compliance
audit must address whether
the compliance requirements
relating to the following

local government functions/
activities have been met:

e Commercial Enterprises by
Local Government;

« Delegation of Power / Duty;

» Disclosure of Interest;

 Disposal of Property;

 Elections;

* Finance;

¢ Integrated Planning and
Reporting;

* Local Government
Employees;

« 20FLDO &RQGXFW

¢ Optional Questions —
Pertaining to Financial
Management and Policy;
and

¢ Tenders for Providing Goods
and Services.

There were no non-
compliances reported for

the 2023 Compliance Audit
Return. The 2023 Compliance
Audit Return was adopted by
Council on 27 February 2024

Delegation of
Authority

The Local Government (Audit)

Regulations 1996 (WA)

allows a local government to

delegate some of its powers

or discharge duties to the

&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU 7KH
Act also allows the Chief

([HFXWLYH 20FHU WR GHOHJDWH
some of those powers to other

employees. These Delegations

are recorded in the Delegated

Authority Register.

The purpose of delegating

&KLHI ([HFXWLYH 20FHU
IXQFWLRQV WR ROFHUV LV
WR DFKLHYH HOFLHQFLHV
in delivering strategic

outcomes and provide a

best practice approach to

the City’s operations within

the constraints allowed by

the relevant legislation and

Council. The Delegations

are reviewed annually to

ensure appropriateness

DQG WR HQDEOH DQ HNHFWLYH
decision-making process. The

Delegated Authority Register

was reviewed and endorsed

by Council in 2023-24 at the

April 2024 Ordinary Council

Meeting.

DQG D FHUWL¢{¢HG FRS\ RI WKH

return along with an extract
of the Minutes including

the Council resolution was
submitted to the Department
of Local Government, Sport
and Cultural Industries.
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12.8 Accounts for Payment November 2024

Voting Requirement - Simple Majority

Subject Index :  54/007- Creditors-Payment Authorisations
Location/Property Index > N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : Nil

Previous Items - N/A

Applicant - N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division - Corporate and Governance

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To present to Council the list of expenditure paid for the period 1 November
2024 to 15 November 2024 under delegated authority.

Summary and key issues

A list of payments is presented to the Council each month for confirmation and
endorsement in accordance with the Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996 (WA).

Due to timelines associated with the agenda preparation process for the earlier
December meeting of Council, payments for the period 1 November 2024 to 15
November 2024 only are presented rather than the full month as is usual
practice. Payments made for the period 16 November 2024 to 30 November
2024 will be included in the report presented to the next ordinary meeting of
Council in February 2025.
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Officer Recommendation

That the Authorised Payment Listing for 1 November 2024 to 15 November
2024 as provided under Attachment 12.8.1 be received.

Officer Recommendation adopted en bloc - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.

Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

There has been no specific consultation undertaken in respect to this matter.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—2034 Strategic Community Plan:

Key Performance Area: Performance
Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.
Outcome: 11. A happy, well informed and engaged community.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

Regulation 13(1) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations
1996 (WA) states:

“If the local government has delegated to the CEO the exercise of its power
to make payments from the municipal fund or the trust fund, a list of
accounts paid by the CEO is to be prepared each month showing for each
account paid since the last such list was prepared:

(a) the payee's name;
(b) the amount of the payment;

(c) the date of the payment; and
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(d) sufficient information to identify the transaction.”

(3) A list prepared under sub regulation (1) is to be presented to Council at the
next ordinary meeting of Council after the list is prepared; and recorded in the
minutes of that meeting.

Regulation 13A of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations
1996 (WA) effective from 1 September 2023 states:

(1) If alocal government has authorised an employee to use a credit, debit or
other purchasing card, a list of payments made using the card must be
prepared each month showing the following for each payment made since
the last such list was prepared —

(a) the payee’s name;

(b) the amount of the payment;

(c) the date of the payment;

(d) sufficient information to identify the payment.
(2) A list prepared under subregulation (1) must be —

(a) presented to the council at the next ordinary meeting of the council
after the list is prepared; and

(b) recorded in the minutes of that meeting.

Background

Council has delegated to the Chief Executive Officer under Delegation 1.1.18 to
make payment from the Municipal and Trust Fund account. In accordance with
Regulation 13(1) of the Local Government (Financial Management) Regulations
1996 (WA), where this power has been delegated, a list of payments each
month is to be compiled and presented to Council.
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Report

The following summary of payments are recommended for confirmation and
endorsement.

Payment type Payment reference $
Municipal Fund Cheques NIL 0
Municipal Fund EFTs EF093235-EF09340 1,122,624.36
Municipal Fund Payroll 1/11/24 to 15/11/24 959,589.12
Trust Fund EFT EF093431-EF093433 48,478.81
Total Payments for 1 Nov 2,130,692.29
2024 to 15 Nov 2024

A copy of the Authorised Payment Listing is included as Attachment 12.8.1.

Financial implications

All expenditure included in the Authorised Payment Listing is in accordance with
Council’s Annual budget.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. November 2024 Payments [12.8.1 - 3 pages]
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City of Belmont
Accounts for Payment - 01/11/2024 to 15/11/2024 Compiled : 14/11/24 12:51

Pmnt Ref Date CR Code Supplier Pmnt Amnt Description
Contractors
EF093239 08/11/24 00230 |Jackson McDonald 1,668.15 [Legal Expenses
EF093246 08/11/24 01074 |Shred - X Pty Ltd 11.70 |Rubbish Removals
EF093249 08/11/24 01243 |WARP Pty Ltd 96,692.90 |Traffic Control - Various Locations
EF093253 08/11/24 01507 [The Pressure King 440.00 |Graffiti Removal - Various Location
EF093254 08/11/24 01712 |Donegan Enterprises Pty Ltd 374.00 |Gardening - Park Swing Maintenance
EF093255 08/11/24 01713 M P Rogers and Associates 4,998.31 [Professional Fees - Bilya Kard Boodja Design
EF093257 08/11/24 02091 | The Mighty Booths 949.00 |Photography/Framing Expenses - Kidz Fest
EF093259 08/11/24 02172 Miss Maud 32.55 |Catering/Catering Supplies
EF093261 08/11/24 02393 |Zipform Pty Ltd 11,814.58 |Postage - Rates Notices
EF093262 08/11/24 02711 |CPG Research and Advisory Pty Ltd 1,558.33 |Advisory Fees - October 2024
EF093263 08/11/24 03031 Retech Rubber 2,090.00 [Plant Parts & Repairs - Tomato Lake Softball Rubber
EF093264 08/11/24 03197 |West Coast Turf 13,194.26 |Gardening Contractor - Turf Installation Ascot Waters
EF093265 08/11/24 03246  [Window Wipers 1,188.00 |Cleaning Services
EF093267 08/11/24 03736 |Beth Mullany - West Oz Wildlife 693.00 |Library - Wildlife Display
EF093269 08/11/24 04106 Effects Picture Framing 75.00 [Photography/Framing Expenses
EF093271 08/11/24 04400 | The Freedom Fairies 9,790.00 |Music/Entertainment Expenses - Kidz Fest & Belvidere St Locals
EF093273 08/11/24 04806 BirdLife Australia - WA Branch 330.00 |Library - Entertainment Expense - Tomato Lake Bird Walk
EF093274 08/11/24 04974 | Turf Care WA Pty Ltd 98,526.32 | Turf Maintenance - Various Parks
EF093275 08/11/24 05016 |Cyclus Pty Ltd 9,178.72 |Labour/Personnel Hire - Kidz Fest Crew
EF093278 08/11/24 05094 Richard Offen 250.00 [Library Entertainment - Belmont Interest Group Presentation
EF093279 08/11/24 05190  |Mark Foote 4,933.50 [Building Maintenance - COB
EF093280 08/11/24 05240 Otium Planning Group Pty Ltd 44,554.95 |Professional Fees - Abernethy Sporting Precinct
EF093281 08/11/24 05283 IRP Pty Ltd 7,964.44 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093282 08/11/24 05427 Horizon West Landscape & Irrigation Pty Ltd 290.40 |Gardening Maintenance - Various Locations
EF093283 08/11/24 05455 | Brajkovich Demolition & Salvage (WA) Pty Ltd 16,280.00 |Asbestos Removal - Epsom Ave
EF093284 08/11/24 05493 Dapth 2,007.50 [Computer Software Maintenance - Website Support Service
EF093285 08/11/24 05782 |Jane Wetherall 1,320.00 [Professional Fees - Design Review Panel
EF093287 08/11/24 05915 |Eco Action Pty Ltd 420.00 |Library - Incursion Activities
EF093288 08/11/24 06130 [Amalgam Recruitment 1,565.85 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093289 08/11/24 06203 |Ngala Boodja Aboriginal Land Care 14,132.44 [Maintenance of Natural Areas COB
EF093290 08/11/24 06362 Marjan Partitions Pty Ltd t/as M & M Interiors 15,965.40 [Building Construction - Epsom Ave Renovation
EF093291 08/11/24 06438 |Marketlife Pty Ltd T/As Erin Madeley Consulting 4,983.00 [Consultancy Fee - Markets September 2024
EF093292 08/11/24 06528 Diplomatik Pty Ltd 5,761.65 [Professional Fees - Recruitment Services
EF093293 08/11/24 06608 |Robert Walters Pty Ltd 6,184.07 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093294 08/11/24 06618 |Dan McCabe 847.00 |Art Awards/Exhibition
EF093295 08/11/24 06623 |Glen Flood Group Pty Ltd T/as GFG Consulting 5,598.87 |FOGO Customer Service Officer
EF093296 08/11/24 06687 |SJC Building Group 5,031.40 |Building Maintenance
EF093297 08/11/24 06691  |Wood Recruitment Pty Ltd 1,409.76 [Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093298 08/11/24 06696 | The Collab Effect 6,783.61 |Professional Fees - Community Consultation and Strategy
EF093301 08/11/24 06751 HFM Asset Management 1,613.17 |Building Maintenance Licensing Fee
EF093302 08/11/24 06815 | Deborah Anne Eldridge 1,500.00 |Music/Entertainment Expenses - Mayoral Dinner
EF093304 08/11/24 06861 Mode Design Corp 4,968.92 |Professional Fees - Audit Fee
EF093305 08/11/24 06863 _|Kleen Slate Services 1,200.00 [Cleaning Service - Chemical Shed
EF093306 08/11/24 06875 |Jimbu4J 1,066.50 [Catering/Catering Supplies - Walkers Group
EF093307 08/11/24 06889 PTG Consulting Pty Ltd 12,445.40 |Belmont Sustainable Transport Plan
EF093308 08/11/24 06900  |AMS Installation & Maintenance Solutions 220.00 |Airconditioning/Refrigeration Maintenance
EF093309 08/11/24 06920 Natalie Ong 4,950.00 |Professional Fees - Marketing
EF093310 08/11/24 06931 |Chefmade Solutions 220.00 |Catering/Catering Supplies
EF093311 08/11/24 06936 Building Approvals WA Pty Ltd T/as WABCA Group 880.00 |Professional Fees - Building
EF093312 08/11/24 06937 |Nightguard Security Services 604.04 [Security Services
EF093313 08/11/24 06945 Life Martial Arts 2,200.00 [Professional Fees - Guest Speaker
EF093314 08/11/24 06958 _|Li, Tao 1,050.00 [Catering/Catering Supplies - Kidz Fest
EF093379 13/11/24 00118 Australia Post 4,799.30 |Postage
EF093381 13/11/24 00412 |Dowsing Group Pty Ltd 7,938.49 |Concrete Contractor - Profiling and Concrete
EF093382 13/11/24 00608 Programmed Skilled Workforce Ltd 5,861.02 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093383 13/11/24 00717 Main Roads Western Australia 15,628.59 |Road Building Contractor - Fulham & Fisher Street
EF093384 13/11/24 00988 |Reece Australia Pty Ltd 1,398.40 [Plumbing Maintenance/Supplies
EF093385 13/11/24 01133 J Tagz Pty Ltd 169.95 [Hardware
EF093386 13/11/24 01243  |WARP Pty Ltd 3,345.71 |Traffic Control - Various Locations
EF093388 13/11/24 01507 The Pressure King 33,476.43 |Graffiti Removal - Various Location
EF093390 13/11/24 02410 | System Maintenance T/A Systems By Ballantyne 667.65 |Plumbing Maintenance/Supplies
EF093392 13/11/24 03246  [Window Wipers 12,536.70 [Cleaning Services
EF093393 13/11/24 03599  |Donald Cant Watts Corke (WA) Pty Ltd 9,900.00 |Professional Fees - Wilson Park Zone 2 Superintendent
EF093395 13/11/24 04109  |Heroes Framing & Memorabilia 534.20 |Photography/Framing Expenses
EF093397 13/11/24 04693 |Allwest Plant Hire Australia Pty Ltd 8,250.00 [Plant/Equipment Hire - September 2024
EF093398 13/11/24 04974 | Turf Care WA Pty Ltd 4,864.12 |Turf Maintenance - Various Parks
EF093399 13/11/24 05016 Cyclus Pty Ltd 689.28 [Labour/Personnel Hire - Kidz Fest Crew
EF093400 13/11/24 05190  |Mark Foote 385.00 [Building Maintenance - COB
EF093401 13/11/24 05237 Crown Perth 13,335.00 | Christmas Function - Deposit
EF093402 13/11/24 05252 |AAAC Towing Pty Ltd 203.50 [Towing Vehicles
EF093403 13/11/24 05283 IRP Pty Ltd 7,401.85 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093404 13/11/24 05322 |Nutrition Nation 467.50 |Community Nutrition Classes
EF093405 13/11/24 05336 |West - Sure Group Pty Ltd 631.24 [Security Services
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Pmnt Ref Date CR Code Supplier Pmnt Amnt Description
EF093406 13/11/24 05386 |Ballroom Fit 660.00 [Community Exercise Classes
EF093407 13/11/24 05614 Culture Counts (Australia) Pty Ltd 2,200.00 [Computer Software Maintenance - Culture Counts
EF093408 13/11/24 05920  |Boults Black and White Light 5,826.29 |Electrical Contractor - Kidz Fest
EF093409 13/11/24 05944 Delron Cleaning Pty Ltd - Ventia 979.88 |Cleaning Services
EF093410 13/11/24 06067 | TK Elevator Australia Pty Ltd 7,958.50 |Building Maintenance - Hub
EF093411 13/11/24 06104 Flick Anticimex Pty Ltd 2,570.83 |Pest Control - COB
EF093412 13/11/24 06130  |Amalgam Recruitment 2,834.19 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093413 13/11/24 06203 |Ngala Boodja Aboriginal Land Care 1,054.88 |Maintenance of Natural Areas COB
EF093415 13/11/24 06259 Enchanted Characters - Enchanted ing 2,574.00 [Music/Entertainment Expenses - Kidz Fest
EF093418 13/11/24 06438 |Marketlife Pty Ltd T/As Erin Madeley Consulting 3,993.00 |Music/Entertainment Expenses - Christmas Carols Deposit
EF093419 13/11/24 06458 ES2 Pty Ltd 2,881.99 [Computer Software Maintenance
EF093420 13/11/24 06481 |NPO Kissako Cha Know You 300.00 |Library - Entertainment Expense
EF093421 13/11/24 06528 Diplomatik Pty Ltd 6,894.58 |Professional Fees - Recruitment Services
EF093422 13/11/24 06602 |Perth Symphony Orchestra 12,478.95 [Music Entertainment - Christmas Concert
EF093423 13/11/24 06773 Evolve Talent 6,761.04 |Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093424 13/11/24 06790 Site Architecture Studio Pty Ltd 13,002.00 [Professional Fees - Architect Hub Basement Carpark
EF093425 13/11/24 06798 | Aspire Performance Training 8,992.50 [Professional Fees - Recruitment Services
EF093426 13/11/24 06833 First Choice Gates (WA) 3,585.00 [Fencing - COB
EF093427 13/11/24 06874 |Bug Busters 269.50 [Pest Control
EF093428 13/11/24 06928 Integrity Staffing 5,519.96 [Labour/Personnel Hire
EF093429 13/11/24 06942 |Educating Kids 600.71 [Floor Coverings
Contractors Total 657,228.42
Councillor Payments
EF093245 08/11/24 00919 Cr Janet Powell 3,148.17 |Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093252 08/11/24 01369 Philip Marks 3,148.17 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093258 08/11/24 02145 |Robert Rossi 12,668.92 | Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093268 08/11/24 03916 Bernard Ryan 3,148.17 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093276 08/11/24 05084 |Jenny Davis 3,224.15 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093277 08/11/24 05085 George Sekulla 3,148.17 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093286 08/11/24 05828  |Deborah Sessions 5,171.40 |Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093299 08/11/24 06704 Christopher John Kulczycki 3,148.17 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093300 08/11/24 06738 |Tamak Vijay(Vljay Vijay) 1,651.49 [Councillor Sitting Fee
EF093315 08/11/24 06968 |Jarrod Harris 929.00 |Councillor Sitting Fee
Councillor Payments Total 39,385.81
Fuels and Utilities
EF093235 08/11/24 00042 [Alinta Energy 660.60 [Light, Power, Gas
EF093250 08/11/24 01252 |Water Corporation 21,098.50 |Water, Annual & Excess
EF093251 08/11/24 01274 Synergy 24,891.87 |Light, Power, Gas
EF093387 13/11/24 01274 | Synergy 128,757.01 |Light, Power, Gas
EF093391 13/11/24 02631 Ampol - Caltex 15,112.78 |Fuel, Oil, Additives
EF093417 13/11/24 06424  |Telstra Limited 3,941.27 |Phone/Internet expenses
Fuels and Utilities Total 194,462.03
Materials
EF093236 08/11/24 00065 |Apace Aid (Inc) 11,110.00 |Gardening - COB Plants Deposit
EF093240 08/11/24 00317 Coles Supermarkets Aust Pty Ltd 496.63 |Groceries
EF093241 08/11/24 00475 |Saferight Pty Ltd 1,771.00 [Safety Equipment - Inspection
EF093242 08/11/24 00506 Geofabrics Al Pty Ltd 2,018.50 |Hardware
EF093243 08/11/24 00664 |Kmart Australia Limited 25.00 [Stationery & Printing
EF093244 08/11/24 00883 | The Perth Mint 1,870.00 [Badges & Pendants - 2025 Citizenship
EF093256 08/11/24 01906 Frazzcon Enterprises 662.00 [Street & Parking Sign Maintenance - Sept 24
EF093266 08/11/24 03660 |Safe T Card Australia Pty Ltd 107.80 |Safety Clothing/Equipment
EF093270 08/11/24 04394 [JB Hi - Fi Belmont Forum - Library purchases 511.56 [Books/CDs/DVDs
EF093272 08/11/24 04491 |Woolworths Group - Functions/Catering only 143.58 |Groceries
EF093378 13/11/24 00099  |Ausrecord Pty Ltd 82.50 [Stationery & Printing
EF093380 13/11/24 00203 |BOC Gases Australia Ltd 162.61 |Welding Equipment/Supplies
EF093389 13/11/24 02139 Ulverscroft Large Print Books Ltd 453.06 |Books/CDs/DVDs
EF093394 13/11/24 03856 | SEM Distribution - newspaper delivery 66.01 [Publication pap
EF093396 13/11/24 04537 Cameron Aitkenhead t/as Head Office Studio 5,225.00 |Books/CDs/DVDs
EF093414 13/11/24 06216 |Axon Public Safety Australia Pty Ltd 1,320.00 [Safety Clothing/Equipment - Body Cameras
Materials Total 26,025.25
Other
EF093237 08/11/24 00169 _|Belmont Business Enterprise Centre Inc 45,584.00 [Donation - Accommodation Support 2024 - 2025
EF093238 08/11/24 00171 Belmont Forum Shopping Centre 400.00 |Vouchers - City Walkers
EF093248 08/11/24 01236 |Department of Fire and Emergency Services 106,196.11 [Emergency Services Levy - October 2024
EF093260 08/11/24 02220 Belmont Toy Library Inc 300.00 |Membership Fee
EF093303 08/11/24 06848 [Donna Dabala 18.17 |Staff Reimbursement
EF093319 08/11/24 99998 Lakis WA 180.00 |Rates Refund
EF093320 08/11/24 99998 |Parris Watt 295.00 |Application Fee
EF093321 08/11/24 99998 Housing Choices WA 2,972.83 |Rates Refund
EF093322 08/11/24 99998 | Christine R Clark 842.13 |Vendors Pensioner Refund
EF093323 08/11/24 99998  |Mark & Paula Bialdham 850.00 |Sports Donation
EF093430 13/11/24 99998  |Tania & Leslie Robertson 403.61 |Rates Refund
Other Total 158,041.85
Salaries/Wages
WG000711 07/11/24 COB City of Belmont Payroll 791,881.10 |Salaries/Wages
EF093316 11/08/24 99952 Child Support Agency 1,429.03 |Salaries/Wages
EF093317 11/08/24 99954 | City of Belmont Social Club 415.00 [Salaries/Wages
EF093318 11/08/24 99962 LGRCEU - WA Shire Councils Union 132.00 Wage:
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Pmnt Ref Date CR Code Supplier Pmnt Amnt Description
EF093324 11/08/24 99971 | SuperChoice 165,731.99 [Superannuation Contribution
Salaries/Wages Total 959,589.12
Training and Conferences
EF093247 11/08/24 01197 Helloworld Travel Belmont WA 47,351.00 |Adachi - Flights & Accommodation
EF093416 13/11/24 06336 [Adam Strelein 130.00 |Phone Protection
Training and Conferences Total 47,481.00
MUNI Total 2,082,213.48
Trust Funds
EF093431 13/11/24 150748 |Building and Construction Industry Training Fund 201.75 [Building and Construction Industry Training Fund
EF093432 13/11/24 154102 _|Building and Energy - Building Services Levy 31,597.06 [Building and Energy - Building Services Levy
EF093433 13/11/24 164040 |Department of Planning DAP fees 16,680.00 [Department of Planning DAP fees
Trust Funds Total 48,478.81
TRUST Total 48,478.81
Grand Total 2,130,692.29
2,130,692.29
Breakdown - Cheques : -
EFT: 2,130,692.29
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12.9 Monthly Financial Report for November
2024

Voting Requirement :  Simple Majority

Subject Index - 32/009 Financial Operating Statements
Location/Property Index - N/A

Application Index - N/A

Disclosure of any Interest : N/A

Previous Items > N/A

Applicant > N/A

Owner - N/A

Responsible Division : Corporate and Governance

Council role

Executive The substantial direction setting and oversight role of the
Council e.g. adopting plans and reports, accepting tenders,
directing operations, setting and amending budgets.

Purpose of report

To provide Council with relevant monthly financial information for the 2024-25
financial year.

Summary and key issues

The following report includes a concise list of material variances for the month
ending 30 November 2024.

Officer Recommendation

That the Monthly Financial Reports as at 30 November 2024 as included in
Attachment 12.9.1 be received.

Officer Recommendation adopted en bloc - Refer to Resolution
appearing at Item 12.
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Location

Not applicable.

Consultation

There has been no specific consultation undertaken in respect to this matter.

Strategic Community Plan implications
In accordance with the 2024—2034 Strategic Community Plan:

Key Performance Area: Performance
Outcome: 10. Effective leadership, governance and financial management.

Policy implications

There are no policy implications associated with this report.

Statutory environment

Section 6.4 of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) (the Act) in conjunction
with Regulations 34 (1) of the Local Government (Financial Management)
Regulations 1996 (WA) (the Regulations) requires monthly financial reports to
be presented to Council.

Regulation 34(1) requires a monthly Statement of Financial Activity reporting
on revenue and expenditure.

Regulation 34(5) determines the mechanism required to ascertain the definition
of material variances which are required to be reported to Council as a part of
the monthly report.

Background

The Regulations prescribe that a Local Government is to prepare each month a
Statement of Financial Activity.

Regulation 34(2) requires the Statement of Financial Activity to be accompanied
by documents containing:

1. Explanation for each material variance identified between year to date
budgets and actuals.
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2. Any other supporting information considered relevant by the Local
Government.
Regulation 34 (5) states that “Each financial year, a Local Government is to
adopt a percentage or value, calculated in accordance with the Australian
Accounting Standards, to be used in statements of financial activity for
reporting material variances.”

This regulation requires Council to annually set a materiality threshold for the
purpose of disclosing budget variances within monthly financial reporting.

The materiality threshold has been set by Council at $100,000 for the 2024-25
financial year.

Report

At the June 2024 Ordinary Council Meeting, Council adopted the materiality
threshold for the 2024-25 financial year as $100,000. The below table provides
a summary of significant variances based on this materiality threshold. The
detailed financial activity report is included at Attachment 12.9.1.

Budget Actual

Report Section Report Comments

YTD YTD

OPERATING

ACTIVITIES

Revenue from operating activities
Fees and charges

Income relating to on
charging of bank fee
Finance 75,625 200,565 | associated with large rates
payment made by credit
card.

Various hire and lease
revenue amounts above
budget by amounts below
variance threshold.
Building application and
Health related licence
income higher than
expected for period.

City Facilities & Property 457,070 581,067

Safer Communities 419,726 537,418

Interest earnings

Higher than anticipated
Finance interest as a result of end of
2,947,784 | 3,359,075 | year underspends and
subsequent higher end of
year cash balances.
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Other revenue

Various utility
. e reimbursement amounts
City Facilities & Property 175,405 289,787 above budget by amounts
below variance threshold.
Expenditure from operating activities
Employee costs
Some design costs to be
Works (769,731) (914,320) | reallocated to capital
projects.
Parlfs, Leisure & (1,737,995) | (1,595,352) Salaries are b(_—:'low bgdget
Environment due to vacancies which are
Safer Communities (1.508,759) | (1,339,658) | Currently being recruited by
the City.
Materials and
contracts
SCP review completed in
FY24, budget to be
Governance. Strateqy & amended at March review.
. ’ 9y (388,996) | (133,893) | Expenses relating to
Risk . .
extraordinary election yet to
be incurred from Electoral
Commission.
Bank fee associated with
large rates payment made
Finance (154,584) (309,559) | by credit card. Fee amount
has been on charged and
paid.
Unexpected price increases
Information Technology | (1,662,475) | (2,051,072) | from Microsoft and VMware
licensing.
Decreased seasonal
. activities including watering
Parl_<s, Leisure & (3,521,610) | (2,291,324) | and maintenance of trees
Environment . ..
and delays in receiving
contractor invoices.
Various material and
i . contract expenses below
City Facilities & Property | (1,677,451) | (1,473,920) budget by amounts below
variance threshold
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Safer Communities

(1,136,812) | (990,139)

Realised savings due to
more cost-effective CB radio
system purchase. Various
material and contract
expenses in Community
Safety and Building Control
below budget by amounts
below variance threshold.

Economic & Community
Development

(1,145,651) | (775,853)

Expenses not yet incurred
as budgeted including aged
accommodation fees and
maintenance, youth services
program and other
contracts.

INVESTING
ACTIVITIES

Inflows from investing activities

Capital grants, subsidies and contributions

City Projects

Nil 230,083

Funding for Esplanade
Foreshore Stabilisation from
DBCA received in FY2023,
budget to be reallocated
from Parks.

Outflows from investing activities

Payments for property, plant and equipment

Delays in network
infrastructure project due to

Information Technology (360,000) (83,426) evaluation of alternate
solutions
Some works for Middleton
City Facilities & Property | (575,000) | (734,563) | "k completed ahead of

schedule in order to align
with grant requirements.

Payments for construction of infrastructure

Works

(2,270,781) | (1,467,698)

Awaiting invoices for
completed projects.

City Projects

(2,640,119) | (873,061)

Esplanade foreshore and
Ornamental Lakes works to
commence in January 2025.
Budget to be amended in
March review.

Parks, Leisure &
Environment

(2,152,687) | (526,907)

Irrigation projects to
commence. Delays in
receiving contractors’
invoices for completed
works.
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Financial implications

The presentation of these reports to Council ensures compliance with the Act
and associated Regulations, and also ensures that Council is regularly informed
as to the status of its financial position.

Environmental implications

There are no environmental implications associated with this report.

Social implications

There are no social implications associated with this report.

Attachment details

Attachment No and title

1. Monthly Financial Report for November 2024 [12.9.1 - 12 pages]
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13 Reports by the Chief Executive Officer

13.1 Request for leave of absence

Nil.

13.2 Notice of motion

Nil.

14 Matters for which the meeting may be closed

Note:
The Presiding Member advised that in accordance with Section

5.23(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA) in order to discuss
Confidential Item 14.1 Council will need to go behind closed doors.

7:40pm Davis moved, Harris seconded that in accordance with Section
5.23(2)(c) of the Local Government Act 1995 (WA), the
meeting proceed behind closed doors to discuss Confidential
Item 14.1 - Tender 19-2024 - Wilson Park Zone 2 Heart and
Playground Construction Contract.

Carried 7 votes to O

For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil

7:40pm Members of the public gallery departed the meeting.
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Cr Sessions disclosed at Item 3 of the Agenda “Disclosure of Interest” an Impartiality
Interest in the following item in accordance with Regulation 22 of the Local Government
(Model Code of Conduct) Regulations 2021 (WA).

14.1 Tender 19-2024 - Wilson Park Zone 2
Heart and Playground Construction Contract

Davis moved, Sekulla seconded

That Council accepts the Officer Recommendation in relation to this item.
Carried Unanimously 7 votes to O

For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions

Against: Nil

7:43pm Sessions moved, Harris seconded, that the meeting again be
open to the public.

Carried 7 votes to O
For: Davis, Harris, Kulczycki, Marks, Rossi, Sekulla and Sessions
Against: Nil

7:43pm The meeting came out from behind closed doors. One member
of the public returned to the meeting.

15 Closure

There being no further business, the Presiding Member thanked
everyone for their attendance and closed the meeting at 7:44pm.
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